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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of PPS International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B E & & 0T

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Environmental and Cleaning Services

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of environmental
services in Hong Kong and the PRC, which include the provision of
cleaning and related services for (i) public area and office cleaning
services which involve cleaning of public areas, carpets, floors, toilets,
changing rooms, lifts and escalators and emptying of garbage bins at
commercial buildings and their tenants, residential complexes, shopping
arcades, hotels and public transport facilities such as airport, ferries,
ferry terminal, cargo and logistics centre and depots; (ii) overnight
kitchen cleaning services mainly at private club and hotels; (i) external
wall and window cleaning services; (iv) stonefloor maintenance and
restoration services; (v) pest control and fumigation services; (vi) waste
management and disposal solutions which mainly involve collection,
transportation and disposal of household waste, construction waste and
trade waste and sales of recyclable waste such as paper, metal and
plastic waste collected during our operations; (vi) housekeeping services
where we provide housekeeping services to carry out professional daily
housekeeping and cleaning services at local boutique hotels, hostels
and serviced apartments; (vii) secure and confidential waste destruction
for commercial clients; (ix) sanitation solution for yacht; (x) cleaning and
waste management solution for renovated apartment; and (xi) airline
catering support services.

Money Lending Business
The Group conducts its money lending business in Hong Kong under the
money lenders licences and in the PRC.

Investments in Financial Assets

The Group invested in financial assets classified as the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss which composed of only the shares of
companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Environmental and Cleaning Services in Hong Kong

Compared to the revenue of approximately HK$372.9 million for the year
ended 30 June 2023, the Group’s revenue from the environmental and
cleaning services in Hong Kong increased by approximately HK$94.6
million to approximately HK$467.5 million for the year ended 30 June
2024,

Revenue by Service Sector

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by different

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &8 B % o4

¥i%EE
EBRERFARK

%) 372,900,000 78 7T 18 tb rEH »iét EFF
THEANAZTHAHLEFEREBTBIRERGE
2R 75 &Y I & 38 00 49 94,600,000 7 T &= 49
467,500,000 7T °

BIR# 77 BF &7 9 K 25
TRFINETIATR(ERREBREREZ

sectors which reflect the target clients of our environmental and cleaning ~ ARFEH B2 )& D #yUk £ R4 -
services in Hong Kong:
Year ended Year ended
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
BE-_Z-_MF HE-_Z-_=F
NAE=THLFE NAZTHILEFE
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FET THT
Commercial [HES 148,872 140,782 37.8
Residential F= 134,525 131,317 35.2
Hospitality BIE 14,441 17,107 4.6
Transportation B 91,975 65,403 17.5
Government B 68,715 8,334 2.2
Others ) 8,934 10,003 2.7
467,462 372,946 100.0

Most commercial contracts are for the provision of cleaning and related
services at commercial buildings where customers traditionally demand a
higher service quality and are also willing to pay a premium price. Almost
all of the commercial contracts enable the Group to provide additional
services for the tenants in the tenanted area of the buildings with
contracts on a regular, ad-hoc or one-off basis which further enhance our
revenue stream. The Group succeeded in renewing and securing several
new service contracts in the commercial sector during the year which
contributed additional amount of revenue for the year.

The Group has allocated more resources to gain services contracts from
the residential during the year. The Group succeeded in renewing several
significant service contracts for premium private housing estates which
contributed significant amount of revenue for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B E & & 0T

During the year, our customers under the hospitality sector have been
requesting the Group to decrease our service volume as their undesirable
occupancy rates. As a result, the revenue from the hospitality sector
decreased for the year.

During the year, the Group was providing hygiene and related services to
several respectable transportation operators in Hong Kong. During the
year, our customers from airline services have been requesting the Group
to provide more services. As a result, the revenue from the transportation
sector increased for the year.

During the year, the Group has allocated more resources to gain
services contracts from the government of Hong Kong. The Group
succeeded in obtaining several service contracts for public markets from
the government of Hong Kong which contributed significant amount of
revenue for the year.

Most of the revenue from other sector is recurring and service price is
reviewable on an annual basis.

Results

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group was granted by the
Government a one-off subsidy amounting to approximately HK$0.8
million under the ESS for part of the monthly salaries of our employees
under the environmental and cleaning services in Hong Kong which was
included in the “Other income”.

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the environmental and cleaning
business in Hong Kong achieved a net profit of HK$5.4 million as
compared to the net profit of HK$8.0 million for the year ended 30 June
2023 (excluding the one-off subsidy from the ESS). The decrease is
mainly due to (i) increasing manpower services costs due to intense labor
supply; (i) decline in the prices from some customers upon renewal of
their services contracts; and (jii) increase in employees’ injury and public
liabilities claims.

Environmental and Cleaning Services in Shanghai, the PRC

Nearly all sectors of Shanghai’s businesses have been severely impacted
after 3 years’ spreading of COVID-19 and the significantly downturn in
trading of the properties market in the PRC. Some of our customers
in Shanghai permanently closed their businesses, chose to engage
our competitors offering lower service fees or requested to reduce our
services volume and service fees. In addition, low-skilled labor supply
in Shanghai is becoming extremely intensified as low-skilled labors
are starting to move to other cities in the PRC in view of the negative
prospect and severe downturn of the economy in Shanghai.
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During the year, the Shanghai Operations recorded a decrease in the
revenue by approximately HK$0.2 million to approximately HK$17.9
million for the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$18.1 million). And the Shanghai Operations recorded a net loss
of approximately HK$0.1 million for the year ended 30 June 2024 as
compared to the net loss of approximately HK$0.6 million for the year
ended 30 June 2023. The improvement in the financial performance of
the Shanghai Operations is mainly attributable to the implementation of
stringent cost control procedures.

Money Lending Business

The Group through its wholly owned subsidiaries conducts the money
lending business in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) with the aim of increasing the return of capital of the Group and to
generate revenue for the shareholders of the Company.

The Group mainly targets to provide terms loans, loan facilities and
mortgage loans to individual customers and corporate customers
located in Hong Kong and the PRC which are mainly introduced by the
management of the Group and the existing borrowers. In determining
the terms of the loans granted by the Group to the existing borrowers
and potential borrowers, the Group has taken into accounts the loan
amount, the financial capabilities and the reputation of borrowers and/
or guarantors, the securities provided by borrowers and/or guarantors,
history of the repayment of loan and/or interests, the businesses in which
borrowers and/or guarantors principally engage and similar offers of loans
provided by competitors.

The Group finance its money lending businesses by using its internal
resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B E & & 0T

During the year, the Group continued to focus on conducting its money
lending business by providing both secured and unsecured loans to
customers, including individuals and corporations, in Hong Kong and the
PRC. A cautious and prudent approach is the key direction of our money
lending strategies that only borrowers with sound financial abilities would
be considered and approved by the Group. The Company had currently
adopted the credit risk assessment for the potential customers by taking
the following steps:

M

(i)

(i)

The Group will conduct the “know-your-client” procedure, which
consists of (i) background check; (ii) obtaining and review of
identification documents (such as identity card, business registration
and/or the certificate of incorporation, public searches).

The Group will conduct an anti-money laundering risk assessment
based on the information obtained under the point (i) above and
the recommended anti-money laundering policies published by the
government bureaus.

The Group will then assess the creditworthiness of the customers by
taking into account the customer’s occupation, financial condition,
asset portfolio and credit history.

@

For personal customers, the Group will assess their financial
capabilities by reviewing their asset portfolio (such as
securities investment and/or properties owned) as well as their
background and public reputation (such as position in well-
known organization).

For corporate customers, the Group will assess their financial
capabilities by reviewing their financial statements, business
potential (such as material operating contracts) and/or asset
portfolio (such as securities investment and/or properties
owned).

The Group will also consider the financial capabilities of the
guarantor, if any.

For mortgage loan customers, the Group will principally assess
the market value of the mortgaged properties, any existing
mortgages/charges on the mortgaged properties.

After completion of the “know-your-client” procedure and credit risk
assessment, the loan application will be reported to the management of
the Company for approval. After the obtaining of the aforesaid approval,
the relevant loan documents will be executed.
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For post-loan monitoring, the Group will closely monitor payment of the
monthly interests on the scheduled dates and repayment of the loan
principal amount on maturity dates. In general, the Group will arrange call
with the existing borrowers regularly to understand if there is any material
deterioration in the client’s financial capabilities. Any delay in payments
will be immediately reported to the management of the Company, which
will determine what action should be taken.

In the event that there is delay in payment of interests or loan principal,
the Group will contact the borrowers and issue the demand letters to the
borrowers immediately. The management of the Group will discuss in
details with the borrowers for the reasons of late payment and plans for
repayment. After considering all circumstances available to the Group,
with limitation to reasons for late repayment, recent financial capabilities
of the borrowers, the market conditions, the attitudes of the borrowers,
subsequent repayments made by the borrowers, the management of
the Company will determine whether it constitute a delinquent loan
and whether the Group should take further legal actions against the
borrowers.

SIZE AND DIVERSITY OF BORROWERS

As at 30 June 2024, there were total 9 outstanding loans with an
aggregate principal amount of approximately HK$84.6 million granted
by the Group between 2019 and 2024, out of which (i) approximately
HK$23.2 million were granted to 2 corporate borrowers located in
Hong Kong with personal guarantees and/or corporate guarantees
and/or mortgage charge on the properties owned by the borrower; (i)
approximately HK$28.5 million were granted to 2 individual borrowers
located in Hong Kong with personal guarantees and/or mortgage charge
on the properties owned by the borrower; (i) approximately HK$32.9
million were granted to 5 individual borrowers located in the PRC without
securities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS S E&wm &k oM

Set out below is the summary of the 9 outstanding loans as at 30 June

ATRR T _NFRA=1THIZREEE

2024: REVEE
% to
Net total net
Outstanding outstanding outstanding  Interest
Name of principal principal  principal  rates per Collaterals/
borrower Identity Location Contract date Due date amount Impairment  amount  amount annum  guarantees Note
hAEE
1858
*fEE AEE  f8E2
BRAZE 5 bk LR 5%R g3 HE AeEE Esk EAE ER/ER i3
HK$000  HKS000  HK$000
Tir TR TEx
Borrower B Indiviclual PRC 31 May 2022 30 May 2025 10,740 (179) 10,565 30.2% 70% Ni 1
f&5lAB fEA e “RoCE ki3 B
BA=T-H RA=TA
Borrower G Indiividual Hong Kong 19 May 2023 16 December 2024 6,500 - 6,500 18.5% 11.4%  Mortgage charge over the
BHAC A v bt Sabt 2 “5-RE properties owned the
TATHA TZA+rA borrower
ERABENEER
gl
Borrower D Indlvidual PRC 2 June 2022 1 June 2025 5310 89) 5282 15.0% 7.0% Ni 1
[ERAD (EIN e S ECRf g
~AZH ~A-H
Borrower E Individual PRC 13 August 2020 12 August 2023 4,983 4983) - 0.0% 6.0% Ni 2
[ERAE A HE 3 ZRICE B
NA+=R NA+ZA
Borrower F Inaivicual Hong Kong 13 September 2019 12 March 2020 22,000 22,000) - 0.0% 20.0%  Personal quarantees 2
fEIAF fEA B ZNE k<3 AR
nAT=A =A+zH
Borrower G Corporate Hong Kong 10July 2019 11 November 2019 22,200 22,200) - 0.0% 20.0%  Personal quarantees 2
[ERAG =4 B IS RS AARR
At t-A+-H
Borrower H Corporate Hong Kong 17 June 2024 16 June 2025 1,000 - 1,000 2.8% 6.0% Mortgage charge over the
EHAH % B4 Z3IRE ka3 properties owned the
~ATER AATRA borrower
[EHABRENE R
it
Borrower | Individual PRC 15 Apri 2024 14 April 2027 2,148 6) 2,142 6.1% 18.0% Ni
ERAI fEA e k-3 ka3 &
mA+EA mA+EA
Borrower J Inaivicual PRC 3 January 2024 2 January 2027 9,666 (26) 9,640 21.4% 240% Ni
fEFA (N ke S 1:5 “EoiE B
-A=H —-AZA
84,607 (49.478) 3,129
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Notes:

Having taken into consideration the below factors, the Group specifically
agreed to grant relatively lower interest rates for these PRC loans:

(i) assisting these borrowers in maintaining their businesses during the
temporary downturn in the PRC economy due to the outbreak of
COVID-19 and the Sino-US tension in the past 2 years; and

(i) similar loan offers provided by competitors.

During the time of initial accepting and every renewing these loans, the
Group was satisfied with the creditworthiness of these borrowers and
these guarantors by reviewing (i) their personal assets portfolio with related
supporting documents; (i) personal credit report from respective official
recognized organizations; (i) public search by their name and identification
documents of any existing legal disputes from the respective courts’ records
and their background and public reputation from online websites; and (iv)
payment history of their monthly loan interest in the past.

However, the economy in Hong Kong and the PRC have been challenging
for all businesses after the prolonged downturn in the property-related
markets and the prolonged Sino-US trade tensions. Amid such negative
factors, these borrowers and guarantors have been severely affected and
are in financial difficulties, and therefore have defaulted on repayment of
their loans and interests on schedules. Under the Group’s ECL policy, a full
impairment loss on their loans has been made.

Nevertheless, the Group has taken legal proceedings against these
borrowers and these guarantors to collect the loan. As at the date of this
report, the Company successfully obtained default judgement orders against
the Borrower F and the Borrower G from the High Court of The HKSAR
pursuant to which these borrowers and the guarantors are ordered to repay
the outstanding loan principal amount with related interest and recovery
costs incurred. The Company is (i) still taking demanding actions; (i) trying
to contact the borrower and the guarantors; and (jii) considering applying for
winding-up of the borrower and the guarantors.
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The Group’s average gross loan balance slightly decreased from  #1 N&RT# - AEENFHERE R AHES
approximately HK$88.2 million as at 30 June 2023 to approximately —Z = =475 A =+ H4788,200,000/% L EL
HK$84.6 million as at 30 June 2024 as set out in the below table. The A E —Z — 4 ;< A = + H #984,600,000
decrease is mainly due to repayments of the loans from some borrowers BT c A I EBERREB TN EFTABEE
in Hong Kong while few new loans were granted by the Group during the 3 I ZANSEBERFERHm DR HHER

year.

2024 2023
13 -
Gross Net Gross Net
Interest  outstanding ECL outstanding Interest  outstanding ECL  outstanding
rates range balances  allowance balance rates range balances  allowance balance
ARELHR  BARE AkE AEREH  FEEE REE
H=gE B8 FBEG  fRTE HE&E BF  FEEE A5
% HK’000 HK'000 HK’000 % HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TEn Thn TR Thr TH#L ThL
In Hong Kong; RE%:

Secured by mortgage loan HRBEEER 6.0% to 11.4% 14% 6,500 - 6,500

6.0%Z11.4% 11.4%
Personal/corporation quarantees A /R AERER 20.0% (44,200) 20.0% 10 22.0% 60,53 (50,980) 9,55

loans 20.0% 20.0%%22.0%
(44,200) 67,035 (50,980) 16,058

In the PRC: R

Unsecured loans BEREY 6.0% to 24.0% (5,218) 6.0% 0 7.0% 21,207 (231) 20,976

6.0%%24.0% 6.0%Z7.0%
(5,278) 21207 (231) 20976
Total a5t (49478) 88,242 (51,211) 37,031
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Loans to the top borrower and top five borrowers constituted balance
30.2% and 97.2% (2023: 28.8% and 100%) of the Group’s net loans
receivables respectively as at 30 June 2024 as set out below:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS S E&wm &k o

RZB-_MENA=1H ASAEZARE
KERAZERD BIBKRAEBEWEFFE
#T30.2% & 972% (=T — =4 : 28.8% &
100%) @ #HFIET -

As at 30 June
RAB=+H
2024 2023
—E-OEF S
Net Net
outstanding outstanding
balances % to total balances % to total
REE L4858 KREER H4a%E
TR ZED HEERFER ZAD
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Borrower A ERAA 9,555 25.8%
Borrower B B AB 10,679 28.8%
Borrower C sk AC 6,500 17.6%
Borrower D fEFAD 5,340 14.4%
Borrower E EEUN= 4,957 13.4%
Borrower | BEA - -
Borrower J ERAJ - -
37,031 100.0%

The credit quality of loans and interest receivables has been assessed
individually based on their probability of default and exposure of default
with reference to historical credit loss experience, adjusted by current and
forward-looking factors. Further details on the Group’s expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on the loan receivables are set out in note 25(a)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements. The economy in Hong Kong and the
PRC have been challenging for all businesses with the prolonged Sino-US
trade tensions, the worldwide spreading of COVID-19 and the significant
downturn in trading of the properties in Hong Kong and the PRC. Amid
such negative factors, some of our borrowers under the money lending
business have been severely affected and are in financial difficulties, and
therefore have defaulted on repayment of their loans and/or interests on
schedules. Therefore, the Group specifically recognized full impairment
loss on these past due loan receivables (i.e. loan receivables under the
stage 3) during the year ended 30 June 2024. Nevertheless, the Group
has been taking actions, including but not limited to legal proceedings
against these borrowers, to recover the loan principals, interests and all
other related recovery costs incurred.
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An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL allowances is as  {HEMNFEEEEBEEBEEESHMITWT
follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Rl 2 EMEE E=RER @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT FAT
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-—F+A—H 2,037 - 46,046 48,083
Changes due to financial AR=ZZ2-=F+A—H
instruments recognised ERRACSRIAM
as at 1 July 2022: g
— Impairment loss recognised —BHERRERE 122 8,348 - 8,470
— Impairment loss reversed —-BREREESSE (1,432) - - (1,432)
— Transfer — (484) 484 - -
Exchange realignment fE A% ) - - 9)
At 30 June 2023 and RZZEZ=FXA=+TAK
1 July 2023 “E-=F+H—H 234 8,832 46,046 55,112
Change due to financial AR -—Z-_=F+A—H
instruments recognised ERRACSRIAM
as at 1 July 2023: &
- Impairment loss recognised —BHERRERE 82 - - 82
— Impairment loss reversed —BEERERSE @) (6,780) - (6,782)
— Transfer —ER (55) - 55 -
— Impact of year ended ECLs —FREREE
of exposure transferred FrEEs E i E R
between stages during the EHEEEEN
year ge - - 5,193 5,193
— Written-off — 58 - (2,052) - (2,052)
Exchange realignment b 5 SR 3 - (16) (13)
New loans originated HEEER 36 - - 36
At 30 June 2024 RZZZMFR A=1H 298 - 51,278 51,576

The interest income and operating profit (excluding the ECL allowance) REE=ZZT_MFA=+HIEFE  BEZE
from the money lending business for the year ended 30 June 2024 EHFBWA REL &F (T REBEHEEE
amounted to approximately HK$2.7 million and approximately HK$1.1  #8#4E) 5 512 492,700,000 7T & 491,100,000
million respectively (2023: approximately HK$4.4 million and net operating  B7L(ZZ = =4 : 494,400,000/ 7T & & & 6
loss of approximately HK$1.7 million). The decline is mainly due to the  8/F&E#J1,700,00087T)  TFETIEZHKA
decrease in the average loans balance granted by the Group throughout SEIREEZE=—Z_NFA=THIEFEEF
the year ended 30 June 2024 and the decrease in the interest rates upon ~ E K FHEFERB D R FRNEET D ER
renewal of some loans during the year. BRI FK o

Properties in Hong Kong BB

As at 30 June 2024, the market prices and sentiment of the commercial RZZZPFA=+H  UREENEHEY

properties in Hong Kong has been gradually declining since 2023. As  ¥MiGEERELEB T =FUREZEFT

a result, a revaluation loss of approximately HK$10.8 million (2023: & o it RER T ZWF A=+ HH

approximately HK$2.6 million) on the Group’s commercial properties is &3 fH{E © A& Iﬁ%%%ﬁ‘ BEMEBEY

recorded based on the independent valuation as at 30 June 2024. 10,800,000 7L ( ZF = =4 : #92,600,000/%
TT) °
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Investments in Financial Assets

The Group’s investment strategy is to review the investment portfolio
continuously and make appropriate adjustments (by acquisition or
disposal) according to the market situation, with an aim to generate
reasonable returns. During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group
recorded net unrealised fair value gain amounting to approximately
HK$37,000 (2023: approximately HK$104,000) and did not dispose of
any investments in the financial assets (2023: HK$Nil).

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had investments in financial assets
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$405,000 (2023: HK$368,000) which composed of
only the shares of companies listed on the Stock Exchange as set out
below:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &8 B % o4

RESHEE
AEENREREAFEEMBEASTRE
MAEHEZARGERWESIHE)  §EE
HAEEBRH HE_ZT_WNFA=THI
FE - AEEES &éiﬂéﬁzx SN
FEWEFELIS7,0008T(ZTE_=F + §
104,000 0) B EHES ﬂﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ&ﬂ&
BE(ZZEZ=F T -

RZE-_WFERNA=+H AEEBAHY
405,000/ TT( —E = =4 : 368,000/ L) 2%
BMEERBESBARAFEFABENSR
BE HESERBSH EMHARZERNE
AR -

Percentage
of
shareholding Percentage to
in the net assets
Name of stock Number of investee Investment value of the
(Stock code) Principal business shares held company cost  Market value Group
RERENT HAREEE
R EB(RGAR) TEER FERHBE ZREARSL RERAK mE  FEZBEAL
HK$ HKS
BT o
Alibaba Group Holding Limited Internet and direct 300 <0.001% 42,330 21,150 0.011%
(9988) marketing retail
MEEEXEAERERAR%8) EHMAREHRTE
Meituan (3690) E-commerce and internet 100 <0.001% 14,020 11,110 0.006%
services
% (3690) BB R E AR
Tencent Holdings Limited (700) [t mainly provides various 1,000 <0.001% 216,820 372,400 0.189%

global Internet-related
services and products
in different fields such
as entertainment,
artificial intelligence
and technology, social
networking, finance,
information, tools and
platforms

TERURE  AIBE
Ml - 12 8 &
il TANTERETRE
HERER2RERERE
BRBHER

AR A R A F)(700)
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Information on the performance of the Group’s financial assets at fair

(ETNEANA=ZTHIESFE  AEEER

value through profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2024 is set A FEAEBRZ ©RIEE 2 RIR 2 EHHI
out as below: T
Unrealised
fair value gain/(loss)
Name of stock (Stock code) on financial assets
SREERER
IR & 78 (B 101X 5R) AFEWE(HE)
HK$
BT
Alibaba Group Holding Limited (9988) (3,210)
b 2 B B S B EA A IR 2 7](9988)
Meituan (3690) (1,120)
Z£[E(3690)
Tencent Holdings Limited (700) 40,800
PRI A A BR 22 71(700)
OUTLOOK A=
Environmental and Cleaning Services in Hong Kong EBRERFARE
Labor market competition in Hong Kong has intensified with the FEEEEZFHELE(EAEHEIE] K
implementation of The Statutory Minimum Wage (the “SMW”) which is set SRR KMFETRFT)NAEMK - BFES
to be reviewed in coming two years. The Group is also facing higher labor ~ E) ) TG HEFINE] - A& IJTEE””‘J%?-E&
turnover rate in the environmental and cleaning services industry as more  JBZRBENSL TREAE - THREZ S

labor tend to work in other less laborious industries such as the security
guard service industry under the same SMW rate. To offset the increase
in labor costs, the Group is striving to transfer most of the increased
labor costs to our customers and implement more efficient working flows
and stringent cost control procedures. The Group is closely monitoring
the labor turnover rate and regularly reviews our remuneration package
in order to maintain sufficient labor force and cope with the changing
environment. We would continue to enhance the quality of services by
providing training to our front line staff.

eXis Iﬂ%if—ﬂiﬁlétbf Tﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬂiﬁ%%

BITETIE - PINREEERGE - AW
TR - AEE RIS BN

TRABEZETEPILEME AN TIERER
BB AR BITEFr - AERBEYEIES TR
RELEMRA RIS NESTR
() 858 ) I FE BT B BV ERIR - BAPISARAR
BBRARE TREEIIRESRGEE -
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The economy in Hong Kong has been challenging and in extreme difficult
for the businesses in the transportation and the hotel sectors as well as
the commercial sector with the worldwide spreading of COVID-19. Our
customers from these sectors have been reducing their service requests
and asking for the prices reduction. We believe that both of our service
income and profit margin from these sectors must remain low. To mitigate
such downturn effect, we would strengthen our marketing effort in hope
to expand our market shares in the commercial and the residential
sectors and continue to consolidate our resources to focus on high value
customers to bring in additional revenue by cross-selling other cleaning
and waste management services to our existing customers. We believe
this strategy may not only improve our revenue per customer but also
increase our profit margin as we could leverage our existing manpower
to perform services at location where we already have presence. We
would explore other new environmental and cleaning services to expand
our service scope to enable customers to use the Group as a one-stop
cleaning contractor. We would continue to streamline our operations in
order to simplify and improve our operation efficiency. We believe that our
success in serving different sectors will further build up the confidence for
new clients to select our cleaning services in the coming future.

Environmental and Cleaning Services in the PRC

The Shanghai Operations are not expected to be significantly improved
in the coming fiscal year with the above-mentioned negative factors
affecting nearly all sectors of businesses in Shanghai. However, the
management of the Shanghai Operations has refined its marketing
strategies in order to attract more new customers to utilize our cleaning
services and implemented more efficient working flows and stringent cost
control procedures to reduce all unnecessary expenditures.

Money Lending Business

With the increasing threat of a downturn of the economy in Hong Kong
and the PRC as a result of the above-mentioned negative factors, the
Group continues its effort in strengthening its risk management policy
and streamlining our existing loan portfolio mix with an aim to reduce our
exposure on high risk loans. A cautious and prudent approach is the key
direction of our money lending strategies that only borrowers with sound
financial abilities would be considered and approved by the Group in the
future.

Investments in Financial Assets

A cautious and prudent approach is continued to be the key direction
of our investment strategies that only companies listed on the Stock
Exchange with valuable prospects would be considered and invested by
the Group in the future.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group reported a total revenue of
approximately HK$488.1 million (2023: approximately HK$395.4 million),
representing an increase of approximately 23.4%. The increase is mainly
due to the net effect of (i) increase in the revenue from the environmental
and cleaning services business in Hong Kong by approximately HK$94.6
million to approximately HK$467.5 million for the year ended 30 June
2024 (2023: approximately HK$372.9 million) as a result of several
service contracts in the transportation sectors and the Government
awarded by the Group; and (ii) decrease in the interest income of
approximately HK$1.7 million from the money lending business after
decline in the average loans balances granted by the Group during the
year.

Other Income, Other Gains and Other Losses and
Impairment

Other income, other gains and other losses and impairment of the Group
mainly consisted of (i) the revaluation loss of approximately HK$10.8
million (2023: approximately HK$2.6 million) on the Group’s commercial
properties based on the independent valuation; (i) the net reversal of
impairment loss of approximately HK$1.5 million (2023: net impairment
loss of approximately HK$7.0 million) made for the loans and interests
receivables under the Group’s money leading business; and (i) one-off
subsidies of HK$NIil (2023: approximately HK$0.8 million) from the ESS.

Selling, Marketing Expenses and Administrative Expenses

The Group’s selling, marketing and administrative expenses increased
by approximately HK$2.5 million to approximately HK$27.3 million
(2023: approximately HK$24.8 million) for the year ended 30 June 2024
The increase was mainly due to increase in the selling, marketing and
administrative expenses, including but not limited to, entertainment
expenses, advertising and promotion expenses, travelling expenses and
general office expenses, of the Group’s headquarters.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2024.

Capital Structure and Fund Raising Activities

The shares of the Company are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. The Company’s share capital comprises only ordinary shares.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources RBESRMBEER

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group had financed its HZEZZ-_WNFXA=1+HILFE  ALEFE
operations and capital requirements through operating cash flows. AR ERERERNEERESRK -

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of RZZ_WFA=+H" Kﬁlfﬁbé&fﬁﬁ
approximately HK$103.2 million (2023: approximately HK$90.3 million). & {E#1#7/4103,200,0008 T( ZF = =4 : 4
The increase is mainly due to net cash inflows from the Group’s operating 90,300,000/ 7t) ~ BRIIE M EE EE INZINES
activities. Eig RHEENRESMATE -

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had net current assets of approximately RN-ZZ_NEXA=1+H AEBRHEE

HK$131.0 million (2023: approximately HK$141.9 million) and current
ratio of approximately 2.3 times (2023: approximately 2.7 times) which
remain strong and healthy.

The Group monitors its capital by reference to the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings (including lease
liabilities) divided by total equity. The gearing ratio at the end of the
reporting period was as follows:

SE{E 49 /4131,000,0008 L ( 2= =4F : 4
141,900,000/ 7C) * MENLEL B2.3E(ZF
TEF 2.7 RN E LB -

AEBNEERBHLREREEN « I XRT)
R SEERR(BEEERE) RARSNEE
AT - REIREHRNEERBLENMT -

2024 2023

—EWEF —EC-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FA&T

Bank loans |ITEN 20,353

Lease liabilities HEBE 2,146

Total interest-bearing borrowings FTEEERE 22,499
Total equity (inclusive of non-controlling IR 4B RE (B AR SR A )

interests) 196,809 202,632

Gearing ratio BEEBELE 10.64% 11.10%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group is in a strong and healthy
financial position and has sufficient resources to support its operations
and meet its foreseeable capital expenditures and expansions.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had bank deposits of approximately
HK$5.9 million (2023: approximately HK$0.3 million) pledged to banks
as security for bankers’ guarantees on performance bonds issued and
banking facilities granted to the Group.
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As at 30 June 2024, the Group had properties with carrying values of
approximately HK$42.4 million (2023: approximately HK$54.4 million)
charged to the bank as security for the bank loans, bankers’ guarantees
on performance bonds issued and banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the period, major portion of the Group’s operations are located
mainly in Hong Kong with most of the Group’s transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars. The Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk due to the exchange rate fluctuation of RMB against
HK$ arising from the environmental and cleaning services business
and money lending business in the PRC. The results of our operations
in the PRC are translated from RMB into HK$ at the exchange rates
approximating the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions while their
financial items are translated from RMB into HK$ at the closing rate ruling
at the end of the reporting period, the resulted exchange differences are
recognised as other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the translation reserve of the Company and will be reclassified
to profit or loss until the disposal of interests in such operations.
Fluctuation of RMB against HK$ is moderate to the Group during the
period. The Group will review and monitor its currency exposure from
time to time, and when appropriate hedge its currency risk.

Information on Employees

The Group had 1,329 employees (2023: 1,126) as at the end of the year.
The Group’s remuneration practices are in line with the prevailing market
practice and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification
and experience of individual employee. The Group recognises the
importance of a good relationship with the employees by providing
competitive remuneration package to the employees including salaries,
allowances, insurance, discretionary bonus, and training for human
resources upskilling. Total staff costs and related expenses (including
Directors’ remuneration) incurred by the Group were approximately
HK$260.0 million (2023: approximately HK$206.7 million) for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

There were neither significant investments held by the Group as at 30
June 2024 nor material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries made by
the Group during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 30 June 2024, our capital expenditures mainly
included acquisitions of plant and equipment amounting to approximately
HK$1.1 million. These capital expenditures were funded by funds
generated from our operating activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

Performance bond

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS S E&wm &k o

BRI
HE_Z_NFRA=ZTRHILEFE  HMAD

BEARAXIZERBERELRE

O]

1,100,000/ 7T ° S EANHX A& EETE

22

Guarantees on performance bonds in
respect of environmental and cleaning
service contracts

REERFELR

SRR SRR IRIS A KB

ERESET -
RAREE

(a) BHRE

As at As at

30 June 30 June

2024 2023

RIB-ME RZZTZ=F

~AB=1H ~HA=1H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

12,060

The Group had bankers’ guarantees on performance bonds issued
for due performance under several environmental and cleaning
service contracts of the Group’s environmental and cleaning
services business in Hong Kong.

As at 30 June 2024, the restricted bank fixed deposits of
approximately HK$5.9 million (2023: approximately HK$0.3 million),
the properties with carrying values of approximately HK$38.4 million
(2023: HK$50.2 million) and the corporate guarantee from the
Company and a subsidiary of the Group were pledged to banks as
security for such bankers’ guarantees on performance bonds issued.

The effective period of performance bonds is based on the service
period and the contract terms as specified in these environmental
and cleaning service contracts. The performance bonds may be
claimed by customers if services rendered by the Group fail to meet
the standards as specified in these environmental and cleaning
service contracts.

Litigations — Employees personal injuries

During the year, the Group may from time to time be involved in
litigations concerning personal injuries by its employees or third
party claimants. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group had no
any significant contingent liabilities arising from these litigations as all
potential claims made by these employees and third party claimants
are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements and
covered by insurance protection.
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DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board currently consists of five
Directors comprising two executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Shaoheng (“Mr. Yu”), aged 39, was appointed as executive
Director on 28 October 2016, the chief executive officer of the Company
on 28 November 2017 and the chairman of the Board on 2 July 2019.
He served as non-executive director of China New Energy Power
Group Limited (P EI#T6EJRE) N EE B R A A)) (now known as Lamtex
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1041) from 14 March 2016 to 30 August 2016.
He is currently the chairman of FRFE= 2 E % FR A7 (Shaanxi Hengze
Industrial Corporation Limited*), which is principally engaged in investment
in and development of energy, mining, environmental-preservation, real
estate, and tourism businesses. Furthermore, he is a supervisor of SE
M HELZMR R A R & T 2 7] (Uaanchab Kejie Gas Limited Liability
Company?*), a company which China National Petroleum Corporation
(PR AR RAREER A has indirect interest in it, which principally
engaged in (i) construction and re-construction of city gas infrastructures;
(i) design and engineering of expansion work and related installation and
development management; (iii) transportation, sale, provision of after
sale service, research and development of technologies and provision of
consultancy service in relation to city gas; (iv) construction and operation
of various types of gas station; (v) sale of petroleum and natural gas
related equipment; and (vi) construction, operation management of
compressed natural gas projects. Both Mr. Yu and £ B 2275 1 BHZ K
RAEREHERF (Uaanchab Kejie Gas Limited Liability Company*) have
been members of the China Gas Association (F Bl A a7 &).

Mr. Lai Tin Ming (“Mr. Lai”), aged 39, was appointed as an executive
Director on 31 July 2018. He graduated from the Lingnan University,
Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration in 2008.
He joined our Group in July 2010 as a sales and marketing executive
of Pollution & Protection Services Limited (“PPS”), a main operating
subsidiary of the Company engaging in the provision of environmental
and cleaning services in Hong Kong. He was promoted to the chief
executive officer of PPS in February 2018 and is primarily responsible for
our group’s environmental and cleaning services business including the
recruitment of personnel, approval of budgets, quality control of cleaning
projects, procurement of cleaning materials and equipment, workplace
safety and site supervision.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching Jack (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 41, was appointed
as independent non-executive Director of the Company and a Chairman
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company on 25 April 2016 and 31
July 2018 respectively. He received his degree of Master of Laws in
commercial and corporate law from King’s College London, United
Kingdom in November 2006 and his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
and degree of Bachelor of Laws from City University of Hong Kong in July
2005 and November 2004 respectively. He was admitted to practise as
a solicitor in Hong Kong in October 2008. He is practising in Hong Kong
and is currently a vice president (investment and legal) in a family office in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Meng Enhai (“Mr. Meng”), aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of Company on 31 July 2018. He obtained a bachelor degree
in laws from Xian University of Technology (A% 32 T X2 in July 2010.
He joined Pk 75 7k 3z 12 72 Bl & 75 A7 (Shaanxi Yong Jia Xin Law Office®)
(“Yong Jia Xin Law Office”) in 2010 and serves, at present, as a senior
practicing lawyer and a partner of Yong Jia Xin Law Office for providing
legal services to listed companies in the PRC. He was once the author of
several books relating to the commerce law proceedings and the stock
listing in the PRC.

Mr. Ni Fuhua (“Mr. Ni”), aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the member of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and a remuneration committee of the Company
on 30 June 2024. He obtained a master of law from Emory University
School of Law (32 2% B K 2% &%) in 2020 and a master of law from
East China Normal University (225 A0 &3 K22 in 2022. He is the founding
and managing partner of Shanghai Zhenchen Law Firm ( = /& % & 12
Bl == 7% BT %) for providing legal services to private and listed companies
in the PRC. He is the member of several arbitration institutes including
The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (% B £ K& FFF £ B HE), The
Prime Dispute Arbitration and Mediation Institute (2 B = & 5 & i £
A F #R 5 2 ), Arbitrators’ and Mediators’ Institute of New Zealand Inc
(FPEBE R B AR E # &), California Arbitration (50 %] #& fE =5 1
#.), International Mediation Campus (B B § f# £ [ ), International Law
Research Committee of Shanghai Bar Association (/& 2 £ 1 & Bl [5
AW 9% & B @), Foreign-related Expert Database of the Oriental Legal
Identification Center (R 7 /AR ERF LA FINERE K E) and The
Dubai International Financial Centre (i EIFR & b L))
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management comprises our executive Directors and our
company secretary.

Mr. Chan Woon Wing (“Mr. Chan”), aged 43, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 3 October 2016. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over
10 years of experience in financial reporting and auditing. Prior to joining
the Group in 2014, Mr. Chan had served at the audit department of an
international audit firm for six years. Mr. Chan joined the Group in 2014
and is mainly responsible for overseeing the company secretary work of
the Company now.

* For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT &€&

The Directors present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are (i) the provision of environmental and cleaning services;
and (ii) the provision of money lending services in Hong Kong and PRC.

The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from pages 97 to 98 of this annual report. The Board does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 30 June
2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review on the Group’s business performance and the material
factors underlying its financial position, as well as the development and
likely future prospects of the Group’s business are provided throughout
this annual report and in particular shown in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section from pages 5 to 22 of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks,
including some of which are specific to the Group or the industries in
which the Group operates. The Directors have established a policy to
ensure that significant risks which may adversely affect the Group, are
identified, reported, monitored, and managed on a continuous basis.
The Group has identified the following key risks that are considered to
be significant to the Group, which may adversely and/or materially affect
the Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects. Key risks relating to the Group’s businesses and to
the industries in which the Group operates are including but not limited
to:

Environmental and Cleaning Services
Customers

(i) A majority of the service contracts have fixed service terms that
range from one to three years and many of them are granted to
the Group by way of tendering. There is no assurance of the grant
of new contracts nor renewal of the existing contracts and these
uncertainties may have negative impact on the financial results of
the Group. Moreover, in the competitive tendering process, the
Group may have to lower the service charges in the bids in order
to increase the competitiveness of the tenders and the Group
may encounter great pressure on the profit margins if the Group is
unable to reduce the costs accordingly. In such event, the financial
results and profitability would be materially and adversely affected.

(i) Most of the service contracts of the Group are fixed-price contracts,
under which the Group provides the cleaning and related services
at a pre-determined price. If the Group fails to accurately estimate
the costs or fail to execute fixed-price contracts within the cost
estimates, the results of operation would be adversely affected. As
a result, the Group may not be able to adjust the service fees nor
recover any cost overruns, which may in turn adversely affect the
reputation, financial conditions, profitability or liquidity.
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(i)  The aggregate revenue generated from the five largest customers
of the environmental and cleaning services represented nearly
45.2% of the total revenue of the environmental and cleaning
services for the year ended 30 June 2024. The Group does not
enter into long-term service contracts with any of these customers,
which the Directors believe is in line with the market practice of the
environmental services industry. These customers may terminate
their business relationships with the Group upon expiry of the
service contracts. If any of the key customers, including these five
largest customers, substantially reduces the volume and/or value
of services procured from the Group or terminates its business
relationship with the Group, there is no assurance that the Group
would be able to find substitute customers or to secure comparable
contracts to replace any such loss of revenue. If any of the above
happens, the business and performance would be materially
adversely affected.

Customer-oriented principle is adopted across the business operation
of the Group. We places great emphasis on quality control. We have
obtained ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and the Qualification Level Certificate
of China Cleaning Industry — National 1st Level Qualification, and are
committed to delivering professional services and achieving customer
satisfaction. To understand clients’ needs, we conduct site assessments
and communicate with our clients before commencing services. We have
a comprehensive set of policies and procedures on “Quality Management
Plan”, a framework that focuses on business goals and objectives. During
the performance of our services, our employees will carry out regular
check on the service quality, including services delivered by the Group’s
own employees and third-party service providers, and record occasions
of substandard performance and any follow-up actions taken.

Budgeting is the key factor of our business operations. To formulate the
reasonable and competitive pricing, we carefully prepare, review and
discuss, among the management and operation teams, the details of
budget for every service contract based on our 20 years more experience
in the environmental and cleaning industry and latest market information.
During the performance of our services, any deviations from the budgets
are seriously investigated and monitored for, if any, remedy actions and
recorded for our reference in coming budgeting.

Service mix, service quality and competitive pricing, which are regarded as
key to good relationship with our customers, are continuously reviewed
with the aim to cater for our customers’ fast-changing needs and
enhance their satisfactions and business relationship with the Group.
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Employees

U

(i)

The Group is exposed to litigation claims including employees’
compensation claims and common law personal injury claims and
the insurance coverage may not adequately protect us against
certain risk. Employees who suffer from bodlily injuries or death as
a result of accidents or diseases occurred during the course of
their employment are entitled to claim damages and compensation
against the Group under the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
as well as under the common law. The Group has taken out
insurance policies to cover these potential claims, including
employees’ compensation insurance and public liability insurance.
However, the outcome of any claim is subject to the relevant parties’
negotiation or the decision of the court or the relevant arbitration
authorities, and the result of any of the outstanding claims may
be unfavourable to the Group. As a result, the Group may have to
pay out of the own resources for any uninsured financial or other
losses, damages and liabilities and litigation that could materially
and adversely affect the business, financial conditions and results of
operations.

The Group has experienced high turnover rate of the operation
team and the operation could be adversely affected by difficulties
in recruiting and retaining sufficient workforce to meet the needs.
As the environmental and cleaning services industry is a labour-
intensive industry, this exacerbated after the implementation of the
SMW in Hong Kong as workers have more choices, such as security
guards, which may drive workers away from the cleaning industry.
If the Group is unable to maintain the stability of the staff or retain
sufficient number of staff members to perform the service contracts
or fill the vacancies with suitable staff or services from suitable
third party service providers, the quality of services, operation and
financial results would be adversely affected.

The fact that employees are crucial assets of the Group is of no doubt.
The Group strives to enhance employees’ loyalty and sense of belongings
to the Group through various policies and practice. It emphasises the
importance of labour diversity and equal opportunities in recruitment
process. It also provides staff with a caring, safe and healthy working
environment. In order to help cater for the continuous development of the
employees, professional trainings and self development sponsorships are
provided. The Group values any feedback from employees and hopes to
maintain open communication with the latter, which favours a good and
long-lasting relationship.
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Money Lending Business

(i) Any adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions and fluctuation
of market variables such as gross domestic product, exchange
rates, equity prices and property prices in Hong Kong as well as
the PRC may generally affect market demands and the repayment
abilities of customers which may lead to adverse impact on the
Group’s revenue and liquidity. The Group would from time to time
fine-tune the Group’s business strategies, policies and procedures,
in particular the loan approval procedures, according to the market
situation.

(i)  Non-compliance with or any changes in the relevant laws and
regulations may bring various consequences to the Group, including
but not limited to the revocation or suspension of the money lenders
licence and/or the imposition of penalties resulting from the offence.
Relevant operation policies and procedures have been adopted
and in place to ensure that the daily operation of the Group is
in compliance with the relevant requirements. Internal reporting
procedures have been established and when any suspected case
of employees and customers’ misconduct and/or fraud arises, any
staff can report directly to the management. The staff handbook
has also stipulated that employees and customers’ misconduct and
fraud are prohibited.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to operating in a sustainable manner while
balancing the interests of various stakeholders including the Group’s
employees, customers, suppliers and the community.

Further details about the Group’s policies and relationship with its
various stakeholders are set out in the paragraph headed “Social” in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section from pages 71
to 81 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural resources.
The Group strives to minimise our environmental impact by raising
energy efficiency and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other
materials such as the adoption of paperless systems and practices in
its daily operations, the duplex printing and copying, and the recycling
of ink cartridges and toner cartridges, etc.. In addition, the Group has
adopted environmentally-friendly service procedures in providing the
environmental and cleaning services to its customers for which the Group
has obtained certificates and awards from different environmentally-
oriented organisations.

Further details of about the Group’s environmental policies are set out in
the paragraph headed “Environmental” in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section from pages 61 to 70 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The operations of the Group are based in Hong Kong and the PRC and
the Company itself is listed on GEM. In light of this, the Group upholds
high corporate governance standards and strives to ensure that its
business practice complies with all relevant laws and regulations in the
respective jurisdictions. Reviews on regulatory compliance of its business
operation are conducted from time to time. During the year under
review and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has been in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on its listing status in Hong Kong, the environmental and cleaning
services and the money lending business which mainly include but
not limited to the GEM Listing Rules, the Employment Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
and the MLO.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$6,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the classes and movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year are set out in note 24(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
101 and 102 of this annual report and note 27(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders amounting to approximately HK$95.3 million (2023:
HK$97.2 million) calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the
Company.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the past five
financial years is set out on page 184 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue and subcontracting costs
attributable to the Group’s major customers, subcontractors and
suppliers respectively for the year ended 30 June 2024 is as follows:

R

FA - ARERANER R EBFFHNERE
Bk R M 5224 (a)

EA]

FR - AEBRAQRFBENEEFIFIHNA
FHREI0N RI02ENREERE R MG E B
BIRFMIFE27(D) °

Al DR E

R-Z-MENA=1+H  RIEFSHSEN
FRENRERARNE ZAHERZMANTE -
AR B AR T A% R 2 [ A #795,300,000
BT (ZZE =% : 97,200,000 7T °

BRREE
ANEEBERETBEENEERTBARLTE
BHRARFIRFE184H o
FEEFRMER

REBEE_ZT_MFEA=THILFE F*&£H
MEBEF - nEBRkHERD G AREEN
WMy BRABEDLIT

Revenue Wz

The largest customer BAEF 11.3%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFAE 45.0%
Subcontracting costs DERAK

The largest subcontractor BADERE 4.2%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate hARHBEEET 17.0%

During the year, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and suppliers.
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Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Yu Shaoheng
REATEE

Mr. Lai Tin Ming
RRAASEE

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BIYFHTES

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack
SRS e

Mr. Meng Enhai
RBRBRE

Mr. Wang Cui -
THELE -

resigned on 30 June 2024
RZZTZNEA=1THEHE

Mr. Ni Fuhua -
REELE —

appointed on 30 June 2024

In accordance with Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Lai Tin Ming and Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

The independent non-executive director is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member of the
Group which is not terminable by the relevant employer within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

During the year and up to date of this annual report, the executive
Directors, Yu Shaoheng and Lai Tin Ming are also directors in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Other directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this annual report
include Mr. Chan Woon Wing, Mr. Chan Chok Fun, Mr. Lu Yi and Mr.
Tang Antao.
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RESIGNATION OF DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Cui (“Mr. Wang”) resigned as an independent non-
executive Director and a chairman of each of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company due to his other business commitments and engagements
with effect from 30 June 2024. Mr. Wang has confirmed that he has no
disagreements with the Board and there are no other matters relating
to his resignation that need to be brought to the attention of the Stock
Exchange and the shareholders of the Company.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group as at the date of this report are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 23 to 25 of this
annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Group was entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of job,
performance, qualifications and experience of individual employees, as
well as the result of the Group and the market trend. The Group carries
out staff performance appraisal once a year and the assessment result is
used for salary reviews and promotion decisions.

The Group recognises the importance of staff training and thus regularly
provides internal and external training for its staff to enhance their skills
and knowledge. The remuneration of the Directors is determined with
reference to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market conditions.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed below, as at 30 June 2024, none of the Directors and
the chief executive and their respective associates had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within of the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Percentage of
Name of the Total number total issued
company in which of ordinary  Long/short share capital
Name of Director interest is held Capacity shares  position in the Company
REFRER ERARZE
2 BEEHAREE et LERAH HE %R ERITRAESL
Mr. Yu Shaoheng The Company Beneficial owner (Note 1) 350,536,631  Long 64.91%
RATRAE NG Bxma A e
Note: Bi3E -

1. Mr. Yu Shaoheng is the son of Mr. Yu Weiye and the step-son of Ms. Mui
Fong.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, as at 30 June 2024, no person other than
certain Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company as recorded in the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group.

FERR

BRI EZEEN  RZZE_MFRA=T
B BEIMAL(AAGETESHEBT
BRABBINRARE D - BERYD REF
PG WERHENARRREESRIPEK
B2 33615 M 17 B K 3 B A% 35 70 i A9 (£ 1) 422
HEORE - RIRIEFE S M EEIEMEXVEIE?2
K E3D B IR E AR A R B I B AT Al #E s
KA - X EESNEEER EAERNRAR
(MR E R TR A EETRKE AR
MR K E EIR R HER]) MEES% I L

N2
S o
T

Percentage of
Name of the Total number total issued
Name of company in which of ordinary Long/short share capital
Shareholder interest is held Capacity shares position in the Company
RESPER PN e
RREA BEEHDARERE 5t LERAH HR/ %R ERITRABDL
Mr. Yu Weiye The Company Beneficial owner 54,431,400 Long 10.08%
REERE NN BEHBAA HE
Ms. Mui Fong The Company Interests of spouse (Note 1) 54,431,400 Long 10.08%
55 R NS B B (Fat1) e
Note: MisE -

1. Ms. Mui Fong (“Ms. Mui”) is the wife of Mr. Yu. Ms. Mui is deemed to be
interested in 54,431,400 shares owned by Mr. Yu in accordance with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

During the year ended 30 June 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Shares.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public during the year ended
30 June 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year and up to date of this annual report, none of the
Directors, controlling shareholders and their respective associates as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules is interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

There are no related party transactions as set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements that falls under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under the
GEM Listing Rules during the year.

The material related party transactions are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall consider the following factors before
declaring or recommending dividends:

(@ the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the
Group; and

()  other factors that the Board may consider relevant and appropriate.

Such declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the Company’s articles of association.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 39 to 52 of this annual
report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to date of this report, there was or is,
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of the
directors of the Company (whether made by the Company or otherwise)
or any of its subsidiaries (if made by the Company).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”), who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. Having been
approved by the Board upon the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a
resolution to re-appoint Baker Tilly as the auditors of the Company and
to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yu Shaoheng
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 September 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the Shareholders.

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for the
year ended 30 June 2024.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the Code
for the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
except for the deviations of the following Codes.

()  Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. During the year under review and up to the
date of this annual report, the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company is performed by the executive
Director, Mr. Yu Shaoheng. The Company considered that under
the supervision of its Board and its independent non-executive
Directors, a balancing mechanism existed so that the interests
of the Shareholders were adequately and fairly represented. The
Company considered that there was no imminent need to change
the arrangement.

(i) The Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that all non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, all non-executive Directors, including the independent
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term. They
are, however, subject to the retirement by rotation and re-election
of directors in the articles of association of the Company. Since their
appointment will be reviewed when they are due for re-election, the
Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those set out in the Code.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding them
of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed securities
during the blackout periods before the publication of announcements of
financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required standards
of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors throughout the period under review. The Company was not
aware of any non-compliance in this respect throughout the year ended
30 June 2024.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective manner.
Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests of
the Company. Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

e approval of the Group’s long term strategy, policies and annual
budgets;
e oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

e approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

e approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

e approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;
e responsible for internal control and risk management; and

e approval of matters in relation to Board membership and Board
remuneration.
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As at 30 June 2024 and the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised five Directors, including two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, of which one independent non-
executive Director has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise in order to achieve
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance, as set out
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Shaoheng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lai Tin Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack
Mr. Meng Enhai
Mr. Ni Fuhua

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 23 to 25
of this report.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance covering for its
Directors.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships) among other members of the Board.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent. None of the
independent non-executive Directors has served the Company for more
than 9 years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions specified in Code
Provision D.3.1, which include reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, the continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, our Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements (including the GEM Listing Rules) and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

The Directors are aware of the requirement under the code provision
A.6.5 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Company had arranged a training session to all
Directors in regards to director’s duty which was conducted by an
external professional firm. In addition, Directors also reviewed the reading
materials related to corporate governance and regulations that provided
to them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments.

DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL

Each of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors were appointed without a specific employment tenure, but
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at each
AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Such retiring Directors may,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. All Directors
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of Shareholders after their appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in other clauses in the articles of
association of the Company or in any agreement between the Company
and such Directors (but without prejudice to any claim for damages under
any such agreement), the Directors can be removed from office by notice
in writing served upon him or her signed by not less than three-fourths in
number of the total number of Directors then in office (or, if that is not a
round number, the nearest lower round number) and for the avoidance
of doubt, the counting of the total number of Directors then in office shall
include such Director subject to the proposed removal.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member of the

Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of
reference are set out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 28 May 2013 with
terms of reference in compliance with paragraphs C3.3 and C3.7 of the
Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things,
reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and internal
control systems, as well as the overall risk management of the Group,
reviewing the consolidated financial statements and the quarterly, interim
and annual reports of the Group, and reviewing the terms of engagement
and scope of audit work of the external auditors. In this regard, members
of the Audit Committee will liaise with the Board, the senior management
and auditors. The Audit Committee will also consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such reports and
accounts and give consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the accounting staff, compliance officer or auditors.

The composition of the Audit Committee during the year and up to the
date of this annual report is as follows:

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack (Chairman)
Mr. Meng Enhai

Mr. Wang Cui (resigned on 30 June 2024)
Mr. Ni Fuhua (appointed on 30 June 2024)

The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified industry
experience and the chairman of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the Group
the financial and accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group, its internal controls and financial reporting matters and the above
audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under review.
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:

AC Meeting
Members attend/
Eligible to attend

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack (Chairman) 4/4

Mr. Meng Enhai 4/4

Mr. Wang Cui 4/4
(resigned on 30 June 2024)

Mr. Ni Fuhua 0/0

(appointed on 30 June 2024)

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 28 May
2013 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of
the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
and nomination of directors and making recommendations to the Board
on appointment and reappointment of Directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee during the year and up to
the date of this annual report is as follows:

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack (Chairman)
Mr. Meng Enhai

Mr. Wang Cui (resigned on 30 June 2024)
Mr. Ni Fuhua (appointed on 30 June 2024)

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance in compliance with
paragraph A.6 of the Code.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the Nomination
Committee shall carry out the selection process by making reference to
the skills, experience, education background, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates,
and also the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations. Qualified candidates then be recommended to the
Board for approval.
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Board Diversity Policy

The nomination committee recognises the importance and benefits of
diversity of Board members. The Board adopted the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in order to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the Company’s business. In designing the Board’s composition,
board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, qualifications, business and professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service, commitment, and ability to contribute to
the Board process. The nomination committee will assess the progress
made towards achieving such measurable objectives, and will review
such objectives annually to ensure their appropriateness. The nomination
committee considered the composition of the Board was in compliance
with the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board will continue to take initiatives to promote gender diversity at
all levels of the Company. To enhance gender diversity, the Company
shall take steps to identify suitable female candidates through internal
promotion, referrals, engaging employment agencies or other reasonable
means and targets to appoint not less than one female Director by 31
December 2024. The Board will strive to ensure the Board is made up
of a reasonable and justifiable proportion of women by reference to
stakeholders’ expectations and international and local recommended
best practices.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under
review. Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting
are as follows:

NC Meeting
Members attend/
Eligible to attend

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack (Chairman) 2/2

Mr. Meng Enhai 2/2

Mr. Wang Cui 1/1
(resigned on 30 June 2024)

Mr. Ni Fuhua 0/0

(appointed on 30 June 2024)
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 28 May
2013 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1.2 of the
Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among
other things, formulating and making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration policy, determining the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior management and making
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other than
the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report for the year ended 30 June 2024 by band is set out as follows:

FeEEGERT)

Remuneration band (in HK$)
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YyMEES
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X

Number of individuals

A"

Nil to 1,000,000 £ %£1,000,000

Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the

five highest paid individuals are set out in the notes 7 and 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the year and up
1o the date of this annual report is as follows:

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack (Chairman)
Mr. Meng Enhai

Mr. Wang Cui (resigned on 30 June 2024)
Mr. Ni Fuhua (appointed on 30 June 2024)

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year under
review. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee
meetings are as follows:

RC Meeting
Members attend/
Eligible to attend

Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack (Chairman) 2/2

Mr. Meng Enhai 2/2

Mr. Wang Cui 1/1
(resigned on 30 June 2024)

Mr. Ni Fuhua 0/0

(appointed on 30 June 2024)

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a year, and
Directors shall receive at least seven days prior written notice of such
meetings in compliance with paragraph A.1.1 of the Code. Agendas and
accompanying papers are sent before the Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same.

When Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairperson prior to the
meeting. Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
will be recorded in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by
the Board and the Board committee and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and Board committee meeting will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held.

During the year under review, the Board held six board meetings and one
general meeting. The Directors attended those meetings in person, by
phone or through other electronic means of communication.
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The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings during
the year under review is set out below:

Members attend/
Eligible to attend

Board  General
Name of Directors Meeting  Meeting
Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Shaoheng 6/6 1/
Mr. Lai Tin Ming 6/6 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack 6/6 1/1
Mr. Meng Enhai 6/6 0/1
Mr. Wang Cui 5/5 01

(resigned on 30 June 2024)

Mr. Ni Fuhua 0/0 0/0

(appointed on 30 June 2024)

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written resolutions
were well-documented. Minutes of the Board meetings and written
resolutions are kept by the Company Secretary and are available to all
Directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the Board on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024. The
Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts
and presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment for
the Group’s performance, position and prospects. The Directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The Company’s auditors, Baker Tilly, acknowledge their reporting
responsibilities in the independent auditor’s report to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2024,
which are set out in “Independent Auditors Report” section on pages 91
to 96 of this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The fees charged by Baker Tilly in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 30 June 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$863,000 and HK$69,000 respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that proper and
effective risk management and internal control systems (the “RMIC
System”) of the Group are maintained. The senior management of the
Company is delegated with the responsibility to design and implement
an internal control system to manage risks. The senior management of
the whole Group, including but not limited to, the directors, executives
and super of the major operating units of the Group, maintains, monitors
and implements the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis.

The Group’s RMIC System include a defined management structure
with specified limits of authority, which are designed to achieve business
objectives and goals, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, control over operating and capital expenditures, ensure
the maintenance of proper books and records for providing reliable
financial information used for internal or publication purposes, and ensure
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to meet
the Group’s particular needs and risks to be exposed, and to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operations
systems achievement of the Group’s objectives and goals.

The Group is committed to maintaining and upholding good corporate
governance practice and RMIC System. The Group has established
controlling teams (the “Controlling Teams”) nominated by the Board and
the Audit Committee comprising the directors, executives and supervisors
of the major operating units of the Group to take up the responsibilities
of monitoring the day-to-day operational management, risk management
function, and internal control systems of all operating units of Group,
integrating with the systems of monthly and annual planning and
budgeting process, counter-approval and implementation and control
process, identifying any risk or possible failure of the operating units, and
reporting and making suggestions on how each operating unit to achieve
the objectives and goals set. The controlling teams meet regularly with
the Board and the Audit Committee and report on matters to be updated
to the Board and the Audit Committee timely.
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Risk Management Approach

The Group strives to identify and assess the key risks faced by the Group
based on the following risk management approach:

(i) Risks Identification

The Controlling Teams are responsible for identifying potential
risks, through periodically reviewing the Group’s business and
financial data, testing the effectiveness of the Group’s existing
internal control procedures and policies; and

All staff are required and encouraged to report any risks,
particularly those risks that are material weaknesses and
deviation in the Group’s existing internal control procedures
and policies, to the Controlling Teams or the Board and the
Audit Committee.

(i) Risks Assessment and Measurement

Risks identified or reported are further evaluated and
scrutinised, through consolidating, filtering and prioritising
processes by the Controlling Teams;

Material risks that may seriously affect the business, operational
or financial aspects of the Group are immediately handled by
the Controlling Teams, the Board and the Audit Committee;
and

Immaterial risks that are acceptable to the Group will be closely
monitored by the Controlling Teams to ensure that the level of
risk will not increase to an unacceptable level.

(iij) Risks Control and Mitigation

Considering and weighting the benefits and costs of all
available solutions and choosing the appropriate ones;

Elimination of the material risks entirely by taking immediate
remedy actions such as modifying the Group’s existing
business strategies, internal controls and operational
procedures; and

Mitigation of the material risks by reducing their impact as
much as possible such as transferring the impact of the risks
to third parties and implementing alternative procedures and
policies.

(iv) Risks Monitoring

50

The Board and the Audit Committee in conjunction with the
Controlling Teams closely monitor the risks identified and the
progress of the remedy actions taken to ensure that the level
of risk will not increase to an unacceptable level; and

Risk assessment report and internal control review report are

submitted by the Controlling Teams to the Board and the Audit
Committee annually for their review.
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During the year, the Controlling Teams has summarized the risks
identified and reviewed the effectiveness of the RMIC System. The
findings have been summarised and submitted to the Board and the
Audit Committee for review. The Board and the Audit Committee
concluded that the RMIC System is effective and adequate and the
principal risks identified have been adequately controlled.

The principal risks identified and related control procedures are set out in
the paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the “Directors’
Report” section from pages 26 to 30 of this annual report respectively.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe
harbours as stated in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to
the public, the Group ensures the information is not false or misleading
as to a material fact, nor false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot
be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group
would immediately disclose the information to the public.

Certain policies and procedures have been taken by the Group to
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include but not limited
to (i) trainings or briefings are provided to employees who will be in
possession of inside information to ensure that they are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality with reasonable care;
(i) confidentiality documents are kept by the designated personnel
and placed in the designated locked areas; (iii) transmission of inside
information in electronic form should be password-protected; and (iv)
access of inside information is restricted to designated employees on a
need-to-know basis.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s process
and communications among Board members and with the Shareholders
and the management, and advising the Board and its committees on
all corporate governance matters. He reports to the Board and/or the
Managing Director and his selection, appointment or dismissal shall be a
Board decision.

The Directors have accessed to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that board procedures and all applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. The company secretary took more than 15
hours’ professional training for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and to put forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company by mail at Office A, 12/F, Tower A, Capital Tower, No. 38
Wai Yip Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company
secretary of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the
Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such
as suggestions and inquiries, to the relevant executive officer of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency
and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information
to the Shareholders and the investing public. The Company’s corporate
website is www.ppsintholdings.com.

All corporate communication materials published on the website of the
Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our website.
No significant changes were made to these documents during the year
ended 30 June 2024. Information on the website shall be updated on a
regular basis.

Share registration matters shall be handled for the Shareholders by the

Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

PPS International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group” or “we”) are delighted to present
its Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG
Report”). This ESG Report herein focuses on providing an overview of
the ESG aspects of the Group and outlines how we continually improve
our operational strategy in regard to our environment and society to cope
with the global standards of sustainability.

For details on the corporate governance of the Company, please refer to
the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this Annual Report.

For details in relation to our financial performance during the financial
year, please refer to the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section
and the audited financial statements together with related notes of this
Annual Report respectively.

REPORT SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

This ESG Report has outlined the overall Group’s performance in
environmental protection, human resources, operating practice and
community involvement for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 (the
“Reporting Period” or “2024” ).

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report encompasses data from
the Group’s operating units in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) — Shanghai. It includes the money lending and
environmental cleaning services sectors. The reporting scope is defined
by the ESG materiality of each business segment under the Group’s
direct operational control.
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PREPARATION BASIS OF THE ESG REPORT

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In preparing the ESG Report, the Group adhered to the reporting
principles outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide, emphasising materiality,
quantitative, and consistency. Detailed information on the application of
materiality is provided in the section titled “ESG Management — Materiality
Assessment”. The Group has utilised the international standards and
emission factors specified in the ESG guidance from the Stock Exchange
to calculate the relevant key performance indicators (“KPIs”)'. Unless
otherwise stated, the preparation approach for this ESG Report remains
consistent with the fiscal year ended 30 June 2023 (“2023”) for
comparative purposes. Any changes in calculation methodologies that
may affect comparisons with previous reports will be accompanied by
appropriate explanations for the relevant data. Additionally, the ESG
Report offers a fair representation of the Group’s performance during the
Reporting Period, avoiding any selections, omissions, or presentation
styles that could unduly influence the reader’s decisions or judgments.

! Calculation with reference to “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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ESG MANAGEMENT
Statement of the Board

As an environmental protection and cleaning services enterprise, we
value environmental sustainability and have been striving to integrate the
concept into every part of our daily business operations. The ESG Report
summarises the strategy, practice and vision of our Group with respect to
the issues related to ESG, and conveys a clear message of our Group’s
devotion to sustainability.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) holds overarching responsibility
for supervising our Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities. It
outlines the ESG management approach, strategy, priorities, and targets.
Additionally, the Board conducts an annual review of the Group’s
performance against established ESG-related targets. In line with our
commitment to being a responsible corporate citizen, we have established
an ESG Working Group (the “ESG Working Group”) comprising members
from middle to senior management. The ESG Working Group supports
the Board in executing ESG-related strategies and targets and promotes
the implementation of measures addressing identified ESG issues.

The Board will continue to review our Group’s progress in relation to ESG
issues in order to build a more sustainable business and bring greater
benefits to society as a whole.

The Board
EEg
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HekEnRR LS - ABRE  HEak
EVREETE  REE C BEFHEKLEBR o It
o AEBESRERTHNRE  HERER

FHAKRERRETFERN - KETRRE
ERARMARE - LADKIIRE - tEME
ATHEA(NRE @ RERTEA] - B
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The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making process and overseeing
the formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

EXeRAERARRRLEERR - HERERRMHRYL - BN -

ESG Working Group
RIE - HERERIFAE

The ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and

monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.

RE HEREATFEEERDESSERLER

EH-

Functional Departments
% RE 2B PY

RBE HEREANBEE

Functional departments are responsible for the execution of measures to achieve

the preset ESG-related strategies and targets.

BEER P B EMTHEBEEUNERAENIRE HENEARBNER -
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Our Stakeholders

As stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of
our business, we make use of various communication channels to
understand and engage our stakeholders. We believe that stakeholder
engagement helps us better understand the needs and concerns of all
our key stakeholders. The probable points of concern of the stakeholders
and the way of our communication and responses are listed below.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT %1% « #H &R ERERE

BRNEHE

AR NEEEFRMAEBRNTEREEE
BEZMNER  BRMSASEEBRENE
LRI NE - LIEE  HHENSESR
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Stakeholders Probable Points of Concern Communication and Responses

BHE TIRERAIE B BEREE

Stock Exchange Compliance with the Listing Rules, and timely Meetings, training, workshops, programs, website
and accurate announcements. updates, and announcements.

B 22 AT P EWARR - RFERMTIEEAE o 2% 15 I{EY - 5HE MUEHRRASE -

Government Compliance with laws and regulations, Interaction and visits, government inspections,

preventing tax evasion, business ethics, and
social welfare.

BT BPREREO - Py - Rkt
BAIIE -

Investors and Corporate governance, business strategies and

shareholders performance, and investment returns.

HEERBRE PEES  EBRBERER - ARRERR -

Media and public Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human rights.

HEER AR TEED  RREARE -

Suppliers Corporate reputation, payment schedule, and
stable demand.

HrEn EEE  NRERREEERK -

Customers Service quality, service delivery schedule,

reasonable prices, service value, and personal
data protection.

zPE RIEE X - IRISIRMHEEE - SIRE% - REE
B R EABURRE
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tax returns, ongoing communication with relevant
government departments, and other information.
BEINFD - BUTRE - T 8R - EREEA
B PIRIFE BRI R E M AR o

Briefing sessions and seminars, interviews,
shareholders’ meetings, issue of financial reports
or operation reports for investors, ESG reports,
and media and analysts.

AEEmE NS - % RRRE - MRE
- RBROTEREVBREREERE AR

BE @ REARSE °

Newsletters on the Company’s website.

AR BRBUL MR

Site visits.

BT -

After-sales services.
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Stakeholders Probable Points of Concern Communication and Responses

B E TR E B ERREE

Employees Rights and benefits of employees, Union activities, trainings, interviews with
compensation, training and development, work  employees, internal memos, and employee
hours, occupational health and safety, and suggestion boxes.
working environment.

B8 EENREN BN - ME  HIEER TE IT8% Jill - EESH  ABERELES
R BERRRLZ2ARTIERE - ERM -

Community Community environment, employment Community activities, employee voluntary
opportunities, community development, and activities, and community welfare subsidies and
social welfare. donations.

v HERE  ERHE dERERIMEEN - HRES EEREITEH  HRENHIEKLSE

Materiality Assessment

To ensure prompt and proper management of key sustainability issues,
all ESG issues that may have a potential impact on our business
operation are evaluated annually. Material aspects are those that reflect
the Group’s significant economic, environmental and social impacts;
or that substantially influence the assessments and decisions of our
stakeholders. We have compiled and prioritised the material aspects with
reference to an array of factors, including our Group’s overall strategy,
development, goals and targets. In addition, we have included KPIs
in this ESG Report to provide our stakeholders and the public with a
more comprehensive and profound understanding of the effectiveness
of the implemented operational strategies in pursuing environmental
sustainability. These priorities enable us to fulfil our commitment to our
stakeholders while effectively managing our impact on society and the
environment.
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During the Reporting Period, there were no significant changes in our
stakeholder groups and operations. As such, the Group confirmed that
the materiality matrix results in the previous year’s ESG report remain
relevant to the current financial year’s situation and continue to respond
to stakeholder expectations. The Group’s material ESG issues are
summarised as follows:

L
Q@
>

It

Impact on stakeholders
HEEHENSE

Low
[lis
Low Impact on business High
15 HERHTE =
ESG Issues BRI HEREREE
1 Air Emissions 1 BREERE
2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2 RERBEHNK
3 Hazardous Waste 3 BEEEY
4 Non-hazardous Waste 4 EEREZEY
5  Energy Usage 5 BEREA
6  Water Usage 6 KEEA
7 Natural Resources 7 RARER
8  Climate Change 8 RIREIL
9  Employment 9 [EfE
10 Health and Safety 10 @Rz
11 Development and Training 11 BE RS
12 Labour Standards 12 Z TR
13 Supplier Engagement 13 fHpEmLE
14 Product and Service Responsibility 14 EmEBRBEE
15 Anti-corruption 15 REF
16 Community Investment 16 fEEE
58 PPS International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT ®i% « H &R ERKRE

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

Our outstanding business performance has earned us various industry
awards which have further reinforced our position in the market. The
Group continues to be recognised for its efforts to promote corporate
social responsibilities. The following table shows what we have achieved

during the Reporting Period, in no particular order.

Organisers

EZ ]

BEARET

BA=EENXEEYRMRERSITEIE
E—HRE T RMOTISA - ARBERER
BOETEELSEEMESRA - TKRI
TEARREHEARSHORR (BB T DK
&)

Awards/Certifications

®m RE

Association of China Commercial Enterprise
Management
PEEECEEREHE

Association of China Commercial Enterprise
Management

TEBECXREERS

Association of China Commercial Enterprise
Management

TEEmEEEEERRE

Association of China Commercial Enterprise
Management

TEBECXEERE

Association of China Commercial Enterprise
Management

TEBELCREERES

Association of China Commercial Enterprise
Management

TEHEEEEEGS
Environmental Protection Department
RIEREZ

Environmental Protection Department
RIBIREE

Green Council
RRIEES

Business Environment Council

BRRR B E

Environmental Contractors Management Association
Limited
RERIIENE

The Federation of Environmental And Hygienic Services
RERREEES

Qualification Level Certificate of China Cleaning Industry —
National 1st Level Qualification
PEBRBERITESREL —ER R

Property Cleaning Hosting Quialification

MEBRTEERE

Qualification of Stone Cleaning and Maintenance

AMBEAREEE

Qualification of High-Altitude Facades Cleaning

BEIMEIESREE

Quialification of Central Air-Conditioning System Cleaning and
Maintenance

EhERARSEABEEL

Qualification of Indoor Environment Purification and Monitoring

EARBRCEEAEE

Certificate of Commendation for joining the Carbon Footprint
Repository for Listed Companies in Hong Kong

RERK—BB LT ARRETFERE

Registered Food Waste Collector

AEE R SR 7

Member of the Sustainable Procurement Charter
AHERBOENKE

Certificate of Membership

T
e EHEE

Certificate of Membership

i3

o=
Euﬂ%

Certificate of Membership
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Organisers

EZ Y]
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Awards/Certifications

®E BE

Hong Kong Cleaning Association

EERERE

Hong Kong Waste Disposal Industry Association

BRENREERS

BSI Pacific Limited
BSIKF ¥ HRAF

BSI Pacific Limited
BSIKFFABRAA

BSI Pacific Limited
BSIKFEFARATA

Environmental Campaign Committee
RIREHEEE
Environmental Campaign Committee
RIREHEEG
Environmental Campaign Committee
RGEDHERES
Occupational Safety & Health Council
BEZRER

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BEIMATERFEIERR

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
BB G REHE

Certificate of Membership

&5
EFE

Certificate of Membership

ISO 9001:2015
ISO 9001:2015

ISO 14001:2015
ISO 14001:2015

ISO 45001:2018
ISO 45001:2018

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification — Energywi$e
Certificate — Basic Level

BB OHBRE —HeEE — AR5

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification — Wastewi$e
Certificate — Excellence Level

BRRORERE —REZEE -2 BARR

Environmental Initiatives and Participation — Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence

REDHRETEELE I RS E - FBRE WAL

Best Property Contractor in Occupational Safety and Health —
GOLD
REBLEYEE AP — 1R

Good MPF Employer
BeifESE

Caring Company
EREEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Overview

We are an environmental protection and cleaning services enterprise.
We are committed to increasing the efficiency of resource utilisation
and enhancing our environmental performance by adopting world-class
environmental protection practices in our business dealings.

We strive to work towards a ‘green’ and sustainable working environment
by improving energy efficiency, addressing waste management,
supporting environmental education and promoting the idea of recycling
and reusing. Our Group has established an environmental management
system and relevant policies and procedures for our business that
meet the international industry-specific environmental standards and
obtained ISO 14001:2015 certification. The Operation and Administrative
Department constantly reviews our internal operational practices to
ensure that they are in line with the concept of sustainable corporate
development. Policies and measures were strengthened and improved
this year to effectively manage undesirable environmental impact.

The scale and quality of services of our Group’s environmental and
cleaning services business in the PRC, especially in Shanghai, are
expected to be stable in the following years.

To achieve the environmental goals, the Group has implemented the
following measures:

e Comply with all applicable environmental laws and regulations;

e I|dentify, assess and mitigate all potential environmental impacts
associated with the Group’s activities;

e  Commit leadership and develop a strong culture of environmental
stewardship within the entire workforce; and

e  Make resources and systems available, with the provision of
the necessary training to empower our employees to fulfil our
environmental responsibilities.

Compliance and Grievance

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant environmental
laws and regulations that had a significant impact on us, including but not
limited to the Environmental Ordinance in Hong Kong. No confirmed non-
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the Group in relation
to environmental issues.
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Emissions
Air Emissions

The Group’s air emissions are mainly generated from the consumption
of diesel and petrol by company vehicles. During the Reporting Period,
we owned a fleet of 18 vehicles for our business operations, as well as
transporting our management team members, guests and clients.

During the Reporting Period, the Group increased its use of vehicles
to support daily operations. Consequently, there has been an overall
rise in fuel consumption and mileage, leading to a slight increase in air
emissions compared to 2023.

The performance of air emissions is summarised below:
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BER

BERBERL

AEER BRI EERE AR ERAH M
FURDERE - RIEHIEA - RAIHEE —H18
WTEAKNER - BREHEEARZER
FWERBBEXRE  BEEREP -

RBEHREA - AEBIZMETOER © UX

FEFES - Qi - MAUERERBRHEE
EF - BHERFHER T - =FRIE -

FERFFDRBAMAINT -

Unit 2024 2023
Indicator 5Z By —E-UE —E-=H
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) i) g 2,000,240.03 1,815,182.00
Sulphur oxides (SO,) k=Rt g 2,362.85 2,201.00
Particulate matter (PM) EEy R g 151,125.11 138,054.00

To mitigate air emissions, the Group actively executes the reduction
measures, please refer to the “Greenhouse Gas Emissions” sections for
details.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The major sources of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions of the Group
are direct GHG emissions from the consumption of diesel and petrol
by company vehicles (Scope 1), energy indirect GHG emissions from
purchased electricity (Scope 2), and other indirect GHG emissions from
paper waste disposed to landfill and employee’s business travel by
air (Scope 3). In the absence of a production process, the emissions
generated from our business activities are relatively minimal, and our
services do not contribute to material impacts on the environment.
Nevertheless, we have implemented various measures to minimise
emissions, thus reducing the impact on the environment, which will be
detailed later in this section.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group experienced a modest increase
in total GHG emissions. This rise was primarily due to the increased
usage of company vehicles to support daily business operations, resulting
in a slight increase in overall GHG emissions performance. Nevertheless,
the Group successfully met the targets established in the previous report
by maintaining GHG emissions intensity at or below 1.20 kg CO,e per
thousand revenue?.

The performance of GHG emissions is summarised below:

RBEHREA - AEBEREREBENEERE
B BN EBERAR AT A BERES
MBNAREWMAER - EMEBREREEDE
MARERIE - @EW - AEBE{DKINER £
—DHREFRENEEF - HRERBHRTE
AT TTER1.20T e — S L E 82304
T o

BEREBHRREMLLT -

Unit 2024 2023
Indicator® B By —E-MEF —E-=F
Scope 1 - Direct GHG HE1-HEZAZERE
Emissions BE
Fuel consumption by company 2 ] EESIAKEFE kg CO,e 389,433.98 362,889.00
vehicles FrR-_&ftRES
Scope 2 - Energy Indirect HE2-REEAE
GHG Emissions REHERK
Purchased electricity SNEE N kg CO,e 20,644.44 21,311.00
Fr-_&tRKE=
Scope 3 - Other Indirect GHG £iE3— EM A E
Emissions REHERK
Paper waste disposal REHRBRIE kg CO,e 6,643.44 6,235.00
FrR-_StRKES
Business travel by air [EE et kg COe - -
Fr_&tRKE=
Total GHG Emissions BERBAIER kg CO,e 416,721.86 390,435.00
FR-&ELREE
GHG Emissions Intensity BERBHEREZE kg CO,e/ 0.85 0.99
thousand
revenue
FR-GEMRE
BTz

2 During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total revenue in thousand dollars is
HK$488,074.00 (2023: HK$395,405.00). This data is also used to calculate
other intensity data.

s GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, including but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, the “Notice on the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse
Gas Emissions Reporting by Power Generation Industry for 2023-2025"
issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, the global
warming potential values from the “Sixth Assessment Report” issued by
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, “How to prepare an ESG
Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange and the “2023 Sustainability Report” issued by CLP
Holdings.

2 RBEHEAA AEERBTIRES
488,074.007% 7L (=T = =4 : 395,405.00/%
U)o WERITARET B EMEE BUA -

s BEEREBHMEENE_SREEEY X
2B (BIEBTRN) R E R &R
SEERIBESSEMNCAETREZEE
R EZEMEBRELER) - B AERRIRIEEE
HBRCARN I —E == E S -_REHE
TECEEREREAMGREEEAE ITIENR

IREHERE N 2 HILIRERLE - BRI
AR EERIE - HeRERRE —M#— R
BRRENER2RIESD T EERERAF
BE R =FARHEERRE) -
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To uphold the principles of sustainable development with a view of
balancing business growth, we are trying to reducing or maintaining the
GHG emissions intensity between 95% to 120% in the next reporting
period by adopting the measures specified in the subsection headed
“Energy Usage” and also the following mitigating measures:

Fleet Management

At the end of each month, we would obtain a summary of fuel
consumption from our service provider to monitor the usage of fuel in all
our vehicles. Furthermore, regular maintenance checks are performed
for all the vehicles to enhance fuel consumption efficiency, ensure road
safety and keep air and GHG emissions at their minimum.

Air-conditioning

Employees are encouraged to set the offices’ air-conditioners at a
comfortable temperature (best at 25.5 degrees Celsius) and all the air-
conditioners that are not in use should be switched off. The Group
has also put reminder notices at prominent places to raise employees’
awareness of electricity consumption and energy conservation.

Travelling by Air

During the Reporting Period, there were no business air travels taken by
the employees, resulting in zero kg CO,e GHG emissions. Employees are
required to travel by air, when necessary, otherwise, we would arrange
telephone or video conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings to
reduce the carbon emissions that are indirectly caused by air travel.

Use of Resources

We always endeavour to promote sustainability and aim to cease
resource wastage that provokes detrimental harm to the environment.
Various measures have been implemented to attain the goal of
using resources efficiently. These measures have been effectively
communicated to all levels of staff, ensuring all staff members understand
clearly the importance of conserving energy and making full use of the
available resources at work.

Based on our operating model of the environmental and cleaning
business, most of our water, electricity and energy consumption
is directly provided by our customers or publicly sourced by the
government and such consumption quantity is not controllable by us.
Nevertheless, the Group has formulated policies and educated the
employees on the efficient use of resources including energy, water and
other raw materials in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.
Internal environmental review has been conducted regularly to assess the
environmental impact of the group business activities so that energy and
water usage can be closely monitored. Measures that have been taken to
minimise the usage of resources are detailed below.
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Water Usage

The existing water supply adequately meets our daily operational
needs, which are mainly used for cleaning and sanitation, and we have
no difficulties in sourcing water. The Group’s water consumption saw
a significant increase during the Reporting Period, primarily driven by
the growth in environmental protection and cleaning services business
segment, which contributed to an overall rise in total water consumption.
To better align with the Stock Exchange’s reporting principles regarding
consistency, the Group has standardised its intensity metrics during
the Reporting Period, by using thousand revenue as the basis for the
calculations. Hence, the reduction target set in the previous year will no
longer be applicable.

KIRER

BEHKRARERMBEREERS T2
WBERRAEE - BRFRKEUKRT B &R
o MWEHRE - AREFAKEAEEM -
TERRREMBEREEBE DGR - EH
MRIKEERLT - REFTEBRAER—
BMEMERRA - AEERNRSHESR—EE
R AT TR ERFTEER - Bt - £—
FEREHRSE B RN BER -

The performance of water usage is summarised below: AREARBRMLAT -
Unit 2024 2023
Indicator pi=p = ==vi —E-ME —E-=F
Total Water Consumption AkiEE m33 753K 160.49 118.00
Water Consumption Intensity FAXKZE md/thousand 0.0003 0.0003*
revenue
MFERFr
Wz

To uphold the principles of sustainable development with a view of
balancing business growth, we are trying to reducing or maintaining the
water consumption intensity between 95% to 120% in the next reporting
period by adopting the following mitigating measures:

We encourage our employees at headquarters to utilise resources
judiciously and ensure that faucets are turned off securely. Additionally,
we promptly address any dripping taps and install flow restrictors and
spray nozzles wherever feasible.

4 Figures restate due to intensity metrics standardisation.

AREUFHEZRERINTFEEBKE - HM
BAET —ERE BRI AKEERE S 4
5% ZE120% 2 [+ WELEU N5l B i

BB @B TERIEERER - WHERKE
SEEE] o BEAN - T e RN B IR (T (] /K BE SRR
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Energy Usage BEIRES

The major sources of energy usage of the Group are direct energy  AEEK T ERERE B IR RE A B HTHIE M
consumption from the usage of diesel and petrol by company vehicles %<5l MR EEZRFERE - URINEE NH
and indirect energy consumption from purchased electricity. During the R8RS - MNIRE IR - NEEB LR
Reporting Period, the Group’s total energy consumption saw a slight SHFERSEEI  TEREIAAEHALFH
increase, primarily due to the increased usage of fuel consumption by & %7 E & M IBINKAREFE - EREEERY
the company vehicles to support daily business operations, resulting — FEB§IE o A » KEBKIHEIRBEREFTHR
in a slight increase in overall energy consumption. Nevertheless, the FHBIZ » BB EEREEBENBBST
Group successfully met the targets established in the previous report by — FLEF /T TS EI7KF ©

maintaining the energy consumption intensity below 5 kWh per thousand

revenue.
The performance of energy usage is summarised below: REIRERRIBM M T ¢
Unit 2024 2023
Indicator BE By —E-E —E-=
Direct Energy Consumption  EiZfE
Fuel consumption by company 2 5] 5558 i & #E5
vehicles®
Diesel geom KWh T ELES 1,550,942.62 1,442,778.00
Petrol i KWhT FLBF 19,709.51 20,468.00
Indirect Energy Consumption RiZAEEE
Purchased electricity HNEBE ) KWh+ FLEs 48,752.60 50,327.00
Total Energy Consumption HRERE KWh T E B 1,619,404.73 1,513,573.00
Energy Consumption Intensity BEFERE kWh/thousand
revenue
FTEE Trx
&= 3.32 3.83

5 The unit conversion method of energy consumption data is formulated  ° REFEBUE M BB AR E AR I BURR 6 R & B4R B
according to the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International REET FMETRE -
Energy Agency.
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To uphold the principles of sustainable development with a view of
balancing business growth, we are trying to reducing or maintaining
the energy consumption intensity between 95% to 120% in the next
reporting period by adopting the following mitigating measures:

e Turn off lighting and appliances that are not in use to reduce energy
consumption;

e Turn off air conditioners and lights during non-office hours and in
idle rooms;

° Employees are required to put computers and other devices into
sleeping mode or turn them off when they are not in use (such as
during customer visits and lunchtime) during business hours;

e Regular maintenance of office equipment such as computers, lights,
etc. to ensure they are operating efficiently;

e  Printing machine in the office is set to energy-saving mode by
default, and the sleeping mode is automatically turned on, when not
in use for a certain time interval;

° Used printer cartridges at the head office are sent back to the
manufacturers for recycling; and

e Place posters “Saving electricity, turn off the light when leaving”
at prominent places to encourage employees to reduce energy
consumption.

Generation of Waste

The primary hazardous waste generated during the Group’s daily
operations consists of chemical disinfectants and pesticides. In contrast,
the main non-hazardous waste comprises waste paper, towels, gloves,
scouring cloths, and garbage bags resulting from our cleaning services.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s sustained efforts resulted
in a reduction of total hazardous and non-hazardous waste at levels
comparable to 2023. Both categories successfully met the targets
established in the previous report, with the increase in the intensity of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste generation limited to no more than
10% and 20%, respectively, compared to the intensity levels in 2023.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that significantly impact our operations, including,
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong. The
Group did not encounter any confirmed incidents of material non-
compliance or grievances.
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The performance of waste generation is summarised below:

FEEYELNRRANT
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Unit 2024 2023
Indicator BE By —E-NE —E-=F
Hazardous Waste BEBREY
Chemical disinfectants {LESH ST kgT 7 105,203.45 104,322.00
Pesticides 5 a7 kgT 7 874.61 1,000.00
Total Hazardous Waste EEREYHEE kgT = 106,078.06 105,322.00
Hazardous Waste Intensity EEBREYRE kg/thousand 0.22 0.27
revenue®
Fr/Frukze
Non-hazardous Waste BEBEZEY
Waste paper BEAR kgT 1,384.05 1,299.00
Towels S kgt 2,154.35 2,567.00
Gloves FE kgT 2,037.00 2,507.00
Scouring cloth B kgT 7 204.37 239.00
Garbage bags B 5% kgT e 6,559.41 6,509.00
Total Non-hazardous Waste BEBEZYEE kgT %= 12,339.18 13,121.00
Non-hazardous Waste MEREYRE kg/thousand 0.03 0.03
Intensity revenue
Fr/FrdkzE

To uphold the principles of sustainable development while balancing
business growth, we are trying to reducing or maintaining the hazardous
and non-hazardous waste intensity between 95% and 120% in the next
reporting period, considering the uncertainties associated with future

cleaning projects.

To achieve the target of alleviating the pressure on landfills and promoting
environmental friendliness within the Group, we have implemented
various measures to encourage the recycling of office supplies and other

materials.

6 Standardised intensity metrics have been employed during the Reporting

Period, with no effect on the figures reported for 2023.
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Reduction of Printing and Paper Usage

We require our staff members to make full use of office paper before
its disposal and have incorporated various measures into our business
operations. For example, we implemented the policy of double-sided
printing and copying and disseminating information by electronic means
whenever possible to reduce the consumption of paper. We encourage
our employees to avoid the use of disposable and non-recyclable
products and to use refillable stationeries instead of one-off stationeries.
Recycling bins are also available to collect used products, such as waste
papers and cartridge toners, at the headquarters. We will continue to
leverage the use of technology for communication with our employees
and customers, aiming to go paperless.

Reduction of Waste Generated from the Provision of Our Services

Employees are encouraged to organise, maintain, and clean the garbage
and recycling holding areas, ensuring that recyclable waste is sorted into
appropriate receptacles. Clear signage is placed on the bins to indicate
the types of waste and recyclables that should be deposited.

Additionally, our Group policy mandates that employees return all bottles
provided to them. Employees are prohibited from disposing of empty
bottles that contain cleaning chemicals without proper authorisation.
Instead, these bottles must be collected and refilled for reuse.

Climate Change

To address the global concern of climate change, which impacts both
environmental systems and daily life, the Group have integrated climate-
related issues into our risk management framework to enhance our
resilience and adaptive capacity to potential climate impacts.

Acute physical risks may arise from extreme weather events such
as flooding and storms, while chronic physical risks can result from
sustained high temperatures. Transition risks may emerge from changes
in environmental regulations. Extreme weather events can affect our
operations and our customers’ assets, potentially leading to damage
that hampers their ability to repay loans. Our evaluation indicates that
our Group serves customers located outside high-risk areas, thereby
reducing the risk of extreme weather events impacting our operations
and assets. However, sustained high temperatures do increase the risk
of heat-related illnesses for employees working outdoors. To address
this, we have established a safety management system and provided
guidelines for employees working in such conditions. Additionally, we
continuously monitor the regulatory environment to ensure our services
align with the expectations of our customers and regulators.
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The Group has also considered potential climate-related risks and ~ AEE IS RIERIFIEEIH S B HETIFE
opportunities in line with the recommendations of the Task Force on  HYHERE 2% 2 B RIEH Eﬁﬂ’]%ﬁﬂ &%L
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), acknowledging that both  If fE3R B2 1= L E R A B B [ BR N2 3@ LR
physical and transition risks associated with climate change may pose g # %ﬁMFEJEI’J%?—J‘%LEXT?ﬁJE?ﬁI&%% o B
adverse financial impacts on our business. A summary of the identified B EEMEREREE AT

climate-related risks is provided below:

Potential Short (current Medium (one to Long (four to
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact Reporting Period) three years) tenyears) Mitigation Strategy
el i Bk BBy E BH(REEHE)  4E(-22F)  RE(BETE) HERR
Physical Risks ¢ Extreme weather Reduced revenue / / o Establish adverse weather condition policy
conditions such as from business due to ¢ Maintain or expand the supplier base to
flooding and typhoon business and supply avoid disruption
chain disruptions
ERRR o EERRERIKL REBRAEEDE o HEESRRERNE
REem) BHRBhERYD o BRIEAMEEERNESTE
o Sustained elevated Increased in business /o Adopt energy and resources conservation
temperature operating costs measures to avoid overconsumption of
natural resources
¢ HERE ENIES o RBWRRERSNER $28EER
BRER
Transtion Risks o Changesin Higher operating costs / /o Adopt energy conservation measures to
environmental-related to adopt new practices recluce emissions
requlations or technologies ¢ Continue to monitor the regulatory
environment o ensure that the Group
complied with the environmental-related
laws and regulations
BERR o REAERIED EMEERAMRE o ROERERIROER
SATERIER ¢ REEREERGIRRIEEETRE
HRARER
o Shiftin consumer Reduced demand /v Adhere to the Group's sustainable
preference to products for cleaning development concept, strictly control the
incorporating more services, decreased cleaning process and commit to produce
environmentally- competitiveness and high-quality services and products to meet
friendly concept create adverse impact the expectations of consumers and the
onrevenue market
o REZRHEMRA BRRBERRELD o PRASENTREERED BRAER
ELEREAHESR HENTRREE ERRRIINNREBERE RER
ERTHYE NREREE TSRS
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SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Practices

We value our employees and focus on building a safe and pleasant
working environment for them. We offer attractive remuneration packages
as well as provide plenty of internal and external training opportunities for
our employees, in order to attract, motivate and retain the right people.

Before the start of employment, employees are required to enter into an
employment contract, where the duties and responsibilities of his or her
role are clearly stated. Moreover, we have a set of personnel policies
and procedures as well as a Staff Handbook that sets out our standard
internal procedures relating to recruitment and promotion, working
hours, holidays, equal opportunities, compensation, dismissal, diversity
of origins, anti-discrimination and other human resources treatments and
benefits of our employees, etc.. The relevant policies for employment and
labour practices are listed as follows.

Compliance

We adhere rigorously to employment protection and benefits
requirements as stipulated by relevant laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance,
and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong, as well
as the Labour Law and Social Insurance Law of the PRC. During the
Reporting Period, we complied with all applicable employment laws and
regulations that significantly impact our operations. The Group did not
report any confirmed incidents of significant non-compliance.

Employment

Employees are valuable assets to the Group and the key driving force
of our sustainable performance. We welcome people with different
backgrounds to join our team to add value to our pool of professional
expertise in the industry and bring in innovative ideas. As at 30 June
2024, the Group employed a total of members of 1,329 staff, with 1,291
employees in Hong Kong and 38 employees in the PRC, 1,146 full-time
and 183 part-time employees.
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The following table sets forth the breakdowns of our employees by
gender and by age group as at 30 June 2024:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT %1% « #H &R ERERE

TREFIN T -_MERA=TBHRERRF

eAERIB D ey BAAARD

Male Female Total
Age Group Fir4a 5! B g3 Fob
18-25 18E 2555 16 17 33
26-35 262 3575% 27 24 51
36-45 36E455% 64 94 158
46-55 46ZE555% 82 197 279
56-65 562 655% 123 361 484
Above 65 655 F 145 179 324
Total et 457 872 1,329

During the Reporting Period, a total of 988 members of staff were

IS

FHEA - £aEBMPEAFBEEE

AR
dismissed or resigned from their positions in Hong Kong and the PRC.  #EfR{Esk BHEE AL - (BB R KRGt EE
The statistics for employee turnover rates are as follows: m
Number of
Resigned Employee Turnover Rate
B EEHA KL=

By Gender B4 BIE 5
Male B 345 75%
Female pegis 643 74%
By Age Group RERAERE D
18-25 182 255% 56 170%
26-35 26ZE355% 60 118%
36-45 36E455% 98 62%
46-55 46E555% 248 89%
56-65 5626557 316 65%
Above 65 655% A _E 210 65%
By Geographical Region Zih B E 5
Hong Kong BB 970 75%
The PRC s 18 47%
Total Fe 988 74%
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Anti-discrimination and Integrity

The Group strives to create a fair and impartial working environment
where all employees are treated equally and respectfully. Any kind of
discrimination or harassment based on the employee’s gender, age,
marital status, race, sexual orientation and religion at our workplace are
strongly prohibited. Employees are entitled to equal opportunity in terms
of treatment and promotion. A set of policies and procedures is in place
detailing the aim, complaint procedure, and appeal procedure on equal
opportunities. During the recruitment process, we only focus on the
capability and attitude of the interviewee, thus people with disabilities are
also welcome to be part of our Group.

We always listen and respond to the requests of our employees. It is the
goal of the Group to create a friendly and peaceful working environment.
We encourage our employees to provide feedback in relation to
any employment-related matters, especially when they encounter
any unpleasant or undesired treatments from colleagues or senior
management. Employees may report issues to his or her department
head and lodge a formal complaint. Any complaints received will be
kept confidential. If any unfair treatment and harassment are found and
confirmed, the Group will issue a warning in written form to the employee
who has done the wrongdoing and may dismiss him or her depending on
the seriousness of the incident.

By adopting the above practices, we comply with, in all material
respects, the corresponding ordinances and its respective codes of
practice, which include the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, and
Race Discrimination Ordinance supported by the Hong Kong Equal
Opportunities Commission (EOC).

Attract and Retain Talents

Our employees are our most valuable asset and we value their rights
and welfare. Our remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing
market practices and are determined on the basis of the competency,
qualifications and experience of the individual employees. Management
has been constantly reviewing the staff remuneration package and
employees’ promotion opportunities. Adjustments will be made
periodically, to conform with the market standard in order to retain talents
and ensure the offer is competitive as compared to our competitors in
the industry. A standard package includes a basic salary and statutory
pension benefits such as the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) in Hong
Kong, and the social insurance and housing provident fund in the PRC.
We also offer discretionary bonuses based on the individual performance
of the employees and our financial performance.
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Welfare and Benefits

To increase the employees’ sense of belonging, we offer various welfare
and benefits to our employees. For instance, employees are entitled to all
public holidays as well as paid leave in accordance with the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong and their job level. A long service award is
offered as an appreciation for the contribution and dedication of long-
serving employees. In addition, we offer discounted dental care plans to
our employees, which their spouses and children can also enjoy.

We emphasise the unity and harmony at work. Over the years, our
Human Resources Department has made efforts in organising activities
to strengthen the bonding of employees within the Group. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not organise any gathering activities. It
is mainly due to the concern to reduce the risk of virus transmission and
employee infection. Our Group will continue to explore more opportunities
in the future.

Health and Safety

We aim to provide a safe and healthy working environment to our
employees, and encourage them to achieve a balance between
work and a healthy lifestyle. Our safety management system which is
formulated based on the requirements of the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong is accredited to the leading international
standard of ISO 45001.

To ensure all accidents and injuries are properly recorded, and are
handled accordingly by the relevant employees, the Group has a
comprehensive policy for accident reporting procedures. Since the
provision of our services may expose our employees to a certain degree
of occupational hazards, all work-related health and safety performance,
including work procedures, working at height, occupational road risk,
and machinery safety, are closely monitored by the Operation and
Administrative Department of the Group. We continue to reflect on our
existing safety policies and are committed to continuously adapting and
improving its occupational safety measures as necessary. The Group’s
health and safety performance are as follows:
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Employees are required to receive training on how to use relevant
machines, tools and materials and must be well equipped before they
provide services to our clients. Supervisors are assigned to take the
responsibility of overseeing the operations, make immediate responses,
and notify the management if the hazards in the workplace are noted.
Furthermore, we conduct periodic risk assessments to timely identify,
evacuate and mitigate any new risks from the workplace and to ultimately
provide our employees with a healthy and safe working environment.

Employees are also required to familiarise themselves with and follow
our Occupational Health and Safety Plan, which details the safety
requirements when performing services. For instance, the use of personal
protective equipment such as proper gloves, safety goggles, masks, the
use of appropriate tools for picking up garbage, proper use of chemicals
as per standards, etc., to reduce the risk of accidental injuries.

Safety rules are translated into various languages to cater different needs
of our employees. The Operation and Administrative Department provides
updates on health and safety issues to the staff members on a regular
basis. The Group has incorporated safety management awareness
into every stage of our operations. Our safety culture and policies are
also introduced to our contractors and partners by incorporating safety
requirements into the terms of the service agreements.

Development and Training

We believe that investing in employees through training will help
promote job satisfaction, work motivation and staff loyalty. Different
types of training are provided to employees to make sure that they
are acknowledged with updated information and possess sufficient
knowledge and skills to provide quality services to our customers. For
instance, training includes but is not limited to driving safety, business
writing, operational training, orientation, as well as information technology
security.

The total number of training hours for the Reporting Period was
approximately 29,112 hours and the average training hours per employee
was approximately 22 hours. The average number of training hours
completed by each male and female employee was approximately 21
hours and 22 hours respectively. The average number of training hours
completed by junior staff, senior staff, manager, and management were
approximately 23 hours, 0.02 hour, 0.5 hour and 0.2 hour, respectively.
The percentage of total employees trained was 50%, and the percentage
of employees trained by gender and by employee category are as
follows.
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Percentage of employees
trained by gender
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Percentage of employees
trained by employee category

RESENEINZIEET L

33.23%

Male
66.77% FiE

M Female
foqt3

Junior Staff M Senior Staff Il Manager
MHET

Continuous education enhances the competitiveness of the employees
as well as the Group in the industry. The Group is committed to providing
our employees resources and opportunities, so that they can have clear
career goals to progress within the Group.

Labour Standards

The Group is committed to complying with the Employment Ordinance
of Hong Kong and other relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong
and the PRC in relation to employees’ protection and benefits. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any significant non-
compliance of laws and regulations related to prevention of child and
forced labour, and there were no incidents of discrimination involving
race, religion, age, disability, etc..

Every employment is subject to a stringent internal review process that
involves a well-established procedure to verify a candidate’s personal
information, to avoid misrepresentation and employment of child labour.
For instance, the staff member responsible for recruitment collects
the identity proofs from the candidates to ensure that the age of the
candidates fulfils the requirements as stipulated by the law.

Additionally, the Group’s employees are offered the opportunity to
work overtime on a voluntary basis, ensuring compliance with labour
standards and safeguarding employees’ legal rights and interests. If non-
compliance is identified, the Group will promptly conduct investigations
and take appropriate disciplinary actions, which may include penalties
or termination of employment. If necessary, the Group is committed to
enhancing its labour mechanisms to prevent illegal activities and ensure a
fair and compliant workplace.
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Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group places emphasis on supply chain management, which
is achieved by maintaining long-term relationships with credible and
reputable suppliers that offer quality products and services. Environmental
and social factors are taken into consideration when choosing our
suppliers. Suppliers with certain qualifications, such as certification of
ISO 14001 Environmental Management Systems or ISO 9001 Quality
Management System Certification or ISO 45001 Occupational Health and
Safety Management Systems or other accreditation, etc. will be given
preference.

In addition to the quality of the product or service, the suppliers’
environmental value and awareness of occupational health and safety
are considered during supplier selection. We have a guideline on
procurement of detergents, pesticides and other work-related materials,
and set out clear considerable factors when choosing suppliers’
products.

We continuously evaluate the Group’s suppliers and sub-contractors with
respect to products supplied, service quality, reliability, environmental
performance and occupational health and safety. We also consider
the principle of green procurement and constantly evaluate the use of
materials to avoid overstocking and squandering resources.

It is our wish to collaborate with our suppliers in the development
and application of innovation, participation in production process
enhancement for the continuous optimisation of supply chain capabilities
as well as fulfilment of our responsibilities in social and environmental
protection.

Currently, we have a total of 40 major suppliers, among them, 28
suppliers are in Hong Kong and 12 suppliers are in the PRC, and has
implemented relevant practices relating to engaging all suppliers within
the reporting scope.

Product and Service Responsibility

At the Group, our primary focus is to provide high quality services to our
customers. We value the importance of confidentiality of our customers
by protecting their personal information. For advertising, we strictly
comply with all relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and in the
PRC to avoid conveying any incorrect messages to the public.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations, and no complaints were received in relation to our services
provided. No non-compliance issues or grievances were noted by the
Group.
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Customer Management

For the environmental protection business, the Group places great
emphasis on quality control. We have obtained ISO 9001:2015, ISO
14001:2015 and ISO 45001:2018, and are committed to delivering
professional services and achieving customer satisfaction. To understand
clients’ needs, we conduct site assessments and communicate with our
clients before commencing services.

We have a comprehensive set of policies and procedures on the Quality
Management Plan, a framework that focuses on business goals and
objectives. During the performance of our services, our employees
will carry out regular checks on the service quality, including services
delivered by the Group’s own employees and third-party service
providers, and record occasions of substandard performance and any
follow-up actions taken.

Moreover, management members would hold regular meetings with
on-site employees to review and discuss various aspects of operations
to ensure that the services provided meet clients’ expectations. We
continuously collect feedback from clients about service quality,
environmental and workplace safety performance, and application of
materials and tools. To enhance clients’ confidence in the Group, we
promptly investigate the root cause of unsatisfying services, provide
corrective solutions and carry out immediate remedial and preventive
actions in response to the complaints received from our clients.

For the money lending business, we provide one-on-one service to
our customers and design loan repayment schedule that best suits the
needs of our customers. Service features, terms and conditions, and any
associated risks are clearly communicated to the intending borrowers by
the Group’s employees. We understand that good customer service is
essential in maintaining long-term relationships with our customers.

The mission of our customer service emphasises the provision of quality
services, effective communication and responsive solutions. The interests
of our customers are placed at top priority.

Business Ethics

In order to build customer trust and loyalty, we have set out rules
to reduce the risk of employees leaking confidential information. For
instance, every employee is required to enter into a confidentiality
agreement that forbids him/her to disclose confidential or proprietary
information to parties outside the Group, either during or after
employment, without the Group’s authorisation.
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The confidentiality agreement specifies the content and scope of
confidentiality, obligations of the employees, and liability for the breach
of agreement. Disclosing or copying any of the Group’s trade secrets
without the consent of management is strictly prohibited. If there are any
employees discovered of misappropriating customers’ private data, the
Group will dismiss the employees concerned and reserve the right to
legal proceedings.

We endeavor to protect the information system, prevent virus attacks
and the leakage of clients’ information. Training relating to cyber security
and relevant risk management is provided to our employees to enhance
the employees’ awareness of cyber security.

Given that our employees have access to customers’ personal data, it is
essential for us to safeguard the privacy of this information. The Group
is committed to continuously monitoring, reviewing, and updating its
privacy principles and policies to ensure compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group adhered to all
applicable data protection laws, including but not limited to the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance and the Intellectual Property (Miscellaneous
Amendments) Ordinance of Hong Kong. We are pleased to report that
there were no confirmed incidents of non-compliance or grievances
noted by the Group.

Advertising

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements. During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, including, but
not limited to the Trade Description Ordinance in Hong Kong, which
constitutes a significant influence on the Group’s business.

The Group strictly complies with the advertising requirements. All kinds
of advertisements, such as leaflets or websites, are carefully drafted and
avoid the use of false descriptions to mislead customers. All final drafts
of the advertisement must be approved by our management before bulk
printing.

Moreover, we have designated employees to monitor notices, news
and information in the media in connection with tenders relating to
environmental hygiene services and airline catering support services work
to ensure that we strictly comply with local laws and regulations regarding
advertising and labelling.

During the Reporting Period, no confirmed non-compliance incidents or
grievances were noted by the Group.
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Trademark Management

We have registered trademarks that are important to our business. We
regularly monitor whether our trademarks are being infringed. We are
committed to protecting intellectual property rights which we handle with
great care during our daily operations.

Anti-corruption

We clearly understand that financial crime can have significant
consequences to our customers and us. Moreover, the community
and the economies in which we operate can also be greatly impacted.
Therefore, we are committed to making efforts to address the issues of
corruption, bribery and money laundering.

We maintain and implement our own anti-bribery, anti-corruption and
anti-fraud practices and procedures. We do not support, nor tolerate,
any corrupt practices and making or receiving of bribery payments. We
have established a clear policy to guide our employees in this regard.
In addition, the employment contracts of our employees include a code
of conduct for them to follow. All employees are expected to discharge
their duties with integrity and self-discipline, and they should abstain from
engaging in bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering activities or
any activities which might exploit the Group’s or client’s interests.

Directors of the Company are obligated to declare in writing any direct
or indirect financial interests in businesses that compete with the Group
or have business dealings with the Group. The Group is committed to
upholding high standards of integrity and will implement disciplinary
actions against employees who breach these guidelines, which may
include termination of employment. In instances where criminal activity is
suspected, the Group will ensure that appropriate reports are made to
the relevant regulatory or law enforcement authorities.

Whistle-blowers are encouraged to report any suspicious activities,
including requests for, or acceptance of, benefits from individuals,
companies, or organisations that may create a conflict of interest with
the Group, as well as misconduct related to bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering. Reports can be made verbally or in writing to an
immediate supervisor or to members of the Audit Committee. The identity
of the whistle-blower will remain confidential and protected throughout
the investigation, and the whistle-blower will not face any adverse
consequences regarding their employment as a result of making a report.
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In relation to our money lending operations, we have implemented a
comprehensive Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) Policy, which mandates
due diligence and Know-Your-Customer Procedures for all clients
prior to accepting loan applications. We require documentation such
as identification (ID/passport) and proof of address before establishing
business relationships. Our Group strictly adheres to the AML and
Counter-Terrorist Financing guidelines issued by the Licensed
Money Lenders Association Limited in Hong Kong to verify customer
backgrounds, identify suspicious money laundering activities, and report
any questionable transactions. Currently, if employees suspect that
a customer may be involved in money laundering, they are required
to report the case to a member of senior management, who will then
determine whether the matter should be referred to the Joint Financial
Intelligence Unit in Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, we provided
4 classroom training to employees involved in the provision of money-
lending services, including the directors. The trainings were held by our
compliance officer and each training session lasted for 3 hours.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have had a significant impact on us, including,
but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.
There was no corruption or bribery incident reported within the Group.

Community Investment

We believe that corporate social responsibility is the backbone of
corporate values, and continue to dedicate time and effort to give back
to the local community. For the thirteenth consecutive year, we have
been recognised as a “Caring Company” by The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service. This accolade acknowledges our ongoing contributions
to community development, environmental conservation, and the
advancement of people within our society.

During the Reporting Period, our Group made donations of HK$6,000
and provided support to the Fu Hong Society, reflecting our commitment
to social responsibility and community engagement. We recognise the
importance of supporting organisations that contribute to the well-being
of society, and we are proud to partner with the Fu Hong Society in their
efforts.

Looking ahead, our Group is dedicated to exploring and implementing a
wider range of public welfare activities. We aim to identify opportunities
that align with our values and contribute positively to the communities
we serve. By fostering these initiatives, we strive to make a meaningful
impact and promote sustainable development within our society.
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(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BEE(EE) RREE(HE2)RER
BB E (LANEET & )&(ﬁﬂaﬁﬁ%) JE (40
NEEEHM - BIERMEAE
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in Generation of Waste
RASRAE K tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | E 4 EEEY)
E1FEA1.3 (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FEXA=EEEDES (UBEE) R0
HA)BE(NASBES B - BIERE
FTHE) -
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section Remarks
EmE it =x:0] HE
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in | Generation of Waste
RASRIE K tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | ZE 4 EEEY)
FE1ZA1.4 (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FESEEEEDES (UBEE) R
BR)BE(WWABESEMN - BIERE
FTHE) .
KPIA1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and | Greenhouse Gas Emissions
RIRAE steps taken to achieve them. BE RN
FEIZA15 PRI BN E B R R REDE L
B IZFTERER A B o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Generation of Waste
RASRAE hazardous wastes are handled, and a EEAEREEY)
FEIZEA1.6 description of reduction target(s) set and

steps taken to achieve them.
HEBEEEREEEEYNTE &
T L HVR R B IR R R ESE LB
TEFTEREAY 28 o

A2: Use of Resources

A2 BIR(ER
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, | Use of Resources
Disclosure | including energy, water and other raw HREA
—AR materials.

BERERAER(BIEEIR - KREA R

B BIBER o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy Energy Usage
RARAE consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas | 8&JR{E
FEIEA2.1 or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

REASSHEER KEEER(NA

B R0l EREE (ATETRETE)

REE(MABER BN - SHERIMGH

&) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity | Water Usage
RASRAE (e.g. per unit of production volume, per KR A
FEIZA2.2 facility).

WRKERZE(NMAGESSEN - B8

RiEETHE) -
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency Energy Usage
RASRAE L target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | AEJR{FEF
FE1EA2.3 them.

R T R] S M BEIRE e B AR R s
235 L B RFTERER Y 20 8R o
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section Remarks
=] it =6 fas
KPI'A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue | Water Usage
RASRIE K in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, KR A
FEIZA2.4 water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.
FE R BGE A KR ZR] B EAREE - B
NFrET S AR B iR R miESE L
BiSRFTER AR B o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for Not applicable As we provide cleaning services
RSRAE finished products (in tonnes) and, if TiEA and financing services, the
FEIZA2.5 applicable, with reference to per unit Group does not produce any

produced.
N RATABEMBNES (AEFTE
R(ER) SEEEMGE -

tangible products that require
packaging.

BN EFIREITIZIRE KAt E
BRTS » MU & B30 A& E A
HEBRKNANER -

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIERKRAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s Environmental
Disclosure significant impact on the environment IRIR
—AR and natural resources.
BIRFTAHRBERAAREREKERKR
FEIER
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of Environmental
RASREE K activities on the environment and natural | &35
FEIZAS.1 resources and the actions taken to

manage them.
Hl XGRS H IR R RABERNEKR
FERCRNEEFATENT -

A4: Climate Change

A4+ FUREH

t

General Policies on identification and mitigation of | Climate Change
Disclosure | significant climate-related issues which | &f&&1{L
—RR IR have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
BRIRESE ARG HEITAES
FEMNERXRIEABEERECER o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate- Climate Change
RASEAE related issues which have impacted, and | S&IEE1t
FEIZAL A those which may impact, the issuer, and

the actions taken to manage them.
HAR KR HETAEERTEN
BERRIEAEER - MELTTE -
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section Remarks
EE i pud =x:0] HE

B. Social

B. &

B1: Employment

B1: &1

General Information on: Employment and

Disclosure (@ the policies; and Labour Practices

— IR (b) compliance with relevant laws and | B R& TER
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.

BRH N R R - BIEREF - TIER

HRE - FEHEE - 2l REBAR

VAR B At 15538 e 4B A A

@ BE: K
(b) BTHETABEATZENMERE
R
KYE RS
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment | Employment
RASRIE K type (for example, full- or part-time), age | &%
1E1ZB1.1 group and geographical region.

IR - RIER (M2 R - F
BRI LR B 5 IR B 8 -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Employment
RASRIE K group and geographical region. =
1E1EB1.2 BIER - FEAR KR EI S EE SR

KELE o
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BT

Description
i pud

Chapter/Section
E=x:0]

Remarks

ik

B2: Health and Safety
B2 : ZEETE

General Information on: Health and Safety
Disclosure | (a) the policies; and fREReaZ 2
—RH R (b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting
employees from occupational
hazards.
EHEREZ2 TIERERREREERE
BERMEER
@ BE: K
b) BEFHEITABERZENEBE
eSS
EVER) o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities | Health and Safety
RASRIA K occurred in each of the past three years | EEEHZ &
151EB2.1 including the reporting year.
BE-F(BEERFE)BFEITK
AR R L -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
RS AE RN ETEEARTIERE - [T
E1EB2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Health and Safety
RASREE K safety measures adopted, how they are | f2FEEZ &
FE1ZB2.3 implemented and monitored.

B P ER MBSk R R e 21508 - A
KABRAIT KBS A -

B3: Development and Training
B3 : R LIEFI

General Policies on improving employees’ Development and Training
Disclosure | knowledge and skills for discharging R R
—MRIREE duties at work.
FRRAREBBIT LEBEN B L
BERIIBR ©
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained Development and Training
BRI K by gender and employee category BRRIE
181ZB3.1 (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
BRI RESHEN(NEREERE - A&
EREZEONZIEEBDL ©
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed Development and Training
RS E K per employee by gender and employee PR EE
f51EB3.2 category.
RERIREBERED  BHEESTK
S8 TR -
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section Remarks
EmE it =x:0] HE

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : 8T8

General Information on: Labour Standards

Disclosure | (a) the policies; and & T %R

—MRIEEE (o) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to

preventing child and forced labour.
BN L E T ek sa g5 TH)

(@ BEK: &
b) BEFHBITABERZENHEBE
R

HYERY -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Labour Standards
RASRIA N employment practices to avoid child and | £ T#8]]
FE1ZB4.1 forced labour.

it R EPI N EE AR RET R

SRS T -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate Labour Standards
RABEAE R such practices when discovered. AT A

EiEB42 | HAEHRERBRAEERABIBE A
REXE AR -

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 - g E IR

General Policies on managing environmental and | Supply Chain Management
Disclosure | social risks of the supply chain. HEEER

—MRIKEE EIRHEEEIRIR R GRREE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical Supply Chain Management
RSRAE region. HEGRE R

1515B5.1 i@ DB HERE A -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating Supply Chain Management
RASRAE to engaging suppliers, number of HrERER

FH1ZB5.2 suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.

R AHEERAES - mERT
BRABOIMNHEREE - ARBAERT
REERFE o

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain Management
RASRIE K environmental and social risks along HpEiEER

#512B5.3 the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

3007 A 58 Bl (1 FE 3 (A R P BV R 3R [
tHEgRRrES - ARBEHNTRER
i o
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KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Supply Chain Management
RASRIE K environmentally preferable products HEEEE
F51ZB5.4 and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and
monitored.
R EREREEREESZ BRERER
NRISRIED] - A RBRERIT MERT
% o

B6: Product and Service Responsibility
B6 : Em MR EE

General Information on:
Disclosure (@ the policies; and
— R IR (o) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
FRAMEHESNREHRERZ S -
BE - REIAMEEEARMERIER

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmRRFEEE

(@ BXER: &
b) BEFHEITABEAZENEBE
ESE]
BEH -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Not applicable As we provide cleaning services
RASRIE K shipped subject to recalls for safety and | i and financing services, there
¥512B6.1 health reasons. were no products subject to

EEACERERBHT AT BIZME
EhmARRNE D

recall.
AREMREEERRE LEE
R - MBI EAR KA E

)
oA °

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related
RASREE K complaints received and how they are
$81ZB6.2 | dealt with.
BRBMNEmMIREHRFEE AKIE

Product and Service
Responsibility — Customer
Management
EnkREEE-—XFPE

Eapapr e
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to Product and Service
BIRAE observing and protecting intellectual Responsibility — Trademark

1612B6.3 property rights.
L AR R AR E R RS -

Management
EmkREEE-—ERE
18

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process
RSRAE and recall procedures.
1E15B6.4 S S0 TE R K E MBI

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmMREEE
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KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection | Product and Service

RASRIE K and privacy policies, how they are Responsibility — Business

F51ZB6.5 implemented and monitored. Ethics

BB EERRERLEBRE - AR
TRREEATT R EEER TR o

EmREEET-—BXER

=5

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : k&
General Information on: Anti-corruption
Disclosure | (a) the policies; and RES
— R R (o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BEANI-FREE - $R - BGFROERER -
() BE: &
b) BEFHEITABERZENHEBE
ESF]
BEH -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases Anti-corruption
RARAE regarding corrupt practices brought REF
1E1ZB7.1 against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
B’éﬁi&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ’*"}\ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁja
FBRENESHARGHNEE MFDRER
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures, how | Anti-corruption
RARAE K they are implemented and monitored. RES
1E1EB7.2 Ha B S FE b S B ERAR - LA KRB R
TRERFE -
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training Anti-corruption
BRI provided to directors and staff. RE5
JE1ZB7.3 HmESRE TRENRESEI -
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Remarks

ik

B8: Community Investment

B8 : (@R E

General Policies on community engagement Community Investment
Disclosure | to understand the needs of the HEEE
— MR communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
BB ESHER T REEMTLES
ZEMBEREEBETEEE B
B ©
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. Community Investment
RSRAE education, environmental concerns, HEERE
151ZB8.1 labour needs, health, culture, sport).
FIERERB(IHE  RREHE ST
TR R - Uk - BAH) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or Community Investment
RSRAE time) to the focus area. HEEE
f51%B8.2 EHTHREMAEAER(NS EERRE) o
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@ pakertilly
R B ] R

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

PPS International (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PPS
International (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 97 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June
2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BYRBERE
HEBEZERARIFARRE

(RASESEMKZNBERIR)

=R

2B (A T RSRET AP )) B At DS 597
E183EEMIERAER AT NEMB AR AT
i EEE ) NEEMERE - IRAMB
BERBER-_Z-_MFA=1THNGEE I
ARBER - BEZALFENGRSBERR &
FREREMEMKGER  HREEREERM
HERERER  UNRGEMBHRERME £
HREZSHBERER -

BARA  ZREVBERERCREFTEGTIA
S([HFESAE])MBEMNOEET R
SRA([EEMBHRELR D EEAFILR
R EEER_ZT_WNFAA=THZEEY
BRRAE BERERBEZALFEZES
MBRANGABASRE  YCREFELRR
{2 HBREZ DREL °

BREE

BMERBEBSTMAGRONETBEE
A[(TEABFEER ) ETE - BRSSP
[ e EE TR A M MR B L] —fE —
TR MEZFRETOEME - RFIREE
AR AGNEXES AR EERTRI(E
BRI DBYR BB MBEFTREST
AIETTHMERET - HFIEE - RFMES
METERETE REEARMNETER
TRALERE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group recognised loans and interest
receivables recorded initially at fair value
and subsequently at amortised cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
As at 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of
the loans receivable and interest receivables
were HK$35,129,000 and HK$1,475,000
respectively.

The measurement of expected credit losses
(‘ECL") requires the application of significant
judgements which include the identification
of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the
ECL model such as the probabilities of defaultt,
loss given default, expected future cash flows
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors.

Due to the significance of the aggregated
amount of loans and interest receivables
(representing approximately 12% of total
assets) and inherent uncertainty in such
estimates, we considered this as a key audit
matter.

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Valuation and existence of loans and interest receivables
Refer to notes 2.8(), 2.10, 14 and 25(a) of the consolidated financial statements

Qur audit procedures in this area included:

obtaining and reviewing a sample of loan
agreements (including supplemental
agreements and loan extension
agreements, if any) and agreeing the
principal amounts, interest rates, maturity
dates and other information to the
Group's accounting records;

testing of controls designed and
applied in the process of approving and
granting loans, subsequent monitoring
of repayment status and of any loan
extensions;

assessing the effectiveness of key controls
over the application of the impairment
methodology and the governance for the
ECL models, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in calculating the ECL;

assessing the reasonableness of the
Group’s ECL models, inputs, assumptions
and the Group’s criteria for assessing
if there has been a significant increase
in credit risk, default or credit-impaired,
in which allowances for financial assets
should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

inspecting the loans and mortgage
agreements entered into between the
Group and the borrowers, and other
relevant information relating to value of
underlying properties;

recalculation of loan interest income
recognised on a sample basis;

obtaining direct confirmations of loan
balances from the borrowers on a sample
basis; and

reviewing subsequent settlement records
and corroborating enquiries with the
management about the reasons for
not considering a provision against any
unsettled past-due balances.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Hitv &
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT #EMYBHESUBHRENSTE
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (&)

(CONTINUED)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going — WMEEFRABFELESSTERNEE EE
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence st WIRERFTESHNSEEE  ®
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events ERGHFAEEMEY BEEFELCEDN
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability BENELEERRENBEEHXIBERNE
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material RNEEM o WEMETEFEERTRE
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s M RPVBT RSN RS P E AR & R
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial FIEBREREREFAET T - KiHZ
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our EWRBEITD  RMEESAEMNER -
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained HZMER HERNEEZEEN®RE A 8L
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or BEEHNEABE - AW - RREHHIBER
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going AREEE ERBEKIERELE -
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the — FHEGAFEHRERNERZY]  EELA
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, A(BERE)  URGEEUBHREES R
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the AEYREEER S REIE -
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial — EEARME BSEBRNNEELERIEN
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to HBERNT R EENTTEE - UEER
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are EUBHRERERER - BHMBE B&H
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the FEATIgE BB NETT - RMYEE
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. RAEEIHEE -

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among ~ HAFEAIE Bt A (AP 8 1E) st BN FT &
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant B & B 22 BELA R E RT3 IR (B ERME
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that &t HARE A N EFES 1R MR Y (LM B Al = ) #E
we identify during our audit. 1T -

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement FH{FIEETEN B EREBEEEEE K
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding  FAIEEBIREERT - WAL A IER AT E
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other ~ FFIB EMFT A BBEMEM=TE - AR (0
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, & [ ) BREUEER 2 & 8917 B ok FE FB #Y B #0458 7
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards AR EHITER ©

applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sau Yi Teresa.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 September 2024
Chan Sau Yi Teresa

Practising certificate number P08292
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEBEER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BEZ - —UFXA=1THILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA E5117R)

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE FET FHET
Revenue Wz 3
- Service income from environmental and  — 815 B2 2 RIEW A
cleaning 485,387 391,005
— Interest income from money lending — EZER 2 A B WA 2,687 4,400
488,074 395,405
Cost of services BRFG R AN (454,486) (365,339)
Gross profit EX 33,588 30,066
Other income, other gains and other HABA ~ HAblas &
losses and impairments H A BB A RRIE 4 (9,023) (8,418)
Selling and marketing expenses SHE REHMY (3,041) (2,528)
Administrative expenses TR (24,271) (22,261)
Finance costs BhE KA 5(a) (818) (656)
Loss before taxation FRELAIET 1B 5 (3,565) (3,797)
Income tax expense e~ 6 (1,195) (1,502)
Loss for the year FREE (4,760) (5,299)
Attributable to: BT ALES:
— owners of the Company —ARREEA (4,396) (4,997)
— non-controlling interests — JEEAR (364) (302)
(4,760) (5,299)
HK cents HK cents
Al il
Loss per share SRER 9
— Basic and diluted —HARNEE (0.81) (0.93)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BEF A FE AU AR B SRR — & -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREREMEEKRERE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZ=—ZTZUF A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TE51I7R )

2024 2023
—EBNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss for the year FREE (6,299)
Other comprehensive loss, net of nil tax HithZ2EEE  NBREHIE
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ HgmJaEEM D EEEBHIEE ¢
profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation of financial — &GN EREFERER 2
statements of foreign operations MEH ZERE (1,064) (5,408)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEBEE (5,824) (10,705)
Attributable to: DT AL FES :
— owners of the Company —RRAEEA (5,460) (10,403
— non-controlling interests —IEmh i s (364) (302)
(5,824) (10,705)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEMIMIFERER L F4R A B SRR —EB5 o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

As at 30 June 2024 R =ZE=PUF A =1+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA E5117R)

Notes
B 5

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WE R 10
Right-of-use assets CREEE 11
Loans receivables FEUE TR 14
Restricted bank deposits SR BIERITFIR 16
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE
Trade receivables 2 5 W ERIA 12
Deposits, prepayments and other e FENRIEREAER

receivables FRIE 13
Loans and interest receivables JEUNE R R F B 14
Financial assets at fair value through WA EFABZZEMEE

profit or loss 15
Restricted bank deposits SR BIERITIFEK 16
Cash and cash equivalents ReFReEEY 16
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B S IR 17
Accruals, deposits received and other Bt ER - olig e REMER

payables IA 18
Bank loans IRITEN 19
Lease liabilities HE&E 20
Current tax payable FETRNERTR IE 21(a)
Net current assets REEEFE
Total assets less current liabilities BREERRBERE
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 20
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE 21(b)
NET ASSETS BEEFE

EHHERBMRAR Gk 2024

2024
—E-mE
HK$’000
T

47,290
1,537
11,782
5,889

66,498

513
94,366

8,011
24,822

405

103,174

231,291

35,707

42,331
19,366
1,441
1,461

100,306

130,985

197,483

134

540

674

196,809

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FiET

60,092
2,115

62,207

464
86,739

7,500
38,361

368
278
90,313

224,023

23,982

34,333
20,353
1,327
2,173
82,168
141,855
204,062
819
610

1,429

202,633

929




e PR R

As at 30 June 2024 R =—ZE—[F,XxA=+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TE51I7R )

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024
—ENEF
Notes HK$°000
BfaE FET

Capital and reserves EXRF#E 24
Share capital A& 5,400
Reserves ] 188,438

Total equity attributable to owners of AL FHEE ABELEREE

the Company 193,838
Non-controlling interests IR 2,971
TOTAL EQUITY AR 196,809

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27

September 2024.

Yu Shaoheng
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Lai Tin Ming
Director
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2023
—EC=F
HK$'000
FET

5,400
193,898

199,298
3,335

202,633

R-ZZE_MEAA-+EAKESTEHERE

RETIES

BRH
EF

BEM P FER AR I SR A M IRR M — 7D -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZ =—ZT—UF A =1+HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA E5117R)

Attributable to owners of the Gompany

KRR AR
The PRC Non-
Share Share Other  Conbun ~ Exchange  statutory  Accumuleted controling
captal  premium esene Supls resene resene losses Totdl  Interests Total
hEiEE HEl
Re ROEE ARk HARR  EXBG e ZHER a3t g &t
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
Thn TR Th TR TER  TER TR TR TR TER
(note (note (note (note (note
2000 oMol 24bi) 240l 240))
(st (htsE (htsE (st (Kist
AP0 2400 240 2400) 240w
At1July 2022 e b 3 f: R 5400 198,524 1,000 21,400 21 553 (17908 209,701 3637 213338
Changes in equity for 2023: R-B-=EEREE.
Loss for the year EngiE - - - - - - e U (0 (5299
Bxchange diferences on tanston ~~ BESNEREERR 2
of financial statements of foreign EXZE MBSHE
operations, net of il tax - - - - (5,406) - - (5,406) - (5,406)
Total comprehensive loss for the year M2 TSRS - - - - b0 - 4997 (1040 (309 (10,705
Appropriafion tohe PRO statutory AR EREETHE
feserve - - - - - 238 239) - - -
At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=EXA=1A 5400 198,524 1,000 21,400 (4679) 91 (2313 199298 33% 202,63
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE - —NFXA=THILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TE51I7R )

Attributable to owners of the Company

LGN
The PRC Non-
Share Share Other Contribution  Exchange  statutory Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve suplus  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
HEEE ¥R

Bx  ROEE HbRE  HAR&  ENGE BE  ZHER a3t 4t &3t
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HKS000  HK$'000
TEn TEn TEr  TEn  TER  TEr  TER  TEr  TER  TER

(note (note (note (note (note

b)) 24bJG) 26l 24)  24(ol)

(M (W& (hia (hiat (M

AN 24b)) i) 24p)i)  24(b))

At1 July 2023 RZEZZEt+R-A 198,524 21,400 (4,679 (23,138) 199,298 202,633
Changes in equity for 2024: R-B-MEEREE.
Loss for the year EMEE (496  (429) (364)
Bxchange diferences on ranstion ~~ BEENEREBRR
of financialstatements of foreign EREE THRTHE
operations, net of nil tax (1,064) (1,064
Total comprefensive loss fortheyear AR ABIEAE (1,064) (4396 (5,460 (364)

Appropriafontohe PRO stetutory AR EREETHE
eSene (87)

At 30 June 2024 R-B-mERAZ1A 198,524 21,400 (27621) 196,809

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  FEFT i sEHEAR I 47 A BI RS TRAR N — 265 ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BEZ - —UFXA=1THILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA E5117R)

2024 2023
—E-NE TEC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FHET FHT
Operating activities BT
Loss before taxation BrBiRIEE (3,565) (3,797
Adjustments for: ABUATEIA
— Interest income from money lending —EES 2 T BUWA 3 (2,687) (4,400)
- Bank interest income —SRITHRIE MR A 4 (140) 87)
~ Dividend income from listed equity securities ~ — MR AN % 2 Bk BUA 4 @) (16)
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant —HEWE - BE MR
and equipment BB, (W) 4 37 (126)
- (Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment —EWET LB CRERE
loss on loans and interest receivables, BE),/REkEFE
net 4 (1,471) 7,038
— Net unrealised gain on financial assets at fair —3Z A A ABR 7 S REEY
value through profit or loss RER W FE 4 @37) (104)
— Revaluation loss on property, plant and —-9¥  BENMREEEESE
equipment 4 10,752 2,566
- Finance costs —REKAR 5(a) 818 656
— Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ BERRETE
equipment 5(c) 3,064 3,274
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets —(ERREENE 5(c) 1,851 1,894
— Write-off of property, plant and equipment  —#1% « [BE R 52 E 54 5(c) 36 -
— Net foreign exchange gain — B F R (699) (919)
Operating profit before changes in BEESEE A 2 KRR
working capital 7,955 5,979
Increase in inventories FEEN (49) (94)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 R IEE N (7,648) (4,437)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and e ENFEREEK
other receivables I (531) (604)
Decrease in loans and interest receivables B E T RFIER D 3,470 12,383
Increase in financial assets at fair value BATEABRZ EREE
through profit or loss 0 = (230)
Increase in trade payables D SR FIBE N 11,725 4,630
Increase/(decrease) in accruals, deposits JEEHER - BUuRe MEAM
received and other payables JE g, G ) 8,010 (86)
Net cash generated from operations EEMELRESTE 22,932 17,541
Interest received from money lending B REERZFE 2,285 4,400
Dividend received B S 4 16
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid)/refunded (BAY),/REEBFIEH (1,926) 294
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BRPBEEEMEH (49) (24)
Net cash generated from operating RETHMELRSTE
activities 23,246 22,227
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE - —NFXA=THILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TE51I7R )

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024

—ENF

Notes HK$’000
(i3 FET

Investing activities

Interest received

(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank
deposits

REEH
S G
RRBIRITEFR (M), WD

140

(5,611)

Payment for purchase of property, BEWME  BEREEZAR

plant and equipment (1,133)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BEMREMSZE

plant and equipment 28
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFARETE (6,576)
Financing activities MEEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHENERETD 16(b) (1,845)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSOFEBS 16(b) (129)
Repayment of bank loans BEBIRITER 16(0) (987)
Interest paid BT 16(0) (689)
Net cash used in financing activities METHMARESFE (3,650)
Net increase in cash and cash ReRFASEEMEMTFE

equivalents 13,020
Cash and cash equivalents at RENNESRELSEY

beginning of the year 90,313
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  MEERSENE (159)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of RERNEESREEEEY

the year

103,174

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2023
—Eo=F
HK$'000
FET
87

292
(1,516)
540
(597)
(1,919
(81

(1,016
(575

(3,591)

18,039

74,480
(2,206

90,313
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

COMPANY INFORMATION

PPS International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated and domiciled
in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 17 June 2013.

The Company has its registered office and principal place of
business at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Office A, 12/F., Tower A,
Capital Tower, No. 38 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$’000”) unless otherwise stated.
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group’s presentation currency.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2.3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

DNAEH
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BB —ZF—=F A +LtBEEERLEH
BRBAABRAR(TBERFT])GEM LT -

RARZFMREEREZSEMED B
{17 JA Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands &2 & 78 JLBE N B2 B (& 21T
38HBERF LAE12IEAR -

KABEREER AT - ENBARZE
DEIETIH M 5E28 -

HE_ZT_NFRNA=THILFEFEH
BHRR]BEARAMEMB AR (5ELS
[REE]) -

BRBERIN  SRAMBBREATET
(ITETDE%K - BB RARE
ZHNEEBRAEEZ2HER -

FESHBER
2.1 Bf|E

HEFEMBHRREREAT LGSR
fire([HESTMAS )BEMM
BEREBVHRELE(EEHH
WERER ) (BEMRAEREREE
MsmERER - BEGHER(EE
SRR EREBEZARE) REE R
AGRPIZ HBREMARR - ZFHFE
BT ¥R 2R TR 8 ST B R FTGEMRE 55 |
mARA(TGEM EM AR A ) R E 2 i
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e MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

2.2

106

Statement of compliance (continued)

The material accounting policies adopted by the Group are set
out below.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) and the interests in leasehold land and
buildings are stated at their fair values (see notes 2.5 and 2.6
respectively).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 30.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BER(E)
2.3 B HEEE

2.3 Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective in the current accounting period of the
Group:

Insurance Contracts and the
Related Amendments

HKFRS 17 and
Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Except as described below, the application of the above
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial positions
and performance for current or prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

As disclosed in note 22(b), the Group has applied the
amendments for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with
“material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.
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ECERES BIFR B —
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BT XFmES - NAFERR Lt
] REERT BB MG EAIE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RRM

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BUER(E)
2.3 BHEEH(E)

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

108

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set
out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets held
in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual
employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’” MPF contributions
was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). In
June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR (the “Government”)
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the
accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment
Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately preceding
the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect
of the employment period before the Transition Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

2.4

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF — LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for
the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition
of the MPF — LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong.

The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have a
material impact on the Group’s result and financial position.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see
note 31).

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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e MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

2.5

2.6

110

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 2.8(ii)).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVPL are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment
and are initially stated at fair value while transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. The explanation of how the
Group determines the fair value of financial assets is set out in
note 25(g).

Changes in the fair value of the financial assets at FVPL are
subsequently recognised in profit or loss if the investments do
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income (recycling).

Property, plant and equipment

Interests in leasehold land and buildings, where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest, held for own
use are stated at its revalued amount, being their fair value at
the date of the revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair
values at the end of the reporting period.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2.8(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 FESHEHEGE)
2.6 ¥ MEKZREGE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Changes arising on the revaluation of leasehold land and
buildings held for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated separately in
equity in the property revaluation reserve. The only exceptions
are as follows:

— when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be charged to
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the amount held
in the reserve in respect of that same asset immediately
prior to the revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be credited to
profit or loss to the extent that a deficit on revaluation in
respect of that same asset had previously been charged
to profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on
the date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the property revaluation reserve to
accumulated losses and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Land and buildings Over the term of lease

Furniture and fixtures 3to 7 years
Equipment and machinery 3to 7 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Computer equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements 3 years or over the
unexpired period of
lease, whichever is

shorter

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

BB ANEE T MEFTE
B REBAHMBEEWERE X
ROEERREB I EETERR
HETHIERBISN -

- HWELBMHEM  RBIZELE
BIEmANER - AEALRERER
SRR —TREENBREHATAT
AARBSENSERR &

- WMELABHER HE&HAR
@ LWBBR—-—HEEKLAB
BaEAkk 2 EEEARR

B EYE - BERREZIHERB
PrEEZ B J5iR%IA B HEFSK
TR RS EE C ERET - W
fEsk s AR RS ARER o (£
REMAKRTHMEELREBEAR
AEE - MAeEHNOBRERS -

PrETHRIRIA T A A A F A E AR
EWEHME - BB RREEE 2K
SfAERGFHREA)FE

T MET itk

BRMNEE BETH

By BETH

JTE 4

BN 3%F

HEMEKE BF I REWE
HimEeE

W - BERREAR NS R
A TR A 4 RS - BISOR B KRR
R H AR RREETRSH 2
WA - BEHHEBRE - BEN
AR R HRE (08 R R
5 o

HBRZERARIRE Fi 2024 111




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RRM

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BUER(E)
2.7 HEEE

2.7 Leased assets

112

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has separated non-lease
components and non-lease components are accounted for by
applying other applicable standards.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, plus initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note
2.8(ii)). Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of right-
of-use assets using the straight line method over the lease
term or, where it was likely the Group would obtain ownership
of the assets, the life of the asset as set out in note 2.6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BER(E)
2.7 HEEE(E)

2.7 Leased assets (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for
in the lease contract, if such modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
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portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.8 Credit losses and impairment of assets

114

@

Credit losses from financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including trade and other receivables,
loans and interest receivables, restricted bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents).

Financial assets measured at FVPL are not subject to the
ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive), discounted at the original effective interest rate,
where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk. In measuring ECLs, the
Group takes into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs which
result from all possible default events over the expected
lives of these financial assets. ECLs on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost,
the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial asset since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs. The 12-month ECLs are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BER(E)

28 FEFERREERER)

2.8 Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial assets (continued) () ZHEEZSEEREE)
Significant increases in credit risk 1EE AR EZE S

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial asset assessed at the end of the reporting period
with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers that
a default event occurs when the debtor or borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held). The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial asset’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

116

@

Credit losses from financial assets (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial assets, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial assets are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in the financial asset’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial assets with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial
asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

2 FEEFTERGE)
28 FEBERREERME(HE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BUER(E)
28 FEFBENREERE(E)
(i) BEHEHEEERE

2.8 Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

118

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—  right-of-use assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BER(E)

2.8 Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued) 28 FEEEREEREE)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued) (i) EHREEERE(E)
-~ Recognition of impairment losses —  BRRREEE
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss WEEXHMBRSES
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash- B8 {7 Y BIR T (R 38 L AT UK
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its Ol &2 - AR B g
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised RBEEE - RBREESE
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated BUBRANBREEEE T
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill DR BERMPDEDER
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of ExHeEL BN (HZA
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the BOMANEENEES
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro B RBIRLLOUR D458
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset (A EM) AEME
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less ENFEOEE  EXREE
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if MEEEETREENE
determinable). & B A B A B KA

(ngest&) e AEEN

BEEETE) RIBRSN

- Reversals of impairment losses —  JRIEEERE
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been im AEEE AT E € B
a favourable change in the estimates used to HEHREAMNEL - 8
determine the recoverable amount. SREREESE -
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the FfT 3 [0 89 Rt 181 /85 16 (2 PR 170
asset’s carrying amount that would have been ERTFENRERBE
determined had no impairment loss been recognised BREGREETNEER
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are 18 ° BT O 65 E &5 18
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the EERBEEHNFEET AR
reversals are recognised. o
2.9 Inventories 29 78

Inventories, which represent consumable goods, are carried at TFEERm - TR AR B A 2R %

the lower of cost and net realisable value. BEMER 2BRERESER -

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula FRALA DR AL E - BT

and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and FrESREERA - WA R S7EE

other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present IR B IR A EARBC R o

location and condition.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal
OCCurs.

2.10 Loans and interest receivables

2.1

120

Loans receivable are loans granted to customers in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of loans receivable
is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current
assets or, if not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Interest receivables are interests derived from loans granted to
borrowers in the ordinary course of business.

Loans and interest receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see
note 2.8())).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. All
receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 2.8(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

2 FESHBEK(E)
212 HERBELSEEY

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand and demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.8(j).

B RRSSBYBERITRFER
SARRITRE S Bk 2 E T
2 %A A TR LR AE MBI
2He  AEBEEDEBRTARS
REE=EANES - ReRRLE
B TOARIEN FE2. 8()FF 8L 2 B B T
S B AR T AT o

2.13 Trade and other payables 213 ES R HMENRE
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value B 5 M EA SRV IR A AR
and are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the R BHBREHEK AR - 1ERLIR
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they BB MEFRIBRIN - RULIER T TR
are stated at invoice amounts. BESHIIER -

2.14 Interest-bearing borrowings 214 GTEER
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value STEERB R AT ERZ DA
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 2 - RYIPHERE - fHEERIRAE
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using BB FALRHESER AR DI BR © BB FISE
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in IRIE & 5T R BLAE S AR (R
accordance with the accounting policy for borrowing costs (see 5¥2.21) °
note 2.21).

2.15 Employee benefits 215 EEER
(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to () ‘FEIESEFRREFHNENK

defined contribution retirement plans &R

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

122

(i) Retirement and other post-employment benefits

The Group offers the following retirement and other post-
employment benefits to its employees:

-  MPF scheme in Hong Kong;

— defined contribution government pension schemes
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and

—  LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance for
employees in Hong Kong.

The assets of retirement schemes are generally held in
separate trustee-administered funds.

For Hong Kong employees

Contributions to MPF, as required under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned
in the current and prior periods and discounting that
amount. For LSP obligations, the estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Current service cost is measured as the increase in the
present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting
from employee service in the current period. Net interest
expense for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the reporting period to
the then net defined benefit liability, taking into account
any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the
period. Current service cost and net interest expense on
the net defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BER(E)
215 EEER(E)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Retirement and other post-employment benefits
(continued)

For PRC employees

The employees in the PRC are members of the retirement
benefit scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group is required to contribute, based on a certain
percentage of payroll, to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Contributions
to this retirement benefit scheme are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred except to the extent
that they are included in the cost of inventories at the end
of the reporting period.

2.16 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to
a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity
or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable
on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years.
The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received
that reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria
are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BUER(E)
2.16 FTi5%i (&)

2.16 Income tax (continued)

124

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries
to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

— taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in
full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on the business
plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BER(E)
2.16 FTi5%i (&)

BEHBEENBEERERE TIE
1275 T LAIEES -

2.16 Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain

criteria are met.

217 BB HUBER

2.17 Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially stated at fair value
(being the transaction price, unless the fair value can otherwise
be reliably estimated) as deferred income. Thereafter, the
amount of the guarantee is amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees
issued. Where consideration is received or receivable for the
issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration is received
or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when
ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the amount carried in deferred income in respect
of the guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk
of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as described in
note 2.8(i) apply.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RRM

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 FE&:BUER(E)
217 BB HUBERE)

2.17 Financial guarantees issued (continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The amount is then
discounted using the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks
specific to the cash flows.

2.18 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.19 Revenue and other income

126

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the provision of services and money lending in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the services before they are
rendered to the customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability
to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from the services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from provision of services is recognised when control
over a service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes
and is after the deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Provision of environmental and cleaning services

Service income received or receivable from customers
when the environment and cleaning service contracts,
which relate to routine environmental and cleaning
services, are entered into, is recognised over time as
the customers simultaneously receives and consumes
benefits as the Group performs. The Group bills a
predetermined rate for services provided on a regular
basis and recognises as revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice and that corresponds
directly with the value of performance completed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2.8(i)).

Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
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EREEE RAESRE) (R
2.8() °

BRERA

EAREZBEERAERER
B R SBERTER
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Revenue and other income (continued)

(iv) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as other income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

2.20 Translation of foreign currencies

128

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognises such non-monetary assets and liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill arising
on consolidation of foreign operations acquired, are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

2 FESHBEK(E)
2.21 R

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

2.22 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of services, the type or class of customers, the methods
used to provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually

fERRAREEEERL -

2.22 HERIRE

RED A IR M BEHRRAREED
MEEZE2RE  DRERAEETE
BRITBREEEEHRHEICMHE
o B ERAAKESIERS RIS
&R - WRHAHHERKR -

ERERNZBED BTG R ERE
BrmAst - BRIFAED EEAAU
REEE  YEEARUZRBEE
B BEPEISER - RHRE
% UREERIRME - ARIFFEX
2D EET & Ll K% BERR]

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these AR e
criteria.
3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WHERSBHE
(a) Revenue (a) Wz

W tE IR IR IE KB R BRIS P S RO AR
BB B REZEBEREANF SUA

Revenue represents the service income from the provision
of environmental and cleaning services and interest income

earned from the money lending business as follows: N
2024 2023
—ECNEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FT
Revenue within the scope of BERMBHRELERE155
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from [BEEE#HWE EERZ
Contracts with Customers” g
Service income from environmental and 38 MOBEZIRIEUA
cleaning 485,387 391,005
Revenue from other sources H R 2 W
Interest income from money lending PUEF| BUA 2,687 4,400
488,074 395,405
EHERARAT T3k 2024 129
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

130

Revenue (continued)

For the environmental and cleaning services contracts, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals to the
right to invoice which corresponds directly with the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance to date, on a monthly
basis. The Group has elected the practical expedient for not to
disclose the remaining performance obligations for these type
of contracts.

Segment reporting

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, which are used to make strategic decisions
including resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

The segments are managed separately as each business offers
different products and services and requires different business
strategies. No operating segments identified by the chief
operating decision maker have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:

Provision of environmental and
cleaning services in Hong Kong
and the PRC

Environmental and
cleaning

Money lending Provision of money lending
business in Hong Kong and
the PRC

Investments Investments in financial assets
The chief operating decision maker assesses the performance
of the operating segments based on a measure of reportable
segment results. This measurement basis excludes certain
other income, other gains and other losses and impairments,
central administrative expenses (including certain portion of
directors’ emoluments) and finance costs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T517R)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WaEkosHHE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) PEBHE (&)

DHEETETBRETEENAT
BE W% BERREARRE R
ReEED -

Segment assets mainly exclude corporate assets, property,
plant and equipment and cash and cash equivalents that are
managed on a central basis.

Segment liabilities mainly exclude corporate liabilities and bank DHEBEEETREATBENRIT
loans.

() ZDEFE BEREE

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

2024
-1
Environmental Money
and cleaning  Investments lending  Unallocated Total
RERER R HE AR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn Thn Thn T
Reportable segment revenue from EREEEEINRENDEFZ
external customers recognised by HES PG
over time 488,074
Reportable segment profit IRES PR 10,320
Unallocated corporate expense FAORCERR
Other income, other gains and other losses — EMMA - EtREREGERN R
and impairments A (10,733)
Central administrative costs RRATHEA (2,469
Finance costs HANA (689)
Loss before taxation KHAEE (3,565)
Other segment information A A HER
Reversal of impaimentloss onloans and B EF R FI S HESRER
interest receivables (1.471) (1,411)
Net unrealised gain on financial assetsat A TFEF AR £BEEL
FUPL RERNEE (37)
Revaluation loss on property, plant and % BERRRERER
equipment 10,752
Depreciation of iER
~ property, plant and equipment -0%  BERAE 3,064
- right-of-use assets -FRELE 1,851
Interest on lease liabilties fEaEHE 129

Write-off of property, plant and equipment

UERY- e

EHHERBMRAR Gk 2024

36

131
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

132

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Wz ke o B S ()

(b) &P E (4])

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

() DEFEE BEREMEH)

2028
“E-CF
Environmental Money
andcleaning  Investments lending  Unallocated Total
REREZ & W Iy st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr T T T TEr
Reportable segment revenue from EREEBRINRANIEF
external customers recognised by THEAPhE
over time 391,005 - 4400 - 395,405
Reportable segment profit/(loss) AREHTER /(BB 9818 118 (6,150) - 3786
Unallocated corporate expense FOMOERX
Other income, otfer gains and other losses — EMMA - EfMEREHERILE
and impairments JeAEl (2,559)
Central administrative costs RRATBRE (4,459
Finance costs BERA 679)
Loss hefore taxation BERAEE (3,797)
Other segment information EtiAHER
Impairment loss on loans and interest EYEZRAEHESE
receivables - - 7,038 - 7,038
Netunrealised gain on financial assetsat -~ EATERABE/EBEEL
FUPL RERMGEE - (104 - - (104)
Revaluation loss on property, plant and % BERGEEREE
equipment - - - 2,566 2,506
Depreciation of; iER
-~ praperty, plant and equipment -0% HBEREE 1456 - 7 1811 3274
- right-of-use assets -FRELE 1283 - 611 - 1,804
Interest on lease liabities HEARHS 1 - 2 - 81
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WaEkosHHE(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) PEBHE (&)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (i) ZEb¥E BEREE(E)
2024 2023
—g-ME kS 3
Environmental Money Environmental Money
and cleaning  Investments lending Total  and cleaning Investments lending Total
RERAR %% e &t BhEz 73 HifE ey

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TERL TiEn TR TiEn TERL TEL FEL TERL

Assets &E
Segment assets PHEE 178,726 248,090 152,684 1333 49,948 203,965
Unallocated corporate AOELEEE
assets 49,699 82,265
297,789 286,230
Liabiliies 8
Seqrent febilties PHEE (80,176) (61,239) (19 789) (62,041)
Unallocated corporate AELERE
lebiites (21,55)
(83597)
Other segment information s HEn
Additons to segment WEHEERE
on-CurTent assets gE 3557 - - 3567
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WHEoHHE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) DEEwE(E)
(i) Geographical information and major customers (i) MEEZFRETEEF

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets (“specified non-
current assets”). The geographical location of customers is
based on the location at which the services or loans were
provided. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the

assets.
Revenue from
external customers
RENBEF 2K
2024 2023
—E-mE =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Hong Kong BB 468,208 375,907
The PRC s 19,866 19,498

488,074 395,405

Revenue from major customers arising from provision of
environmental and cleaning services which accounted for
10% or more of the total revenue is set out below:

Customer A ZEA
Customer B ®FB
Customer C ®FC

i The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more
of the total revenue.
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BELEEREREEEE
EHRBEE]) AEMEZE
o BP PN R R IR
KERZPAEMEE S - 8BE
FRDEEMEMRIZEEE
XPTEH B EI S o

Specified non-current

assets

BEFRBEE
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
61,467
740
62,207

RERBENBERERBAFRA
TEEPHYE(HBNKE10%
A E)ESIET

2024 2023
—EINEFE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiBT
N/A i FR #

N/ATE A

N/AT @

f HEM I A U EE10%
AL -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

4 OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND OTHER 4 HfilwA - Ettlh B REMEE

LOSSES AND IMPAIRMENTS LR R{E
2024 2023
—E-NE TECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Other income Htnle A
Bank interest income RITHEUA 87
Dividend income from listed equity securities IR ANE 5 2 B B A 16
Government grants (Note) B (BsE) 824
Sundry income IR 29
956
Other gains Hitglh g
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BEREEKE
equipment 126
Net unrealised gain on financial assets BRATEGABR EREE L
at FVPL RER W FRE 104
Reversal of impairment loss on loans and FEUCE TR R A SR s R 1 1B
interest receivables, net et -
230
Other losses and impairments H 58 R E
Impairment loss on loans and interest JEUE RN A BB E S 1B F 5
receivables, net (7,038)
Revaluation loss on property, plant and M - WE LR EENBE
equipment (10,752) (2,566)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE - BE ML EEE
equipment (37) -
(10,789) (9,604)
(9,023) (8,418)
Note: During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group successfully applied et BEZTZ=FA=+HIFE =K
for funding support of HK$824,000 from the Employment Support SEXIEHEBEBRAITHREBRMNR
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Government VHMEESRBENENESTH
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The purpose 824,000 T - ZEETHWABER/E
of the funding was to provide financial support to enterprises to FRMMBZE ISR egwiE
retain their employees who would otherwise be made redundant. HIES - BB - AEBNHAL
Under the terms of the grant, the Group was required not to make HRTSEHEYKAEESARZNR
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding MEEANESTLE -

on paying wages to the approved list of the employees.
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5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(@) Finance costs:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interest on bank loans
Interest on lease liabilities

RITERZH S
HEREZFE

[\
[

BRELATES 1R
BEAIEEENEG,(GEA) THISE
(a) BERAK :
2024 2023
—EMMEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
575
81
656

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments

(note 7)):

(b) ETHA(BEESHM (M

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plan

Provision/(reversal of provision) for long
service payments

(c) Other items:

Auditors’ remuneration

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Expense relating to short-term leases

Net foreign exchange loss

7)) :
2024 2023
—EF-MF i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiExT FHBT
e IEREMET 249,886 199,877
TERAE TR IRGT B E R
8,549 7,150
REIBRIS & B8, (BB )
1,491 317)
259,926 206,710
(c) HfwEg :
2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT F&T
% BR R 2 B 838
BEFERA 7,647
WE - BENEETE
3,274
FREEENE 1,894
MHEAHEMRER S 534
GNIE 518 H ER 2

Write-off of property, plant and equipment #1% ~ F/= M =& 4

136 PPS International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 &HZ8BEXRTWFAES
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) HREBERPNBIERE !
loss represents:

2024 2023
—ECYE T =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax  ENEi%{1E — &E F5%
Provision for the year FREE 1,434
Over-provision in respect of prior years BRBRTTENBEEE ®)
1,426
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income  EIfi#i18 — R EAER
Tax
Provision for the year FREE 35
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEBTFERNBERE -
35
Deferred tax (credit)/charge FEERE (ER), R
(note 21(b)) (FEE21(b))
Origination and reversal of temporary R E R RRIR Kl
differences 41
Income tax expense s 1,502
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBFIEH
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended (EZTNEARA=THIEFES
30 June 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the B N5 B B B AR FF N L 5T R B &
estimated assessable profits for the year, except for one AE16.5%( —F =4 : 16.5% )&t
subsidiary which is a qualifying corporation under the two- & B AT - B A
tiered Profits Tax rate regime. AIANGEHMARESEIRTHEE
1&EE -
For this subsidiary, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable Z [t & 7~ 71 89 & 2,000,000 78 7T FE
profits are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining R FIE8.25% (T = = F ¢
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). 8.25% ) WITL REE - Mk T B JE

R A 165% ( B - =4F ¢
16.5% ) YT R EH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 #SRABEzZXRTHAEH(E)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) ZEBEXRPHBIEE @ (8)
loss represents: (continued)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax i B iR AT 2
The subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are subject to the R BEEMAS BRI FANA
PRC Enterprise Income Tax of 25% (2023: 25%) for the year. BRHBEMEMEREB%(ZTE==
F : 25%)5F o
Under the PRC tax law, profits of the Group’s subsidiaries RBERBIFDE - REEF BN ER
in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”) derived since 1 January ([FEMBAR]) 5_7 TNF— ﬁ
2008 is subject to withholding income tax at rates of 5% or —RESNENER D IKE B T
10% upon the distribution of such profits to foreign investors SN B H SR E B M AF]
or companies incorporated in Hong Kong or for other foreign SR E MG IME B E R D RIETE5%
investors, respectively. 0% TEHIFTISHL
At 30 June 2024 and 2023, no deferred tax liabilities have R-CZ_WNER-T_=F A=+
been recognised in respect of tax that would be payable on A WEEE-_TTENF—H—HE
the unremitted profits of the PRC subsidiaries derived since 1 A YR B BB A B R BB S F ‘JJEH%R
January 2008 as the Company is in a position to control the HERELCHIEESE  REAERA
dividend policies of the PRC subsidiaries and no distribution A AR B B A 7%1&%&&?&&%
of such profits is expected to be declared from the PRC B BB AT AR A RARKE IR
subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. DEERET) -
Income tax from other tax jurisdictions Rt H% e L ERFTEH
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands BEFASHEMEBERRES([H
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not BHEBRES DRANERG - RNEE
subject to any income tax in respective tax jurisdictions. RN ZE e AR SRS
i o
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and (b) BRERABEFENMEHRAXE
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: SIEFBENEER -
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Loss before taxation BRELAT A (3,565) (3,797)
Notional tax credit on loss before taxation KFiAIE BN BERER R -
at Hong Kong statutory tax rate BEBETHETE (588) (626)
Tax effect of non-taxable income AR IA T S o & (1,141) (142)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR MR 2 3,218 1,924
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIER %iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂ’]
recognised Mg 280 7
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses Byl %ﬁﬁﬂi?%ﬁﬁ@ﬁi‘%iﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂ
previously not recognised M2 = (168)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ HB A & TR RH)F/ 2 (407) 680
Over-provision in respect of prior years, B RBEFE R BEERE T
net (2) (8)
Tax concession HIGEE (165) (165)
Income tax expense FTiSBiR X 1,195 1,502
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T517R)

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

7 EEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
and the GEM Listing Rules are as follows:

RIBEE B N aHEDIFE383(1) 15

RAEJ(WE

EENmER)RUIE28RGEM LT
A ERMESREWT :

Contributions to
Salaries, allowance and Discretionary defined contribution
Fees benefits in kind bonuses retirement plan Total
ik #e ZUREDEA BiEAL ERHTRKGT RN @t
2024 2003 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2028 2024 2028
ZZoME CECCF ZBOME CECCF ZBCME CTCCE CRCME CRC-F CRCME ST
Note HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000
i3 T Tén Tin Tén Fin Tt Tén T Tén T
Present directors RftgEs
Executive directors gz
M. Yu Shaoheng (Chaiman 48354 (T 8%
and Chief Executive Officer) TR, 1,205 702 2,042
Mr. Lai Tin Ming BREEL 138 1,068 2,733
Independent non-executive  BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Kwong Tsz Ching, Jack ~ BF#8% 4 120 - 120
M. Meng Enh AEEEE 120 - 120
Mr. Wang Cui T#E 1 120 - 120
Mr. Ni Fuhua fEEEs 2 - - -
1,703 1,770 1,070 5,135

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, no director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments. No emoluments were paid by
the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Notes:

1. Mr. Wang Cui resigned on 30 June 2024.

2. The Group announced that with effective from 30 June 2024, Mr. Ni
Fuhua has been appointed as an independent non-executive director.

REEZZT-NFER_FT_=F A=+
HItFE  WEEERESEERETR
e o NEBEBERARREE L EM
B - YEAIMAKRINARSEEE ) IEE
ERBERE -

G
1. EREERCBoMEAASHBRME -

2. AEESHE-_T_PUFENA=1+HIE
REELECERITABIENTES -
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8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2023:
three) individuals are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REFAL

h#
[k

EEaFATH ME(ZEZ=F:

R

Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe  LEKEAMBET
Discretionary bonuses EISTEAL
Contributions to defined contribution TERHIGE ARG MHER

retirement plan

VBEE - EHMAWE7EE - BE
Hih=F(ZZT =% =&) ATHFH
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHBT
1,396
335
58
1,789

The emoluments of the other three (2023: three) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following band:

EREM=%2(ZT_=F: ZR)K=%
ATEF BRI T EE -

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A AH

HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000 T T £ 1,000,000/ 7T

. I

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the individuals with highest
emoluments of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

9 LOSS PER SHARE 9

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$4,396,000 (2023:
HK$4,997,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 540,000,000 (2023: 540,000,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 30 June 2024
and 2023 is the same as the basic loss per share as the
Company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares
during the respective years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10 Y%  BMERRZE
Equipment
Land and Furniture and Motor Computer Leasehold
buildings ~ and fixtures machinery vehicles equipment  improvements Total
1HREE  GAREE  REREE byt BBy HEXE szt

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
TR TR TEL TAT TAL TAT TAL

Cost or valuation HATEE
At 1 July 2022 R-F__%tA-A 58,300 874 13,500 12975 25 2,096 88,087
Addtions KE - 2 6 537 4 - 1516
Revaluation loss L (2,566) - - - - - (2,566)
Less; glimination of accumulated 51 - 23T EH
depreciation (1334) - - - - - (1334)
Disposal e - - (430) (42 - - (852)
Exchange realignment EXBE - - (1) (54) @) - (68)
£ 30 June 2023 S
RA=1HH 54,400 903 14,005 13,036 253 2,096 84,783
Representing b
Cost KA - 903 14,095 13,036 253 2096 30,383
Valuation f4fE 54,400 - - - - - 54,400
54,400 903 14,005 13,036 253 2,096 84,783
A1 July 2023 AZEC=E+ -8 54,400 903 14,005 13,036 253 2096 84,783
Addtions HE - 33 1,100 - - - 1133
Revaluation loss L (10,752) - - - - - (10,752)
Less: elimination of accumulated B - 2atrEHE
depreciation (1,248 - - - - - (1,248
Witten off s - (1) (231) - - - (232)
Disposals e - 9 (107) - - - (136)
Exchange realignment EXBE - - {17) ) - - (20)
730 June 2024 i d
A=t 42,400 906 14,840 13,083 253 2,096 73,508
Representing b
Cost KA - 96 14,840 13,083 253 2,096 31,128
Valuation e 42400 - - - - - 42,400
42,400 906 14,840 13,083 253 2,096 73,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RRM

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10 ¥¥ - BENKRXE(E)

(CONTINUED)
Equipment
Land and Furniture and Motor Computer Leasehold
buildings  and fixtures machinery vehicles equipment  improvements Total
1#EEF  BAREE  REREE AE Bl HERE gt

HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
ThRL TERL T TiEL T T T

Accumulated depreciation ZithE

At 1 July 2022 R-B-—£+A-0 - 693 9,059 12,031 204 1220 23,207
Charge for the year EER 1334 108 994 138 39 3t 3274
Elimination on revaluation B (1,334 - - - - - (1,334)
Disposals e - - (16) (422 - - (438)
Exchange realignment B A% - - @ (14 @ - 18)
At 30 June 2023 and RIZZZ55A
1July 2023 “tRR-Z-=fF

+A-H - 801 10,035 12,083 241 1581 24,691
Charge for the year EER 1248 % 1063 3% 8 3t 3064
Elimination on revaluation EftHH (1,248) - - - - - (1,248)
Witten off ik - (1) (195) - - - (196)
Disposals HE - [22) (49) - - - )
Exchange realignment B A% - - - @ - - ]
At 30 June 2024 R-Z-ME

~B=tH - 804 10,854 12,389 249 1942 26,038
Carrying amount FEE
At 30 June 2024 RZE-ME

~B=tH 42,400 102 3986 644 4 154 47,090
A 30 June 2023 R-ZE-=f£

~B=tH 54,400 102 4060 1,003 12 515 60,002

The land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong and are held
under a medium-term lease.

The fair value of the Group’s land and buildings, measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, is categorised
into Level 3 fair value measurement within the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”.

The fair value of the investment properties as at 30 June 2024 and
2023 is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement, which uses
significant unobservable inputs (i.e. inputs not derived from market
data).

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there were no
transfers into or out of Level 3 or any other level. The Group’s policy is
to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

10 ¥% - BWERZE(E)

The fair values of the Group’s land and buildings at 30 June 2024
and 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation by Royson
Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group, and are determined using the
market approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square foot basis using market data which
is publicly available and have been adjusted for the comparable
properties such as properties size, characteristics and location.

AEBLTHWEREFR_ZE_NMFR_-F
TEEXRNAZTHEZAFEDRBEAE
EWEREE B A EREEGHEMER
FHEREABRARMEZHETE - WL
2ERNFANESTHEIEERSUEF IR
BIRAREZ AR METHEEER
BIRATISAEE  WERAELRYE
(IEXRN - BRI E)EH A -

Relationship of
Significant unobservable
Valuation technique unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
TOERAAHEE
BRI EXFUBERARE TIERAARENEE NTEHEE
2024 2023
ZBIME - S 3
Office premises Direct comparison Estimated unit rates per Range from approximately Range from approximately - Increase in the estimated
approach square feet, taking into HK$9,000 to HK$11,000 to unit rates per square
account the location of HK$15,000 per sa.ft. HK$17,000 per sa.ft. feet would increase the
the property fair value of the office
premises, and vice
versa.
i/NE EENEA GYAROEFELER - BTARNTH000  HFARNTN1000 SFAREHEMLERL
BERAMENMLE AL E15,0007T BTLE17,0008T SE MR I A
MRTE - RZTA °
Car parking spaces Direct comparison Estimated unit rates, taking ~ Range from approximately - Range from approximately - Increase in the transaction
approach into account the location ~ HK$1,922,000 to HK$2,160,000 to price would increase
of the property HK$2,000,000 HK$2,192,000 the fair value of the car
parking spaces, and
vice versa.
P& BRI T EMER  BEEZY NT01,92200087E  NT42,16000087E RHERMENERER
RORE 2,000,000/ 2,192,000/ BENATE  R2

Had they been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation,
the carrying amount would have been HK$59,666,000 (2023:
HK$61,341,000).

At 30 June 2024, the Group had pledged its land and buildings
with carrying amount of HK$42,400,000 (2023: HK$54,400,000)
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 19) and
performance bonds issued (note 29(a)).

Tok o

EERERARBEFITENER  RAE
% % 59,666,000 7T ( =& — = £
61,341,000 7T) ©

MRZBE-_MENA=1H  KNEBEDIEMR
HBRME{E A42,400,0008 T(ZE =4 :
54,400,000/ 70) B £ R AZF - DUE(R
BRI AREERIRITRVE (FIFE19) RT3 H
KB AIRTE (FiI5E29(a)) ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )
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11 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 11 EAREE
HK$’'000
T

Cost AR AN
At 1 July 2022 RZE_—_F+H—H 3,971
AddlthﬂS //J\\E 2,041
Written off Ji 58 (1,650)
Exchange adjustment b H % (72)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RZEZ=F A=TARZZT_=F+HF—H 4,290
AddlthﬂS //J\\E 1 ,274
Written off g (1,769)
Exchange adjustment RIS (5)
At 30 June 2024 RZEZOFEA=1H 3,790
Accumulated depreciation ZIHE
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+A—H 1,963
Charge for the year FEYH 1,894
Written off iz (1,650)
Exchange adjustments R (32)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RZBEZ=FA=1TRAEK=ZFT=_=F+H—H 2,175
Charge for the year EFQS‘Z& 1,851
Written off Bz (1,769)
Exchange adjustments [E o K (4)
At 30 June 2024 RZEZMERA=1H 2,253
Carrying amount BRTEE
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZFEA=1H 1,537
At 30 June 2023 RZZEZ=FA=+H 2,115

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as its
office premises and warehouse through tenancy agreements.
The leases run for a period of 2 to 4 years (2023: 2 to 4 years), at
the end of period, all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases

includes variable lease payments.

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows
comprise cash outflow for leases of HK$924,000 and HK$1,974,000
(2023: HK$534,000 and HK$2,000,000) in operating and financing

activities respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

12 TRADE RECEIVABLES 12 EFZRWFIA
2024 2023
—E@OEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$ OOO
Trade receivables, net of nil loss allowance B SEWGKIE © NGB ZEEEE 94,366 86,739
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRER DT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis E’\iﬁiﬁﬂﬂi BB E R (R E
of trade receivables, based on the invoice date (or date of REAH UREERE)ZINES
revenue recognition, if earlier), is as follows: %H&%ﬂlﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ LU
2024 2023
—B-EF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0 - 30 days 0%30H 58,270
31 - 60 days 31£260H 16,501
61 — 90 days 61290H 10,282
Over 90 days B0 H 1,686
86,739
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note BREREBEERRZE—FF15E
25(a). A EE25(0) ©

13 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 13 ¢ r AREREMEWRFIE
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
—E-EF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FiBT
Deposits (note (a)) & (H5E@) 2,946
Prepayments FEFRIE 909
Other receivables Eﬁﬁlﬁ”ﬁl 3,645
7,500
All of the Group’s deposits, prepayments and other receivables, & TI1241,879,0008 L ( —E - =4 :
apart from certain deposits of HK$1,879,000 (2023: HK$1,401,000), 1,401,000 7C) 50 » ANEE 2 HiZs - 78
are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one NEEREERIEESRS SN —FNA
year. W Bl sk iR RS o
(a) Deposits (a) &<
The Group has tendered for certain environmental services E’\\:_\, “WHFEASA=TH AEEE
contracts and deposited sums of HK$2,082,000 (2023: BIEZAETERERERRIEA Y U itiE
HK$1,933,000) as tender deposits at 30 June 2024. The i%@%@ 082 ooo,%m(_f— F
tender deposits are interest-free and recoverable at the end of 1,933,000/575)?@%&7(7? 7% ° 7iF
the tender. Be T E  BERBELRETIK

g o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA#7TFII7R)

14 LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

The Group’s loans and interest receivables arise from the money
lending business of providing loans in Hong Kong and the PRC by
the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding loans and interest
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 BERERKFE

KRB 2 REER LSRR 2 EW
BREANEERTEREHRERZHESE
BRES - ARE K REEREER
KA B HEFFEARIES - ARERDEER
b o BHIREREREETMEE -

2024 2023
b £:3 —Bo=E
Loan Interest Loan Interest
portion portion Total portion portion Total
ERHD FSHD @t BREn FEHD @it

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TEn

Secured loans by mortgage  SAIRIE(ELIE Y
BRER 7,500 105
Personal guaranteed loans ~ EIAERER 44,200 1,844

Unsecured loans BEAER 32,907 1,624

84,607 3,573
Less: loss allowance W BERE (49,478) (2,098)

35,129 1,475

Less: current portion included i : ENERZED A

under current assets MEEE (23,347) (1,475)
Amounts due after 1 year —EHNEEIES
or above included under SEHAERD
non-current assets BE
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HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TER TAL TR TAL

7,605 6,500 105 6,605
46,044 60,535 3,897 64,432
34,531 21,207 1,229 22,436

88,180 88,242 5,231 93,473
(51,576) (61,211) (3,901) (65,112)

36,604 37,081 1,330 38,361

(24,822) (37,031) (1,330 (38,361)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

14 LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 14 EWEZEFE(E&E)
(CONTINUED)

The net exposure of the Group’s loans and interest receivables to AEBHEKREFR R 2R FERE
their contractual maturity dates are as follows: WEIEFEMT ¢
2024 2023
—E-NE S
Loan Interest Loan Interest
portion portion Total portion portion Total
ERHS )R @it BRE FEHS @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#n TR TiEn FET T T
Within 1 year —ER 21,012 1,330 22,342
More than 1 year but —FRARER
within 2 years 16,019 - 16,019
More than 2 years but WERBRER
within 5 years - - -
37,031 1,330 38,361
Loans receivable are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 6.00% JE U E 3% F 7 97 F6.00% = 24.00%
to 24.00% (2023: 6.00% to 22.00%) per annum and repayable on ZT = 1 8.00%%E22.00%)5H8 I
maturity under the terms of contractual agreements or on demand RS BEIRES D G0 B H B gz
in writing by the Group. EMEREE -
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRER DT
Ageing analysis is prepared based on contractual due dates: BREOTIRBEE DB RE
2024 2023
ZBIRF S
Loan Interest Loan Interest
portion portion Total ‘ portion portion Total
EREa eSS @5t ER#HH ME#S Bt

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$O000
TER TER TER TAT TAT TET

Current (not past due) EEE S i) 35,423 1,479 36,902 27,706 1,334 29,040
Less than 1 month past due ~ @E P —1E A - - - - - -
Tto12months pastdue ~ BHE—Z+={AA 4,983 249 5,232 16,335 2,052 18,387
More than 12 months afEET—EA

past due 44,201 1,845 46,046 44,201 1,845 46,046
Less: loss allowance wc EERE (49,478) (2,008) (51,576) (51,211) (3,901) (55,112)

35,129 1,475 36,604 37,031 1,330 38,361

The credit quality of loans and interest receivables has JEWESR RN ENEEE=Z2ZEHH
been assessed by reference to historical information about RO T BEERMENE -
counterparty default rates. Further details on the Group’s credit ERREBEEEBOR 2 E—FFFIEH
policy are set out in note 25(a). R EE25(0) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA#7TFII7R)

14 LOANS AND

INTEREST RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 BYRERKFE (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Analysed by credit quality (b) REEERZSM
2024 2023
—E-mE “E-ZF
Loan Interest Loan Interest
portion portion Total portion portion Total
EXIH2 FEH2 ast BEREHS MEHS EoH)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET TEx FET FEL TEL
Loans receivables that are EEEHEZ
not credit-impaired EWRER
Current (not past due) BN (K@) 27,706 1,334 29,040
Less than 1 month past due A HA—{E A - - -
1 to 12 months past due BE-=+=f@A 16,335 2,052 18,387
Less: loss alowance W BiEEE (7,010) (2,056) (9,066)
37,031 1,330 38,361
Loans receivables that are =& H{EZfER
credit-impaired EX
Current (not past due) BH(kaH) - - -
Less than 1 month past due A HA—{E A - = - - -
1to 12 months past due aY—=1+-1@A 4,983 5,232 - - -
More than 12 months past ~ #Hi#iE+ — 1A A
due 44,201 1,845 46,046 44,201 1,845 46,046
Less: loss allowance B BiEEE (49,184) (2,094) (51,278) (44,201) (1,845) (46,046)
37,031 1,330 38,361
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

15 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 15 RAFEFABRZEREE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FA&T
Listed equity securities at fair value in BATERE BB EHRAE
Hong Kong FH 368
The fair values of listed equity securities are determined based on ETRARE S 2 A FERR RS BIREAZ
the quoted market closing price available on the Stock Exchange at FrErRm S mEEE °

the end of the reporting period.

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 16 B&RBEEZEY - ZRHIBIT

BANK DEPOSITS AND OTHER CASH FLOW EFREHEMASREER
INFORMATION
(@) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits @ BeMRSZEVERZRHBITTIR
comprise cash at banks and on hand: BRERITEFRERS :
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFET
Deposits with banks RITER 5,889 278
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHEIRS 103,174 90,313
109,063 90,591
Restricted bank deposits (note) SRR HIERTTIE R (HIRE) (5,889) 278)
Cash and cash equivalents in the REMBMRRAR 2R SR
consolidated statement of financial ReEEY
position 103,174 90,313
Note: The restricted bank deposits represent cash held at banks as Mizk : ZRFIRITFRIENIRITRBH
security for performance bonds issued for due performance RE  ERZREBITETERRRK
under several environmental and cleaning service contracts BRREAHNEBLNBORE
(see note 29(a)). FER(RHIE29(@)) °

HBRZERARIRE Fi 2024 149




e MR M
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS AND OTHER CASH FLOW

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 RERBEEEY - SRHIBIT
FREEMRSREER (F)

b) TERFAAEERELZHAELNE
BEH  BREASNIFRSEH - @
BRPMELNABREREREN
ARBREREENAEBRSRER
EXRADBARERDFELRSR

from financing activities. EMAEE -
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
|ITEN HEAE “aEt
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FAET
(note 19) (note 20)
(M45E19) (FM45E20)
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+H—H 21,369 2,064 23,433
Changes from financing REESREEE .
cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid &S &M &R EAE D - (1,919) (1,919
Interest element of lease rentals paid T THERSHF 2D - 81) 81)
Interest paid BRFE (575) - (575)
Repayment of bank loans BEIBITER (1,016) - (1,016)
(1,591) (2,000) (3,591)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 - (40) (40)
Other changes: Hih# e :
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) M BRI (FEE5(0) 575 81 656
New lease entered FRIEE - 2,041 2,041
575 2,122 2,697
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 R=-Z=-=FxA=+H
—E-_=%+tA—H 20,353 2,146 22,499
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T517R)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 16 BRE&REAELZEEY - ZRHIRIT

BANK DEPOSITS AND OTHER CASH FLOW ERREMBESHREER (E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(b) (continued) o) (&)
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
RITER HEERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
(note 19) (note 20)

(MEE19) (Bf=£20)

Changes from financing MEREESREEE -
cash flows:

Capital element of lease rentals paid B ISR EHE KL D - (1,845) (1,845)

Interest element of lease rentals paid 2N HEFH 4 HF S 2D - (129) (129)

Interest paid BEAFE (689) - (689)

Repayment of bank loans BEBITER (987) - (987)
(1,676) (1,974) (3,650)

Other changes: Hin# g :

Interest expenses (note 5(a)) B (F15E5@))

New lease entered FEIME

At 30 June 2024 R-ZB-WEXA=TH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 TRADE PAYABLES 17 ESENARIE

2024
—ECNEF
HK$’000
FExT

Trade payables = AN

2023
T
HK$’000
TET

-5!’ 23,982

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2024
—E-mE
HK$’000
TR

0 - 30 days 0&30H

31 - 60 days 31E60H
61 - 90 days 61£290H
Over 90 days @0 H

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHET

22,230
991
738

23

23,982

18 ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER 18 EFEHR - BEWiZE R HEME(S

PAYABLES FIE
2024
—E-MF
HK$’000
FER
Accrued salaries ERtE e
Provision for gratuity XM EE
Provision for LSP KRR S
Provision for untaken leave RIZEE H R B
Provision for claims (note 29(b)) RIEEE (RHIFE29(0))
Other accruals Hibpest &R
Deposits received BlES
Other payables = ANE e

All accruals, deposits received and other payables are expected to
be settled or recognised as income within one year or repayable on
demand.
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2023
—EC=F
HK$'000
FHET

17,634

3,513
5,488
4,884
2,327
190
297

34,333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

19

20

BANK LOANS

The bank loans are repayable on demand and the maturity of bank
loans, based on the schedule payment dates set out in the loan
agreements, is as follows:

19

IRITEXR

RITERBEEREE  BREERIBZE
HoFrENRBEE - RITERZ BB
T

2024 2023
—EogE ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT

Within 1 year —FR

After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERFA
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBRFNA
More than 5 years AF L

1,016
1,050
3,354
14,933

20,353

Details on the interest rate profile of the Group are set out in note
25(c).

The bank loans were secured by the Group’s land and buildings
with a carrying amount of HK$42,400,000 (2023: HK$54,400,000)
and corporate guarantees from the Company and a subsidiary.

LEASE LIABILITIES

At 30 June 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

20

ARERE 2 MR R IEH N RE25(C) °

IRITE AR S B BREE 542,400,000
JL(ZZT = =4F : 54,400,000/ 7T ) 2 1l
MEFURRRRR—ENBRARMIEZ
RNEERIEER -

HEEE

RZE-WEXA=1TH EEEHES
BFwT

Within 1 year —FA
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMER
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBERFR

2024 2023
—EINEFE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
1,327

819

2,146
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—° BRE U BHRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

21 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 21
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

mEMBRR RN FREH

(a) HFEMBAR KRB

financial position presents:

2024 2023
—E_NE TECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFBHR
Provision for the year (note 6(a)) FNEHE (FEE6() (1,196) (1,434)
Balance of profits tax provision relating to 81k 4 & ST B 45 &4
prior years (234) (726)
(1,430) (2,160)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEIEREH
Provision for the year (note 6(a)) F B (F15E6(a) (70) (35)
Provisional tax paid BT E 39 22
(31) (13)
(1,461) (2,173)
Represented by: ¥
Current tax payable FE BN EATR I8
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BABNEB 2,160
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — R EEFTSH 13
2,173
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e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

21

INCOME TAX

IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised

(c)

21 ZEMBRRERABFEH (E)

(b) ERRBELEHREARS

The component of deferred tax liabilities recognised in FRREGRE MR R P REREIET
the consolidated statement of financial position and the HIE B EHAEMKE D REFIT -
movements during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
allowance
in excess of
the related
depreciation
of property, Other
plant and temporary
equipment differences Total
Y -
WERBE
FEBATE H e
HITERE =8 st
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FExT FERT
At 1 July 2022 R-ZZE-—F+A—H 503 71 574
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (5t A),/HIk Bz
(note 6(a) (MiEt6(a)) (5) 46 4
Exchange realignment [ Y, A% - () ©)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RZZEZ=FA=1TH
E_ZE_=%+H—H 498 112 610
Credited to profit or loss (note 6(a)) &t A8z (H5E6(a)) (21) (48) (69)
Exchange realignment [ 3 % - M M
At 30 June 2024 R-E_WMFNA=1H 477 63 540
Deferred tax assets/liabilities not recognised (c) KRERELHELEE &fF

At 30 June 2024, the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
HK$5,948,000 (2023: HK$4,759,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits, against which the assets can be utilised,
will be available in any relevant tax jurisdiction or entity. Of
the total tax losses, HK$1,286,000 (2023: HK$349,000) will
expire within 5 years under the current tax legislation. Other
unrecognised temporary differences are not material.

R-Z-_WNFEA=+H" R %E
Eﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%@&%ﬁ?ﬁ

BEA R R ER B E M 7]

BHE

F WMAEBTERRFTHEE
1H#95,948,0008 T (T =F :

EHHERBMRAR Gk 2024

4,759,000/ 70 ) lERIEEFI BB EE o
FRIEESB®@EEF - 1,286,000 L(=
T~ =4 : 349,00058 7T ) SR IE I
IBERAFNER - EMAERY
REEREW AEAK -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

22 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

(@) Retirement benefits scheme

156

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, certain subsidiaries of the Group and
the eligible employees are each required to make monthly
mandatory contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately,
there is no forfeited contributions. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement schemes is to pay the
ongoing contributions required by the schemes.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC also participate in
defined contribution retirement schemes covering its full-
time PRC employees. The schemes are administered by the
relevant government authorities in the PRC. The Group and
the PRC employees are required to make contributions based
on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as
stipulated under the requirements in the PRC and the relevant
government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss of HK$8,549,000 (2023: HK$7,150,000) for the
year ended 30 June 2024 represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plans.
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(a)

RAKBRGE

AEERBELRHINEAEFT G
BIRRIER B REED FDEE EREE
Rz EBRIBEE TS - BIRERT
EIRHBYXEATE 2 ERHFUR
RETEl - RIFBVEEFTE - AKEE
THEBARKEEREESAARKR
HMERTESE EIRGITR TATREZ R
BHBUWA Z5%MatEIVEH#50
HeH R EBR A% A #ERA Y A30,000/8
7t ° [T EIEL Z KA R E - A
SEMER WM - REREFURIKGT
M — B IR EIMH O E

K -

REERTEZHBAR T REPE
2RER2BERHFURAKE - %
FrtE T EEERARERE - K
SELTEEBBIETBEBRTEME
ZBRAFERRNZET AL
o MR RS AEA R
R AR 2R A R BRENK
BEZEAKBMEL -

¥8,549,000 L (=& = = F :
7,150,000/870) BAEE L8 A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAJ& 725117 )

22 BBREERN(E)
(b) RIBRBEHRE

22 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
(b) Provision for LSP

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to long service payments
in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
under certain circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious
misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age
of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term
and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable
is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary
(capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by
the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
contributions to MPF scheme (see note 22(a)), with an overall
cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its
LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right
of an employer to reduce its long service payment and
severance payment payable to a Hong Kong employee by
drawing on its MPF scheme (also known as the “offsetting
mechanism”). The Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into effect from the
Transition Date. Separately, the Government is also expected
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of
the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
under MPF scheme (irrespective of the contributions made
before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in
respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date.
However, where an employee’s employment commenced
before the Transition Date, the employer can continue to use
the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect
of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date.

REEBEFBEY 2B EZLH
FHAEERETETEATERER
RERB® - ZFBEARIEREEE
ETETANE 8 LANY R A i 7
1B - % 1B B A6557 kLA Y F #e B
T SEFERENEREFHEERE
TTEE - REARGSEMNZKIEN
CRENSERENELET2(LRA
22,5007 70) M RFS FEIEEE - B2
REERPRESF S (R FE22())
HAEENEAETEFNSE &
52 PR AT EE390,000/%87T - H
A ANEBWETAELNE S THE
DNETTERBRESEME -

RZBEZZFXA BITREHRAM
UBETIER) - BEREBUEETBR
FIF@ESTEIREERESES
Stz REREE MERB 2 A THE
FICTHE A HEIEHH ) - BTHEERE
WS ETIE DI N B B HA A8 - 1t
N BUFERT R EEEUEZ A &1
HEBET I BIMEE -

AN - —BEURE MG AR - B
TREREAIR B Hoafa st 8T o
Bl R R E S (MmN B % B
Hiz Al ~ B HZRIFHES) - A
fORE B 88K A B iR < KR
B& o AR - HEENEE AR
' BErAEER Dt REERIA
REBENEBEZE L2 RS2 =
RIS+ Mo - BLEE A BRTZ RS
meE » KRGS HEREBSNREEZ
WX BRI AR REEZ A 2R
BERAE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

22 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 22 BEREER(E)
(b) Provision for LSP (continued) (b) RHABRIEEEE(E)
The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism A FE2.15()FTH R - NEEE 5
as disclosed in note 2.15(ji) and its abolition did not have a WM EETTEEE - BEEUET
material impact on the Group’s result and financial position. SHASBRNEERT R AEESE

=48
N7 K

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance REECEFEUETEM)EZFER
primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability with respect to Hong SEELEEECHEBERERBSE
Kong employees. £

23 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 23 LUEZEEURGAEBRARX

TRANSACTIONS 7

The Company conditionally operates a share option scheme (“Share AARBGMART —IEERERT 2 (B
Option Scheme”) to attracting, retaining and rewarding the eligible EETED - LARS| - BEEREREEERA
persons and to provide the eligible persons an incentive or reward TRAGHAEEFELERNGERAT
for their contribution to the Group and by enabling such persons’ IRERE S RE A NFEEZEATHER
contribution to further advance the interests of the Group. The Share E—TRANEENFE o BRETEIR
Option Scheme was adopted on 28 May 2013 and shall be valid ZE—=FRAZHN\HERR - WHF
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the date MAERRFTTFAER - ERBTEESR
of adoption, after which period no further options will be offered or RS ERE - BXERE ST
granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain WEEREARETS - BRERT SR 5
in full force and effect in all other respects with respect to options A AL T E S T B8 R AERK -

granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme.

The eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme include directors, BRETENEEBATREES - &0
consultants or advisers and any other person who has contributed AERE R EEAREEEL BRI AR E
to the Group. AL e

No share option under Share Option Scheme was granted or REEZZ=FA=1THLEFE &
outstanding during the year ended 30 June 2023. The Share Option IS e 1 281 I fE 45 HE sl e AR AT 50 2 B AR o
Scheme expired on 27 May 2023 and there was no renewal or new ERETEN S =FAA-+tHE
scheme operating by the Company thereafter. W BARBIMEN EEENE AT

E
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24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(a) Share capital

(i) Authorised and issued share capital

24 BARR#E
(a) BA

() ZEREBRITRA

Number of
shares Amount
RGEE X}
‘000 HK$’000
T FAT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares LB
At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023, RZEBE-_—_FtA—1H "
1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024 of —E-=FA=+8"
HK$0.01 each “E-=F+HA—BK
—E-OFARA=1H
BIREE0.017 T 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
Ordinary shares TR
At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023, R-ZE-_—_F+H—H8-
1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024 of —E-=FA=+H"
HK$0.01 each ZE=FEA—HRK
—ECZEARA=TH
BIREE0.01/ETT 540,000 5,400
EHZERERAT  Fik 2024 159
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 725117 )

24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

160

M

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall in the ordinary course of business.

Other reserve

The amount represents the difference between the
nominal amount of shares issued by the Company and
the aggregate amount of share capital of subsidiaries
acquired under common control pursuant to the
group reorganisation in preparation of the listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 17
June 2018.

Contribution surplus

The amount represents the amounts due to shareholders
capitalised before the listing of the Company’s shares on
GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with accounting policy set out in note 2.20.

The PRC statutory reserve

Pursuant to the laws and regulations governing the PRC
enterprises, PRC subsidiaries of the Group are required
to allocate at least 10% of its after-tax profit but before
dividend distribution to the statutory reserve until the
reserve has reached 50% of their registered capital. The
statutory reserve can only be used, upon approval by
the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or
increase capital. The appropriation for the year ended 30
June 2024 amounted to HK$87,000 (2023: HK$238,000).
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24 EXRRHEE)
(b) REZHERRAE

M

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

B =E

BERAEREEMIFE2ERT
& RRRNRGBEERNE
SAHDIRTFARRIRE
EEEESKBREZAE - A
AEIBRMEEREERBR

REIZIEIERS

Hittf#fe

ZEBERARBEETRMNE
EEERESEFHAAR RN
R-E-—=FR AttAEH
ZAGEM Em METTH R EE
AR W B L TR 22 I PR B 12 B O B
RBFR 2 FHZERR -

A ZER
44 X

% RN AR BB B X2
PTGEM LT A & # 5t & AN H 8
FBRFRR -

ER#E

R AR ERERINEBE
BHREAMEEZMABERE
B e MERIEME220ME 2
BRTBRERE

B EE e

RIBEHE P BB ERER KL
B AEEMTEKBARZA
BB EEN (ENBRKRE S
RAT) B 10% D B B3R E
#H BEEZFEEEREAMRE
AN50% o 4L MBI 1R
ETEREETBAREEZTE
BHRIEMER - HE_T—

FRNA=Z+THLEEEZER
B87,0008 T(Z T =4 :
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24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

24 EXRRFE(E)

Capital management (c) EXRERE
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to AEEETERAEENTEBEZAR
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, [EAREEEERECENEN B8
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders KEREEKFEARBEBALAGEE
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing services FRAERRE @ #E AR REH
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access KR E AR AR E R A2 o
to finance at a reasonable cost.
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages AEBEGTHERREEERE
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher o CRERELR(TEHERS
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels BRUKF) B R AT & AR SR 3
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by P RRERRTFE - WIREEHES
a sound capital position, and makes adjustments as to the B ARE ARG -
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of net debt, AEENEAREETZRERSFEAE
which include bank loans, and lease liabilities, and equity B PREBRITERREERE UK
attributable to owners of the Company. The Group considers RAREB ANEGER - AEBZE
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of BN o B35 FR A A KB R Y @B DA
capital to monitor its capital structure on the basis of a gearing LB R R BTG RN - &It
ratio. The ratio is expressed by as a percentage of total debts KAMEBRERAERBENE ST
over the total equity. The Group’s overall strategy remains HE - REE_TE-NER T -
unchanged during the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023. FRA=ZTHIEFE  REEER
RO MR o
The gearing ratios at 30 June 2024 and 2023 are as follows: RZBZMFER =T _=F A=+
HRBELENAT
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Total debts B4R 20,941 22,499
Equity attributable to owners of the RARIEE AEEER
Company 193,838 199,298
Gearing ratio BELE 10.80% 11.29%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to RRR R EAERM B ARG TRINR
externally imposed capital requirements. MEDNHY E 2R TE PR ]
Distributability of reserves (d) 2ikfEE

At 30 June 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to owners of the Company was HK$95,315,000
(2023: HK$97,213,000).

EHHERBMRAR Gk 2024

R-ZZE-_WMFA=+8 o
DIRTFARBEEANEHERER
£95,315,0008 L (Z & = = 4F :
97,213,000/ 7¢) °
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 2R T HEZSREREERAF

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS =l

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks and equity AEEEEFERBEFPELEEE  "H
price risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. BEd o ME - BEBEREERRERR - RE
The Group’s exposure to risks and the financial risk management 2 E g aEE A RE AN ERRE R
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are SRR EIRECR R EAIEGR T .

described below.

(@) Credit risk (a) EER
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on EERRIERHF A REBITHEY
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the BEEMEH A EESRETBEEE R
Group. % o
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and rEEZEERREFERAR LR
cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade and other LEEY  XBHBRTER  BHR
receivables and loans and interest receivables. The maximum E A EUWRIEA R E R R FE
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount HEERRZEaAEEASSME
of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of FE\??SEM‘%#R%%ZEEE@ &
financial position. The Group does not provide any guarantees EIRIZE 27 eS T?Eﬂﬂ%ﬁ@l$¢ EEERE
which would expose the Group to credit risk. Management has ERBOER EEERBEER
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks ®WRHEERZFEERRAE
are monitored on an ongoing basis. F o
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash AEEEGBRE RReEFEMRZR
equivalents and restricted bank deposits is limited because the FIRITIF RPTEERNEERREBIR -
counterparties are financial institutions that have sound credit EHF 5 AEERREETIRNSR
ratings. TR o
(i) Trade receivables () EZENE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly rEBZEFER M‘Igﬁﬂ%
by the individual characteristics of each customer. At EP AR E - NS
the end of the reporting period, the Group had a certain BAR - EE)ECTET%JEH&Z/T IH#E%8
concentration of credit risk as 17% (2023: 19%) and RE17T%(ZZE - =4F :19%)
41% (2023: 45%) of the total trade receivables was due RA1%(ZF =% : 45%) 5
from the largest customer and the five largest customers FEBSZAEFRARER
respectively. WAEEBEE T EERREF
D
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all AEBSHBLETSEE
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These BERE 2 % FEITHEREEF
take into account the customer’s past payment history o ZETEFRERPCBAE
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, BIEA A RR 8 & B BT 3k
and take into account information specific to the customer B WEEEFERER A
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in NEEPEEMELEIRIER
which the customer operates. Trade receivables are B ER - BHEBFHIAE K
usually due on presentation of billing. Normally, the Group RHEREZERIEE - —8m
does not obtain collateral from customers. Bl K’E B E MR P EGE
el
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

()

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The Group rebutted the presumption of significant
increase in credit risk and default under ECL model for
trade receivables over 30 days and 90 days past due
respectively and set the criteria for significant increase
in credit risk and default as over 180 days and 360 days
past due respectively based on good repayment records
for those trade debtors having a continuous business
with the Group and the historical settlement pattern for
cleaning service sector in Hong Kong and the PRC. Trade
receivables over 360 days past due, which is considered
to be credit-impaired are assessed for their lifetime
ECLs based on their loss given default with reference to
historical debt collection experience, adjusted by current
and forward-looking factors.

The directors have considered the credit risk of trade
receivables and noted that there was no actual loss nor
significant past due experience over the past 5 years,
including periods of unfavourable economic conditions.
The directors consider the aggregate risks arising from
the possibility of credit loss on trade receivables are not
significant and no loss allowance for credit losses were
recognised as at 30 June 2024 and 2023.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

25 ¢MIACSRAREER QY

B (&)

(@) EERERE)

()

0 — 30 days past due #HI0E30H

31 — 60 days past due #HIB1Z=60H
61 — 90 days past due #EI61Z290H
Over 90 days past due B HAH @O0 H

EHHERBMRAR Gk 2024

EZEYSE (&)

AEBEAER 2 REREE
5 1R L 52 R F B B 3 )
S BB 5 EIEOR N A1
il - R AEENBEEE
BRGRETTRESHEZE
EER Y EEEER  EHLE
SRy SISt T
A 8 R A % P B2 7 4
T -

AEECEOEHREEHER
A TEHEBRORIEBI0A &
0B M E Z WA EER
o MEHRREIR MO KRR - I

IR B AR BB R A XTSI 2R
) B 5 WO TR Y R 47 38 BRR0

B REBMPEBZIRIEITE
MBTEEEN  BEERR
FAE N KB 4 HIZE S R RR
FEABAARIE180H &360H °
WHIB B30 B IR AEE R

BENE S REIE - RIREE
BAOBEE  A2ZRTUREL

B RBRTRAEEREAR
% FHMAEHZETEHEEESE -

EEDEEESERFENE
BERK WEISERNBERF
(BIRBEENFIEEAZER) I
EBEESEREBRRERBIER
ﬂo%%%)*%%%%ﬁﬁ
LB EEBEEBMEEMNE
HKITEk g 118
FEN_E_=ZFXA= ‘f’El]I
EILEEEEEREEEE -

B SRR Rk DT AT

2024 2023
—EMNE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

58,270
16,501
10,282

1,686
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 2R T HEZSREREERAF

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B(E)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EER(E)

(i) Loans and interest receivables (i) FEREFRFE

The Group considers the probability of default upon REBEEEEEB REREK
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been BARREMREREHENE
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis ERRELCESFERELM-
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether G EERREEDEEZL N
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group B AEEBEERRERR
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as BHEBANRREFRERAB
at the end of the reporting period with the risk of default R EORBETLER - R
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available EEAESHEERIIFMER
reasonable and supportive forward looking information. IEER FRIZREEUTIEE

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating; - AEMEEFTAR
- external credit rating (as far as available); and — HNEMEERIR(E) R
- actual or expected significant adverse changes - EB MBIEBERALE
in business, financial or economic conditions that Bl TR S A E R AT
are expected to cause a significant change to the 2 BHBREFIRE
counterparties’ ability to meet its obligations. TEANENHRERE
b o
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Loans and interest receivables (continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s
ECL model is as follows:

Category

&5l

Definition of category

EHRzER

25 ¢MIACSRAREER QY

B (&)

(a) FERR(E)
(i) MEREFRFIE (&)
AEEBEREEBRENKE
MR -

Basis for recognition of ECL provision

BRARBEEERRECEE

Stage 1

=B

Exposures where there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit-impaired
upon origination.

BB KR f:ffﬂli‘*jlﬁizaéi%i‘ﬂuﬂﬁ
EERIELREERENRR

Exposures where there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial

recognition but are not credit-impaired.

%77\6&%’ REER A?E%iﬁu MESE
REERENER

Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset have occurred.

WS HEENMBT RRREREERK
THIFEN—AxZREN  AAHEAR
WAERHREERE -

Portion of the lifetime ECL associated with
the probability of default events occurring
within the next 12 months is recognised.

B A+ = (6 A N BE R N E A
SR MK A TRER S BB S o

Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is
recognised.
WRKATEEEE (IR SR E EFIEREF
H) -

Lifetime expected losses is recognised and
interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost (net of provision) rather than the gross
carrying amount.

WRKATEHEE - WHE BB EHREE
B SR AR (T FEBR AR (B FE A B RR 7 X
STEFBHA -
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 2R T HEZSREREERAF
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (continued)

(a) FERRE)
(i) MEREFRFIE (&)

(i) Loans and interest receivables (continued)

166

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from loans and interest
receivables are set out in note 14.

Loans to the top borrower and top five borrowers
constituted 26% and 83% (2023: 25% and 76%) of the
Group’s loans and interest receivables respectively as at
30 June 2024.

The directors consider that the credit risk arising from the
loans receivable is significantly mitigated by the collaterals
held, if required.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for loans and interest receivables over 90
days past due based on good repayment records for
those loan borrowers having a continuous business with
the Group. They are assessed individually based on
their probability of default and exposure of default with
reference to historical credit loss experience, adjusted by
current and forward-looking factors.
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 ¢TI Ez4REREERAF

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERB: (&)

(i) Loans and interest receivables (continued) (i) EUREFRFE (&)
Movements in the gross amount of loans and interest FEWE SR LT B B8 2 S8
receivables are as follows: N

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—ER EEER B=RR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FET
At 1 July 2022 RZZE-—F+HA—H 61,598 - 46,046 107,644
New loans originated HEEER 4,729 - - 4,729
Transfer R (18,387) 18,387 - -
Repaid during the year FAEER (17,109) - - (17,109)
Exchange realignment i R (1,791) - - (1,791)
At 30 June 2023 and RZEZ=F,A=1+H
1 July 2023 k=F-_=Ft+HA—H 29,040 18,387 46,046 93,473
New loans originated HEEER 15,526 - - 15,526
Transfer PR (5,232) - 5,232 -
Repaid during the year FAEER (2,285) (16,335) - (18,620)
Written-off ! - (2,052) - (2,052)
Exchange realignment DEH R (147) - - (147
At 30 June 2024 NZEZEA=1H 36,902 - 51,278 88,180
By class at 30 June 2024 R-—Z-MFXA=1H
RERES
— Loans receivable —EWER 35,423 - 49,184 84,607
- Interest receivables — R FIE 1,479 - 2,094 3,573
36,902 - 51,278 88,180
By class at 30 June 2023 R=-—ZE=-=FxH=+1+H
RERE D
- Loans receivable —EWE K 27,706 16,335 44,201 88,242
- Interest receivables — WA S 1,334 2,052 1,845 5,231
29,040 18,387 46,046 93,473
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 2R THEZSREREERAF

168

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B(&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EE=Eb(E)
(i) Loans and interest receivables (continued) (i) FEUREFRFE(E)
An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL *W’Ei‘gﬁﬁﬁfﬂgﬂﬁﬁéﬁz """"" E)
allowances is as follows: DT ¢
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BB BERE E=PER @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT FHT
At 1 July 2022 WZE_Z_F+H—H 2,087 - 46,046 48,083
Changes due to financial AR=—ZT=_—F+H—H
instruments recognised Eﬁ?ﬁu ZemIAm
as at 1 July 2022: #g)
— Impairment loss —BRAREEE
recognised 122 8,348 - 8,470
— Impairment loss reversed  — BB EIREEE (1,432) - - (1,432)
~ Transfer — R (484) 484 - -
Exchange realignment I H R 9 - - 9)
At 30 June 2023 and R-B_=%7A=+H
1 July 2023 &_ - =F+A—H 234 8,832 46,046 55,112
Change due to financial AT =%+H—H
instruments recognised ERRAZEMIAM
as at 1 July 2023: g3
— Impairment loss —BRAREEE
recognised 82 - - 82
— Impairment loss reversed  — BB EIREEE ) (6,780) - (6,782)
— Transfer — B (55) - 55 -
— Impact of year ended —FRERE 2 E
ECLs of exposure FeEis b X
transferred between BHEEEED
stages during the year o2 - - 5,193 5,193
- Written-off —8H - (2,052) - (2,052)
Exchange realignment b 5 % 3 - (16) (13)
New loans originated MEEER 36 - - 36
At 30 June 2024 RZZZMERA=1+H 298 - 51,278 51,576
By class at 30 June 2024 R-ZE-_MEAHA=1+H
RERE S
- Loans receivable —EWER 294 - 49,184 49,478
- Interest receivables —FEWFE 4 - 2,094 2,098
298 - 51,278 51,576
Byclass at30 June 2023 R-ZTE-_=%x<A=1H
®RERE S
- Loans receivable —EWER 230 6,780 44,201 51,211
- Interest receivables —EWFE 4 2,052 1,845 3,901
234 8,832 46,046 55,112

No significant changes to estimation techniques or
assumptions were made during the reporting period.
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

(iiij) Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, deposits and
other receivables. The Group accounts for its credit risk
by appropriately providing for ECLs on a timely basis. In
calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category of receivables and adjusts for
forward looking macroeconomic data.

At 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group has assessed
that the ECL rate for those receivables is immaterial
under 12 months expected losses method. Thus, no loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised costs
was recognised.

No significant changes to estimation techniques or
assumptions were made during the reporting period.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RRM

25 ¢MIACSRAREER QY

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REEERK(E)

170

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period):

TREGAAEE SR EBENREHR
ZHTEHIHA - RALRIER
ERE(BREEAE QMR (WF
B RN MERRZBINERAE L
BN REL -

2024 A2
“EoQE 3k
Total Morethan  More than Totdl More than More than
contractual Within -~ fyearbut  2years but contractugl Wihin Tyearbut — 2yearsbut
Camying  undiscounted 1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than Camying  undiscounted Tyearor less then less then More thn
amount ~ cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years 5years amount cashiow  ondemand 2years 5years 5years

ERRER 1By 1EIEE 2ENER
BEE FENESE  9EER 2R SENR SENL L
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS00
T i Tin Tin Tin T T

L R ENLE AR
REREEE  gEEX 2R SENA SEIE
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TEL TEL T it it

Trade payables

Financia iabites included in
acoruals, depostts received By
and other payables 24,685 20448

BAENHE 3107 28982

2,082 2,082 - - -

0448 N4 - - -

Barkloans® b 19,366 5,051 0353 2818 1639 1639 4916 17624
Lease lbies GEE 1575 3 2,146 2250 140 89 - -
81,33 5,069 16423 6,929 749 4781 2478 491 17604

# The above information reflects the repayment schedules in
accordance with the relevant loan agreements. However, bank
loans are classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position as they will be repaid upon
demand, according to the demand clause set out in the
loan agreements. As at 30 June 2024, the aggregated
contractual undiscounted cash flow on demand amounted to
HK$19,422,000 (2023: HK$20,436,000).
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 ¢TI Ez4REREERAF

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIZEEBS
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from restricted REE 2 F R R E E R E R
bank deposits, loans receivables, bank loans and lease IR BRER  ROBEREHEE
liabilities. Deposits placed and borrowings issued at fixed rates BB -REENRFEFEZ FRNLE
and variable rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate L2 ERD RIS AREEEZAFET
risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s EEfRIBEREFERR - NEE
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out REBREBER ZFIEGREN T -
below.
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEBX
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TERHFDMAEERBREHRZ
Group’s net deposits at the end of the reporting period: FRFE 2N ERR
2024 2023
—E-NE —E--E
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRA=E ERF=
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
TR TR
Fixed rate deposits/(borrowings)  EEBE /()
Restricted bank deposits ZREFTER 0.64%-4.65% 5,889 0.01% 278
Loans receivables FERER 6.00%=-24.00% KIBPEN 6.00%-22.00% 37,081
Lease liabilties MEBR 5.00%-5.88% ((EIGN  5.00%-5.75% (2,146)

39,443 35,163
Variable rate deposits/(borrowings) EEEH/(£R)
Bank deposits and cash at bank BROEARBETRE 0.11% 103,174 0.09% 90,313
Bank loans BITER 2.98%-=3.50% (EREON  2.35%-3.50% (20,353)

83,808 69,960

Net exposure EREE 123,251 105,123
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have no significant impact
to the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk for at the end of the reporting period.
The 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the end of the
next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2023.

(d) Currency risk

(e)

172

The Group’s business activities and its assets and liabilities
were denominated in HK$ and Renminbi (“‘RMB”). The
management considers the Group is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as most sales, income, purchases and
expenses are denominated in the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Equity price risk

The Group’s is not exposed to significant equity price risk
through its investments in financial assets classified as FVTPL.
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 ¢TI Ez4REREERAF

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(f) Categories of financial instruments

BH(E)
Hh &MIEDE
2024
—EMNEF
HK$’000
FHT

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVPL

ERMEE
BATVEFABRRZ SREE

Financial assets at amortised cost:

— Trade receivables

— Deposits and other receivables
— Loans and interest receivables
— Restricted bank deposits

RESHRAS IR SREE ¢
— B ZRYGRIA

— 1R K EA YRR
—RER AR

— R FIRITIFHK

94,366
6,866
36,604
5,889
103,174

246,899

247,304

— Cash and cash equivalents —-BeMReFEY

Financial liabilities cREE

Financial liabilities measured at amortised XK ATE 2 S RIB1E ¢
cost:

— Trade payables —E S ENFRIA

— Financial liabilities included in accruals,
deposits received and other payables

— Bank loans
— Lease liabilities

—FT AR ER - 2ldRE &
HibENFIRZ EREE
s

—RITER
—HEAE

EHHERBMRAR Gk 2024

2023
—Eo—F
HK$’000
T

368

86,739
6,591
38,361
278
90,313

222,282

222,650

23,982
20,448
20,353

2,146

66,929
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(g) Fair value measurement

)

174

Financial instruments measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial instruments
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis shall be categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair
value measurement”. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

The listed equity securities are stated at their fair values
and are determined based on the quoted market closing
price available on the Stock Exchange at the end of the
reporting period, which is categorised as Level 1.

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there

were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3.
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 ¢TI Ez4REREERAF

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BH(E)

(CONTINUED)

(9) Fair value measurement (continued) (9) AFEFE(E)

(i)  Financial instruments carried at other than fair value (i) FHEAFEIFRZLMTA
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments AN 6 B R K 7R Sl 8 A AR B BR
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially JemTARmEHERN T
different from their fair values at 30 June 2024 and 2023. THERZE=FA=F
AZAFETEEAER -

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 EABBARS KRR
AND BALANCES

(a) Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, (a) *EBEFZEEABFHHRIEDAR
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as NAEE(HEF7AEE) e RE
disclosed in note 7 and senior management, is as follows: BABFIA - BT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET Fi&T
Directors =
Fees e 1,703
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind e EBREBEWEF 1,770
Discretionary bonuses IEIEAL 1,609
Contributions to defined contribution TE R TR KT B IR
retirement plan 53
5,135
Senior management SREEAE
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind e RMNREDRET 132
Discretionary bonuses BIEIEAL 11
Contributions to defined contribution TE R PR IR B A9 3k
retirement plan 7
150
5,285
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 EXBEAXS REH(E)

AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)
(b) Other related party transactions

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions during the year:

(b) EAEABLE XS

FA - BREREMBERAM AR )T
FIREEESN » NEBAT A TEAE
B

2024 2023

—EBoNE ZE=F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B sE FET FHET

Expenses relating to a short-term lease

to related companies
HongKong HTX Trading Limited

PPC Environment Limited

HEAM A RIEHEE
MERERIFAST
ERBREEZEAR
NS

FERZERMBER AT

U

(i

=

Note:

(i) A director, Mr. Yu Shaoheng has beneficial interests in this

related company.
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e M HRAR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T517R)

27 KRATHMBER
(a) BAEARRT

27 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB L& 2
Investments in subsidiaries REBARMIRE -
2
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayments and other B FENRIEREMERK
receivables B 285 285
Amounts due from subsidiaries RSB EB A R FRIE 163,365 167,464
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 816 829
164,466 168,578
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals FEETE R 733 1,034
Amounts due to subsidiaries LRI NGIE e 63,216 64,933
63,949 65,967
Net current assets REBEEFE 100,517 102,611
NET ASSETS EEFE 100,715 102,613
Capital and reserves EARRfHE
Share capital &N 5,400 5,400
Reserves it 95,315 97,213
TOTAL EQUITY AR 100,715 102,613
EHERARAT T3k 2024 177
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27 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 27 KA TRBBER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Movements in components of equity (b) EETo2EH
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components RAFEARNGT 2 (ER = E05 &E)
of equity during the year are as follows: LB
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
&N R =E R5tEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHL FAT FEL FEL
(note 24(b)(i)
(BIFE24(D)())
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-_Z#+A—H 5,400 198,524 (99,274) 104,650

Loss and total comprehensive  FREE & 2 EEBEE

loss for the year - - (2,037) (2,037)
At 30 June 2023 and R-B-=XA=+HK
1 July 2023 —E-=%tA—H 5,400 108,524 (101,311) 102,613

Loss and total comprehensive  FREE & 2 EEBEE
loss for the year - - (1,898) (1,898)

At 30 June 2024 RZB-NERA=+H 5,400 198,624 (103,209) 100,715
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e MR MEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T517R)

28 SUBSIDIARIES’ INFORMATION
Details of the subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 and 2023

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The

28 MBARIZER
RIBZNER-_ZE-=F,A=1H
- NG ES
WEARFIBE TRESBEEEZELREEF
HiE CEBENEENNBRARIZEFS - B

class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. SAEAIN - FERMDHERE R o
2024 2023
S -3 “ECCE
Proportion of Proportion of
effective ownership  effective ownership
interest interest
BERERE ERERE
Place of Particulars of sk Al
Name of company operations issued capital Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect Principal activity
DRER BEMEL BRITRARE HE 553 Bk i TEEE
Incorporated in the BVI:
RERERRBSRMAL :
Silver Marker Limited Hong Kong US$1 100% - Investment holding
Bl 1% RERR
Bransfield Assets Limited Hong Kong US$3 and HK$1,000,001 - 100% Investment holding
Bk 3% 1,000,001ET RARK
Incorporated in Hong Kong:
WEBTMAL :
Pollution & Protection Services Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$18,557,800 - 100% Provision of environmental
and cleaning services
EHRERBERAR 36 18,557,800/ 7T RERE RERRHS
PPS Success Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Trading of securities and
property holding
EHRHERAA 3 10,000%7T BEERFLENE
Union Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Provision of money lending
services
EMHHERAA &k 10,0007 RAHERS
Incorporated in the PRC:
B :
Shanghai PPS Sheng Mao Environmental - The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 51% Provision of environmental
Services Limited (notes (i) and (i) and cleaning services
EEERERRRRSERAR i AE%10,000,00070 RERELEZRS
(xR i)
Shenzhen Environmental Cleaning The PRC RMB10,600,000 - 100% Provision of money lending

Services Limited (notes (i) and (i)

RIBRRRZREER AR ) RGi) +E AR10,600,0007

Shenzhen Yonghao Infrastructure The PRC RMB10,000,000
Investment Limited (notes (i), (i) and (iv))

MITAEERREBRAT Gl AR %10,000,0007T

(BRFEE() ~ (i Begv))

services
REHRERS
100%  Provision of money lending
services

FEHEIEART
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28 SUBSIDIARIES’ INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Details of the subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 and 2023
(continued)

Notes:

() The subsidiary is registered in the form of Chinese-foreign equity joint
ventures.

(i) The subsidiary is registered in the form of wholly foreign owned
enterprises.

(i)~ The English translation of the name is for reference only. The official
name of the entity is in Chinese.

(iv)  The subsidiary was incorporated during the year ended 30 June 2023.

29 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Performance bonds

28

29

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MEAR &R (&)

R-EBE-_NFER-F-_=F,A=1+H
B A BEE (E)
BisE -

0 HHWEARLESAEERERIHRE
2

(i) ZMBARLINEBERE A ER
(i) ZEWOAXEEFEHRSE ZEENE
FaBAPI -

(v) HZWEBERFRREZE-T-=—FA=1+H
IEFE MRS ©

HAREE
(a) BRRE

2024 2023
—EmEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Guarantees on performance bonds in MIRBRBZRRGE NBLOR
respect of environmental and cleaning BHER

service contracts

12,060

The Group had bankers’ guarantees on performance bonds
issued for due performance under several environmental
and cleaning service contracts. The bank facilities of
HK$23,569,000 (2023: HK$12,060,000) granted to the Group
and bankers’ guarantees on performance bonds issued were
pledged by:

() land and buildings of HK$38,400,000 (2023:
HK$50,200,000);

(i) restricted bank deposits of HK$5,889,000 (2023:
HK$278,000); and

(i) corporate guarantees of the Company and PPS Success
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary.

The effective period of performance bond is based on the
service period and the contract terms as specified in these
environmental and cleaning service contracts. The performance
bonds may be claimed by customers if services rendered
by the Group fail to meet the standards as specified in these
environmental and cleaning service contracts.
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NEBERZ BETHE TIRERBEZ
RBEEHNEBELNBELORERHE
MITER - BETASEWRITH
& 23,569,000/ L (ZF = = 4F :

12,060,00078 7T ) & B 2 1 B #)1R 75
ZERATHERB TS IBERR

() £Hb&1EZ38,400,0007%8 L(=
T = =4 : 50,200,000/ 7T) :

(i) = PRHIRTTTF 5,889,000/ 7T
—ET =4 278,000/ 7T)
&

iy ARBRRZEK BB
HERRB) ZAFER ©

FEAVRE 2 B RERR TR AR AR 7% A &%
HTRENBERRBEKETRNEL
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EZRFRRLFERB A LRTHRR
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29 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Litigations - injury compensations

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group
may from time to time be involved in litigations concerning
personal injuries by its employees or third party claimants.
In the opinion of the directors, the Group does not have any
significant contingent liabilities arising from these litigations.
All potential claims made by these employees and third
party claimants have been accounted for in the balance of
“provision for claims” under accruals, deposits received and
other payables (see note 18) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

30 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and
other uncertainties affecting application of those policies and
the sensitivity of reported results to changes in conditions and
assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the
consolidated financial statements. The material accounting policies
are set forth in note 2. The Group believes the following critical
accounting policies involve the most significant judgements and
estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Loss allowances on financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and
other receivables and loans and interest receivables by
assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the end of the reporting period.
Where the estimation is different from the previous estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade and
other receivables and loans and interest receivables and thus
the impairment loss in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

29

30

RAREE(EH)
(b) FHA-EEHEE

REBEEZZ_NFR T ==F,NA
=TRIEFE  AEBEFRIREY
ANBERBEEHE=FHREAELEH
BAZBHHR c EERE - KNEH
I B F R AR E AT A EARA
BE - ZEEEREZFRRARS
BT B B R RE ARGS BB
REFERA - BEluRe RAMBERK
B(RMFH18) Pl RERE | 2685

SRR R

Et RAE S EETE - LABREL
BREMAR(BIBAERLER THRE
EMRAIETE) BIKE

EEHGE ﬁTi%#&%%ET CHREERTIES
AARRAER - FESRTHREALERN
¥Uﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁTﬁEml% AN P 2 F4E

BRHGZBEANBREHTE T B
aﬂ‘ﬂl REMIFE2 -« REEMRE - T3E

ZEHBR S LR A M RMREFR
FIR R R S -

(a) REBEHLTENSHEESA
i
REBF BN EFAREEBBGEE
5 B A P W SR TR LA B FE M & 5% N )
B BERE - ERBERMG A
i - MHEEERENASE 2 BE
EEERER BN REREES
ANFE 2 REREE B RIEA BB
B Z FHAEETTHE - fHfEET BRI
RERGE  AREEGFEEI N
H At EURIE A R R E R R B2
FREE - EmMPEERAt 2 MM
ZREERE -
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30 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

182

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the
future tax treatment of certain transactions and interpretation
of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax
treatment of transactions is assessed periodically to the effect
of all changes in tax legislation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used
and temporary deduction differences. As those deferred tax
assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future profit will be available against which the unused tax
credit can be utilised, management’s judgement is required to
assess the probability of future taxable profits.

Management’s assessment is constantly reviewed and
additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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30 &&HhEH R HE (&)

(b) FriSH

EEMEHERBIREETRHZR
R R IE T SRR R A e R
HAE - NEBBEF GRS 2B
FE UHEFENERE X5
MR ERIE 0 2\ E MBS A DI 2
B EEITIHE -

BT IR A ERREAB R EE MY
R IR ZE SRR © AR FIEERIA
BEE A e A ARRBF AF(E A
REAB AR R 2 150 THER
WEE BN HERKERR BN 2 7]
BEERS 2B 1B H T

BEEEE R - WARAR
PR RR A s B 5 4R AT R IR A 7 A MR
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31 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 31 BZ=-—ZEZ-_M&XA=+HLHE

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED ECEMEERERZIETE -
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEARZREURELEZY
30 JUNE 2024
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, BHEZSFEMBHREANNERY 558
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to the standards AEASERMERE ST -_NF XA
and interpretations, which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 —THLEFERREKERNZSLRETTH
June 2024 and which have not been adopted in these consolidated R RN 2 B TEARERRBIERTA o
financial statements. These amendments include the following which ZEEFIABIEN TR LA LB B R
may be relevant to the Group: ES
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current BEESHEREIR HAEIEARD
or Non-current’ (&I A) IEED
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BREGEERIFEE WAERBZIERD
Covenants' CHEN) aE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BAEUBREER SREREEZESE
Leaseback! F165E (BFTAR) aE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Classification by the Borrower of EEREESR BRALEHEZE
(Revised) a Term Loan that contains a (#&1&37) RIEERRNE
Repayment on Demand Clause' HER DL
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement’ EXESTHERIETR  HERRETH
and HKFRS 7 NEBMGHwE
ERIETIHR(EFTR)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BEGEERIE2158 BZ ] K2
CHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Classification and Measurement of EEPBHmEEN SRMIAMNSER
and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments® FORNB BT =0
WEERIETR
CHEN)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in BARAEUBREELER HBHRENE5K
Financial Statements* 1858 HEE
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public BRI ERER FAHARFEEE
Accountability: Disclosures? 1958 WEA T - #ER
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. ! MREZTZF—A—B 2 BFHB2FE
ﬁﬁf‘&ﬁi@( ©
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 MREZ-_RAF—A—B BB 2FE
ﬁﬁﬁaﬁi@( ©
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. 8 REZZRNF—A—B BB 2FE
ﬁﬁﬁaﬁi@( ©
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. ‘ MEZ -+ F—A—BR BB 2FE
ﬁﬁﬁaﬁi@( ©
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what AN B IETERTE 0l 2 R 7E & X e F AR
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the period TEHEAECFE - 125 - NEBRBRM
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of ZEERI AR ER TS HASEE LR
them will not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated B BEMEREEERTE -

financial statements.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hIEMBERE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EOoME —To=F T F T —F —EB-TF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FER FHT FAT T FHT

RESULTS E
Revenue & 488,074 395,405 370,336 354,775 345,386
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(ER), & (4,760) (5,299) 10,913 20,680 (35,817)
Attributable to: AR AT FENG -
Owners of the Company KREMER A (4,396) (4,997) 10,677 19,192 (36,719
Non-controlling interests IR e (364) (302) 236 1,488 902
(4,760) (5,299) 10,913 20,680 (35,817)
Dividends paid B E - - - -

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets MEE 297,789 286,230 291,768 294,359 265,361
Total liabilities FEN=R (100,980) (83,597) (78,430) 91,619 (85,166)

Net assets BEFE 196,809 202,633 213,338 202,740 180,195
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